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INTRODUCTION
The consolidated financial statements of the FCA Bank Group for the year
ended December 31, 2019 have been prepared in accordance with the International Accounting Standards (IAS) and the International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS), in keeping with Bank of Italy’s instructions laid down in
circular no. 262 of December 22, 2005 (6th update of November 30, 2018).
The formats and manner of preparation of the accounts are mandated by these
rules and standards.
The consolidated financial statements consist of the Statement of financial
position, the Income statement, the Statement of comprehensive income, the
Statement of changes in equity, the Statement of cash flows and the Notes and
are complemented by the board of directors’ report on the Group’s operating
results and financial conditions. Comments are supported by the reclassified
income statement, certain financial ratios and alternative performance indicators; the tables with the relevant reconciliations are included in the report on
operations.
The consolidated financial statements were prepared with clarity and provide a
true and fair view of the financial condition, cash flows and operating results for
the financial year. In addition, they are accompanied by the Board of Statutory
Auditors’ report and the independent auditors’ opinion pursuant to Legislative
Decree no. 39 of January 27, 2010.
Disclosures of significant events, presentations to investors and public disclosures pursuant to Regulation EU 575/2013 are available the website of the FCA
Bank Group (www.fcabankgroup.com).
The Consolidated Non-Financial Statement, compliant to Legislative Decree no.
254 of December 30, 2016, which illustrates environmental, social and personnel-related issues is attached to the consolidated financial statements.
Information on the remuneration required by art. 123-ter of the TUF and by the
Basel Third Pillar (see Pillar 3) is also published and made available on the website according to the related approval procedures.
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KEY FIGURES
1,025€/MLN -66€/MLN -293€/MLN
Net banking income and
rental margin

Net operating expenses

Cost of risk

3.9%

0.25%

On average portfolio

On average portfolio

28.6%
Cost / Income Ratio

13,730€/MLN

1.7MLN

48.1%

27.5€/MLD

New retail, leasing and rental
volumes

Total commercial penetration

Retail, leasing and rental active
contracts

End of period portfolio

•5

14.20 %

10.62 %

CET 1 Ratio

Leverage Ratio

666€/MLN

467€/MLN

Operating Income

Net profit

18

2,280

279,628

18

Countries

Long term, short term rental fleet
and fleet management

Employees

Brands

FIAT - ALFA ROMEO - LANCIA - ABARTH - JEEP
FIAT PROFESSIONAL - CHRYSLER - MASERATI - FERRARI
JAGUAR - LAND ROVER - ERWIN HYMER GROUP - RAM
DODGE - ASTON MARTIN - MORGAN - HARLEY DAVIDSON
MV AGUSTA
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DISCIPLINE
AND THE COURAGE
OF INNOVATION
GIACOMO CARELLI
CEO & General Manager
"Change is a challenge that needs to be met head on in
all the sectors in which we operate, from banking and
insurance to mobility, to the development of alternative
technologies."

Discipline and the courage of innovation. If
it were possible – and maybe in a not-toodistant future it will be – a course of study
should be held on these two subject matters.
This because the ability to envision the future,
adapting to changed life circumstances, is
probably in the nature of every human being
and, as such, should be developed, nurtured
and stimulated. After all, over the past few
years FCA Bank and Leasys have been traveling
this road of innovation and adaptation with
great motivation and confidence.
Change is a challenge that needs to be met
head on in all the sectors in which we operate,
from banking and insurance to mobility, to the
development of alternative technologies. Three
fronts where the FCA Bank Group is and will
always be a leading force. All this can happen
only if rigor and discipline in the innovative
process are used as our lodestar in making
hard decisions and if the flame of the courage
to change deeply ingrained behaviours and
habits, even when they seem efficient and
well-established, is kept constantly alive. Those
who cannot see opportunity in the epochmaking changes that we are experiencing, as
well as those who keep focusing on the past
instead of the future and are not stimulated and
motivated by the challenges of modernity will
inevitably fall behind.
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Editorial

The easy access to our services,
navigation on our websites
and use of our new Customer Portal
made for pleasant, fast and, most of all,
effective customer experiences.

There are different examples in history that
we could take as our inspiration, such as those
of great banking and industrial groups that
created systems that allowed all employees,
at every level and in every sector, to indicate
based on their specific experience what the
best processes and products would be to be
successful in the market. These company
experiments, which we have been conducting
for years also at FCA Bank, continue to foster
growth and development.
Participation of all employees to the
development of the digital bank and new and
pioneering mobility services, transforming
radically customer interaction processes
through secure and direct online channels, is
evidence that teamwork is a guarantee of future
success.
Our financial statements for 2019 tell the
story of our positive performance. Our yearend net outstanding portfolio reached €27.5
billion while net profit for the year just ended
was €467 million. Thanks to everybody’s
contribution, commercial penetration (48.1%),
new loan, lease and rental contracts, which
totalled €13,730 million, grew. In addition, also
our Group’s recognition and prestige improved,
as easy access to our services, navigation on
our websites and use of our new Customer
Portal made for pleasant, fast and, most of all,
effective customer experiences.
The new pre-scoring and digital onboarding
platforms made a substantial contribution to
the full digitalization of our services, while all of
Leasys’s mobility services - from pay-per-use
to car sharing, to the first revolutionary car
subscription service in Italy with CarCoud, to all
the innovative short- and long-term car rental
solutions – made this company a recognized

mobility pioneer in Italy and in Europe.
The new credit card dedicated to the FCA
Group’s brands, and the management online of
loans and leases, made customer experience
even more fluid and interesting. In addition,
thanks to the multiple European partnerships
with insurance providers, FCA Bank will
continue to provide a broad range of tailormade services, starting precisely from the
technological infrastructure represented by
FCA’s connected vehicles.
Our international growth process saw the
creation of FCA Capital Maroc in 2019, thanks
to the partnership with Wafalasaf, to provide
loan and lease financing services to customers
in Morocco, where the Bank has already been
active for years in dealer financing. Moreover,
Leasys’s opening in Poland brought to eight
the number of countries in which the rental and
mobility company of the Group can provide its
services.
All these initiatives are witness to a process
based on solid ground, and are a clear
indication that the discipline and the courage of
innovation are part of our DNA.
We will try to be always one step ahead of
the others, to support customers and to stand
next to them in the face of future challenges,
promoting the sustainability and usability of
our financing solutions and accompanying the
electrification of the automotive industry with
innovative mobility offers.
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FINANCIAL
TRANSACTIONS:
RETURN TO AN
EXPANSIONARY
MONETARY
POLICY.
FRANCO CASIRAGHI
Deputy General Manager
& Chief Financial Officer
“The financial structure is a pillar
of our development.”

The first half of 2019 saw a return of financial
markets to normalcy, as the volatility of late
2018 waned.
In a macroeconomic context still marked by
the continuing trade tensions between United
States and China and the Brexit uncertainty, the
European economy called for the central banks
to continue with their unconventional monetary
policies.
In particular, on March 7, 2019 the European
Central Bank (ECB) announced the third series
of targeted longer-term refinancing operations
(TLTRO-III), which represented an opportunity
for banks starting from September 2019,
and on September 12, 2019 it cut the interest
rate on the deposit facility by 10 basis points
(to – 0.50). The ECB also announced a new
Quantitative Easing phase, which calls for asset
purchased for €20 billion a month, starting
from November 1, 2019, thus confirming its
dovish stance, in keeping with the extraordinary
measures introduced since June 2014, which
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Editorial

In December 2019
the FCA Bank Group completed
its first TLTRO-III operation
for €100 million.

proved effective in transmitting lower interest
rates from the financial sector to the private
sector.
In parallel, starting from October 2, 2019, the
ECB began the publication of a new risk-free
interest rate for the euro area, known as “euro
short-term rate” (€STR) and designed to
replace EONIA.
The ECB’s extraordinary measures resulted
in narrower spreads in the marketplace and a
temporary but significant downward shift of
the yield curve, which hit a record low when
the entire 1-/20-year segment entered negative
territory.
Against this backdrop, the FCA Bank Group JV
was extended until December, 31 2024, with a
clear indication of continuity and the renewed
confidence of the shareholders that have
started it in 2006.
In the year under review, the FCA Bank Group
continued to be active in capital markets, with
three public placements and three private
placements of senior unsecured notes for a
total of €2.9 billion under its “Euro Medium
Term Note” program.
In particular, starting in September 2019, the
FCA Bank Group took advantage of the JV’s
new time horizon by pricing a new issue under
the above-mentioned program, maturing in
November 2024, at a fixed rate of 0.50%, and
by completing a “stand-alone” issue for CHF
125 million, maturing in 2023, thus extending its
maturity profile.
In addition to relying on the lines of credit
made available by the shareholder Crédit
Agricole Consumer Finance, the FCA Bank
Group continued to expand further its lines
of credit with other banks, and for longer

durations, attesting to the Group’ strong ties
with the international banking community.
The diversification of funding sources
continued, thanks to both the continuing
growth of Conto Deposito – the online savings
product developed by FCA Bank, with total
inflows amounting to €1.1 billion – and the
new commercial paper issues under the ECP
program, to raise short-term debt in the money
market to meet limited and temporary liquidity
requirements.
All these transactions allowed the FCA Bank
Group to secure the funds necessary to support
the business, strengthening in the meantime
both the liquidity profile and the liability
structure.
Regarding use of the foregoing ECB’s
refinancing operations, in December 2019 the
FCA Bank Group completed its first TLTRO-III
operation for € 100 million.
Lastly, in November 2019 a note placement
was completed for a vehicle called A-Best
Seventeen S.r.l., established to securitize retail
receivables in Italy, for a total amount of €912.6
million. The placement of all the classes of
securities – Senior, Mezzanine and Junior minus
a 5% retention required by regulations – made
it possible not only to fund assets but also to
reduce risk-weighted assets, in keeping with the
applicable regulations.
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Board of Directors, Board
of Statutory Auditors and
External Auditors

Board of directors

Board
of Directors
Chairman
Stéphane Priami 3
Managing Director
and General Manager
Giacomo Carelli
Directors
Paola De Vincentiis*
Andrea Faina
Andrea Giorio*
Olivier Guilhamon
Bernard Manuelli
Davide Mele
Richard Keith Palmer
Valérie Wanquet

Board of Statutory
Auditors
Chairman
Francesco Pisciotta
Statutory Auditors
Giovanni Ossola
Vittorio Sansonetti 1
Alternate Statutory Auditors
Valter Cantino 2
Davide Chiesa

External
Auditors
Ernst & Young S.p.A.

* independent directors
1
appointed on 26/11/2019
² appointed on 26/11/2019
3
appointed on 31/01/2020
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GOVERNANCE
1. Giacomo Carelli: Chief Executive Officier & General Manager
2. Mauro Aimetti: Internal Audit
3. Andrea Barcio: Human Resources
4. Simone Basili: Dealer Financing
5. Olivier Broc: Credit
6. Franco Casiraghi: Chief Financial Officer and Deputy General Manager
7. Rolando D'Arco: Business Development
8. Emanuela Demarchi: Risk & Permanent Control

1 2 3 4

9 10 11 12 13

Governance

9. Enrico Favale: Legal Affairs & Procurement
10. Alberto Grippo: Chief Executive Officier Leasys
11. Alain Juan: European Markets
12. Patrizio Lattanzi: Compliance & Supervisory Relations
13. Stefano Leucci: Data Protection
14. Marcella Merli: Sales & Marketing
15. Luca Pollano: ICT Digital & Data Governance
16. Alberto Sibille: Corporate Affairs & Process Governance
17. Giulio Viale: FCA Bank Italia

4 5 6 7 8
14 15 16 17
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FCA BANK GROUP

Presentation
and milestones
FCA Bank S.p.A. is an equally held joint venture
between FCA Italy S.p.A. (a Fiat Chrysler
Automobile Group company) and CA Consumer
Finance S.A. (a Crédit Agricole Group company).
FCA Bank operates in 17 European markets and in
Morocco and acts as the partner of reference for
Fiat Chrysler Automobiles brands (Fiat, Lancia, Alfa
Romeo, Fiat Professional, Abarth, Maserati, Chrysler
and Jeep) for the prestigious manufacturers
Ferrari, Jaguar Land Rover and the Erwin Group,
Europe’s largest manufacturer of motorhomes and
campervans.
The FCA Bank Group has been supporting the
automotive sector in Italy and Europe for over 90
years.
SAVA (Società Anonima Vendita Automobili),
a financial company designed to help Italian
households to buy a car, was established on April
25, 1925, in Turin, when the “509” model was
launched (the first Fiat car sold on credit). On 11
April of the same year Fiat took over the company.
Starting January 1, 1931, in its capacity as sole
shareholder, Fiat decided to provide financing only
to buyers of its cars. In 1938 SAVA also began to
finance sales of used cars on instalments.
Over the past few decades the Company has
been expanding its business beyond the national
borders, in EU and non-EU countries.
In 2003, SAVA was placed under Fidis Retail Italia
S.p.A., whose shareholders eventually included
Banca Intesa, Sanpaolo IMI, Capitalia and Unicredit
with a collective 51% equity interest, on one side,
and Fiat, which held the remaining 49%, on the
other. In December 2006, Fiat Auto S.p.A. and
Crédit Agricole S.A. established an equally-held
joint venture to provide financial and rental
services in Europe. Fiat Auto Financial Services
S.p.A. was born.
In July 2008, a cooperation agreement is signed
with Jaguar Land Rover, while in 2009, the
Company became the captive of all Chrysler
brands in Europe (Chrysler, Jeep and Dodge). After
signing a partnership agreement with Maserati
in September 2013, FGA Capital started Maserati
Financial Services. In November 2013, the equallyheld joint venture between Fiat and Crédit Agricole
was extended until December 2021.
On January 16, 2015, FGA Capital obtained a
banking license in Italy and changed its name

to FCA Bank S.p.A., thus becoming the parent
company of an international banking group with a
direct presence in 18 countries. In July of the same
year, Erwin Hymer Group and FCA Bank announced
a new collaboration and the creation of Erwin
Hymer Group Finance.
In August 2016, FCA Bank signed an agreement
with Ferrari Financial Services S.p.A., the
Ferrari financial services company, to acquire a
controlling interest in Ferrari Financial Services
GmbH, which operates in Germany, Switzerland
and UK, becoming the only financial partner of
the prestigious automotive brand in Europe. In
October, the bank further diversified its offering by
launching Conto Deposito, an innovative savings
product available only online.
2017 is characterized by the growing
internationalization of Leasys in Europe and in
particular in Spain, France, Germany and Great
Britain. In October, FCA Bank debuted with “Conto
Deposito” in Germany.
On February 15, 2018, FCA Italy S.p.A. ("FCA"),
Crédit Agricole S.A. ("CASA") and Crédit Agricole
Consumer Finance S.A. ("CACF") have concluded
an agreement for the extension until December 31,
2022 of their Joint Venture. In the same month the
partnership with Jaguar Land Rover was renewed.
In March FCA Bank announces the new partnership
with Aston Martin Lagonda and Morgan Motor
Company. On October 1, Leasys S.p.A. acquired
100% of the share capital of Win Rent S.p.A..
FCA Bank has thus created the conditions for the
development of its activity in short-term rental.
Finally, before the end of the year, the partnership
have been sealed with Harley Davidson, MV Agusta
and Dodge and Ram European importers.
June saw the birth of the Leasys Mobility Stores,
the new integrated mobility system created by
industry-pioneer Leasys. On July 19, 2019, FCA
Italy (“FCA”) and Crédit Agricole Consumer
Finance (“CACF”) entered into an agreement to
extend FCA Bank, their equally-held joint venture,
until December 31, 2024.
In context of FCA Bank’s growth plans in Europe,
among others, FCA Capital Maroc was founded to
supports FCA customers with innovative financial
solutions.
In October LeasysCarCloud was launched, the first
mobility subscription model in Italy.
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SAVA (Società Anonima Vendita
Automobili) was founded.

1925

FGA Capital S.p.A. obtained a banking
license in Italy and changed its name
to FCA Bank S.p.A..

2015

Fiat Auto S.p.A. and Crédit Agricole
S.A. established an equally-held joint
venture to provide financial and rental
services in Europe.

2006

FCA Italy (“FCA”) and Crédit Agricole
Consumer Finance (“CACF”) entered into
an agreement to extend FCA Bank, their
equally-held joint venture, until 2024.

2019
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Profile of the FCA
Bank Group
Fiat Chrysler
Automobiles (FCA)
Fiat Chrysler Automobiles (FCA) designs,
engineers, manufactures and sells vehicles
and related post-sale services, spare parts,
components and systems through 159
manufacturing facilities, 87 research and
development centres worldwide, with dealers
and distributors in over 140 countries. The
Group operates in the automotive market
under the Abarth, Alfa Romeo, Chrysler, Dodge,
Fiat, Fiat Professional, Jeep, Lancia, Ram and
Maserati brands and provides post-sale services
and spare parts uner the Mopar brand. The
Group’s businesses include Comau (production
systems), Magneti Marelli (components) and

Teksid (ironworks). In addition, it provides, car
loan, lease and rental services to support the
automotive business through subsidiaries or
financial partners (such as captive companies,
affiliates, joint ventures with prime banking
and/or financial institutions and specialized
operators). The company is listed on the New
York Stock Exchange (“FCAU”) and on the
MTA (Mercato Telematico Azionario) (“FCA”)
in Italy. FCA operates through companies
located in over 40 countries and has business
relationships with customers in over 140
countries.

Crédit Agricole Consumer
Finance
In 2006, Crédit Agricole Consumer Finance and
Fiat Auto set up an equally-owned joint venture
called Fiat Group Automobiles Financial
Services, which was eventually renamed
FGA Capital in 2009. This partnership was
subsequently extended to Jaguar Land Rover,
Chrysler, Dodge and Jeep. With managed
outstandings of €92 billion at December 31,
2019, Crédit Agricole Consumer Finance is a
leading player in the consumer credit market.
It offers its customers and partners financing
solutions that are flexible, responsible and
tailored to their needs. With a presence in 17
countries in Europe, as well as in China and
Morocco, Crédit Agricole Consumer Finance
uses its know-how and expertise to ensure that
the customer loyalty policies of its partners,
be them vehicle manufacturers, distributors,

dealers, banks or institutional organisations
become a commercial success Customer
satisfaction being at the heart of its strategy,
Crédit Agricole Consumer Finance provides
them with the means of making informed
choices about their projects. The company
innovates and invests in digital technologies to
offer customers and partners the best solutions,
thus developing a new lending experience with
them.
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100%

100%

FCA ITALY S.p.A.

50%

50%

Fiat Chrysler Automobiles

Crèdit Agricole Consumer Finance
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Group
structure

Banking Group
100%

FCA Capital France S.A. (FR)

(4)

FCA Leasing France SNC (FR) (5)
100%
100%
100%
99,99%

100%

99,99%

Leasys S.p.A. (Spanish Branch)
Leasys S.p.A. (German Branch)

FCA Dealer Services UK Ltd (UK)

100%

(2)

FCA Bank GmbH (AT)

100%
50%

Leasys UK Ltd (UK)

99,99%

Leasys France S.A.S. (FR)
Leasys Nederland B.V. (NL)

(1)

Clickar S.r.l.

FCA Capital Suisse S.A. (CH)
FCA Bank Deutschland GmbH (DE)

FCA Capital RE DAC (IE)

100%

(1) FCA Bank GmbH (AT) - Fidis S.p.A. holds 25% while the remaining 25% is held by
CA Consumer Finance S.A..

FCA Capital Danmark A/S (DK)

FCA Capital Sverige AB (SE)

(3) FCA Insurance Hellas S.A. (GR) - 1 shares is held by individual.
(4) FCA Capital France S.A. (FR) - 5 shares are held by individuals.
100%

(5) FCA Leasing France SNC (FR) - Remaining shareholding interest is held

100%

by Leasys France S.A.S..
(6) Ferrari Financial Services GmbH (DE) - FCA Bank holds 50% + 1share;
remaining shareholding interest is held by Ferrari Financial Services S.p.A..

FCA Capital España EFC S.A. (ES)

(7) Effective 6th November 2019 Leasys S.p.A. holds 100% of share capital of the new

FCA Dealer Services España S.A. (ES)

company Clickar S.p.A..

FCA Dealer Services España (Morocco Branch)
100%

100%

(2) FCA Capital Hellas S.A. (GR) - 1 share is held by individual.

FCA Capital Norge AS (NO)

100%

FCA Dealer Services Portugal S.A. (PT)

Note:

Ferrari Financial Services GmbH (DE) (6)

FCA Capital Danmark A/S (Branch Finland)

100%

(7)

FCA Leasing GmbH (AT)

Ferrari Financial Services GmbH (UK Branch)
100%

(8)

Leasys Rent S.p.A. (IT)

FCA Bank GmbH (Hellenic Branch)
100%

Leasys S.p.A. (Belgian Branch)
Leasys Polska Sp.Zo.o. (PL)

FCA Capital Nederland B.V. (NL)
FCA Capital Hellas S.A. (GR)

100%

Leasys S.p.A. (IT)

FCA Automotive Services UK Ltd (UK)

FCA Insurance Hellas S.A. (GR) (3)
50%

Other Companies

FCA-Group Bank Polska S.A. (PL)

(8) Effective 21th November 2019 Leasys S.p.A. holds 100% of share capital of
Leasys Polska Sp. Zo.o. (already subsidiary of FCA Bank S.p.A. as FCA Leasing Polska
Sp. Zo.o.) The company is still part of the Banking Group.

100% FCA Capital Portugal IFIC S.A. (PT)

FCA Bank S.p.A. (Irish Branch)
Legal entity
FCA Bank S.p.A. (Belgian Branch)

Branch
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Geographical footprint

Geographical
footprint
FCA Capital Danmark A/S (Branch Finland)

FCA Capital Norge AS (NO)
Ferrari Financial Services GmbH (UK Branch)
FCA Automotive Services UK Ltd (UK)
FCA Dealer Services UK Ltd (UK)
Leasys UK Ltd (UK)

FCA Capital Sverige AB (SE)
FCA Capital Danmark A/S (DK)

FCA Bank S.p.A. (Irish Branch)

FCA Capital Nederland B.V. (NL)

FCA Capital RE DAC (IE)

Leasys Nederland B.V. (NL)
FCA-Group Bank Polska S.A. (PL)
Leasys Polska Sp.Zo.o. (PL)

FCA Bank S.p.A. (Belgian Branch)

FCA Bank Deutschland GmbH (DE)

Leasys S.p.A. (Belgian Branch)

Ferrari Financial Services GmbH (DE)
Leasys S.p.A. (German Branch)

FCA Capital France S.A. (FR)

FCA Capital Suisse S.A. (CH)

FCA Leasing France SNC (FR)

FCA Bank GmbH (AT)

Leasys France S.A.S. (FR)

FCA Leasing GmbH (AT)

FCA Capital España EFC S.A. (ES)

FCA Bank S.p.A. (IT)

FCA Dealer Services España S.A. (ES)

Leasys S.p.A. (IT)

Leasys S.p.A. (Spanish Branch)

Leasys Rent S.p.A. (IT)
Clickar S.r.l. (IT)

FCA Capital Portugal IFIC S.A. (PT)
FCA Dealer Services Portugal S.A. (PT)

FCA Capital Hellas S.A. (GR)
FCA Insurance Hellas S.A. (GR)
FCA Bank GmbH (Hellenic Branch)

FCA Dealer Services España (Morocco Branch)

Legend
Legal entity
Branch
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Results
of operations
Economic data (€/mln)

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

Net banking income
and rental margin

1,025

954

Net operating expenses

(293)

(277)

Cost of risk

(66)

(44)

Operating income

666

633

Other income/ (expense)

(28)

(85)

Profit before task

638

548

Net income

467

388

Average

26,348

24,375

End of year

27,539

26,805

Net banking income and Rental margin
(on Average Outstanding)

3.89%

3.91%

Cost/Income ratio

28.55%

29.02%

Cost of risk (on Average Outstanding)

0.25%

0.18%

CET1

14.20%

12.45%

Total Capital ratio (TCR)

15.82%

14.02%

Outstanding

Ratio
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The business
lines
BANKING – WHOLESALE FINANCING
Dealer Financing Portfolio

END OF YEAR (€/BLN)

7.1

31.12.2019

8.2

31.12.2018
31.12.2017

7.3
6.0

31.12.2016
31.12.2015

4.8
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Dealer Financing Portfolio
Finland

4

Greece

12

Portugal

119

Denmark, Sweden, Norway

137

Austria

152

Netherland

156

Switzerland

159

Poland

201

United Kingdom

349

Belgium

351

Spain, Morocco

END OF YEAR BY MARKET (€/MLN)

556

France
Germany
Italy

The Dealer Financing business continued to be
paramount for FCA Bank, in its role as captive
bank for FCA, Ferrari, Maserati, JLR, Hymer and
other significant manufacturers.
Still with the objective of supporting the sales
of cars and commercial vehicles through
different types of financing (mainly through
factoring arrangements), FCA Bank has
developed a product range capable of meeting
all dealer requirements and of supporting
effectively the sale of vehicles to “large
customers” with domestic and international
operations.
In terms of business performance, the credit
portfolio at the end of December 2019 was 13%
lower than the comparable 2018 amount, in
keeping with expectations. The drop was due
mainly to a optimized management of new car

789
1,513
2,643

inventories by the dealer network, as confirmed
also by the average credit portfolio, which in
2019 amounted to €7.1 billion, in line with the
comparable 2018 figure.
In any case, the general trend made it possible
to post positive results in terms of both
net banking margin (2.80%) and net profit,
amounting to €106 million, largely in line with
the 2018 result.
Italy continues to be the main market, thanks to
the strategic importance of FCA’s distribution
network, which accounts for 40% of the credit
portfolio.
This percentage increases to slightly less than
80% if account is taken of the volumes handled
also in Germany, France and Spain.
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BANKING – RETAIL FINANCING
Retail Financing

NEW ORIGINATION (€/MLN)

12,000
11,588

11,000
10,000

11,659

10,660

10,495

9,000
8,642

8,000
7,000
6,000
5,000
4,000
3,000
2,000
1,000
0

NEW ORIGINATIONS IN 2019 BY MARKET (€/MLN)

57

Denmark and Sweden

127

Poland

144

Netherland

160

Portugal

193

Belgium

289

Switzerland

311

Austria

328

Spain
United Kingdom
France
Germany
Italy

31.12.2019

Greece

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

31.12.2016

31.12.2015

Retail Financing

692
1,151
1,236
2,758
4,213
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Retail Financing

END OF YEAR(€/BLN)

18.00
16.9

16.00

15.8

14.00

14.4
13.0

12.00
11.0

10.00
8.00
6.00
4.00
2.00
0

Greece

76

Netherland

128

Poland

158

Austria

192

Denmark and Sweden

192

Portugal

196

Switzerland
Spain and Morocco
France
United Kingdom
Germany
Italy

31.12.2019

74

31.12.2018

Belgium

31.12.2017

31.12.2016

31.12.2015

Retail Financing

END OF YEAR BY MARKET (€/MLN)

343
887
1.004
1.613
4.095
7.931
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Financed Volumes by Product 2019
8%

24%

68%

AUTO LOANS
LEASING
PCP
FCA Bank offers its customers a wide range of
products: not only financial but also insurance
solutions to adequately meet the needs of the
end customer.
Partners’ sales network intermediation is
crucial for the commercial activity and also in
2019 the search for an increasingly profitable
integration between the various business lines
was confirmed. To support sales FCA Bank has
continued to improve a series of instruments
aimed at increasing not only customer
satisfaction, but also its loyalty.
With particular reference to the insurance
offer, FCA Bank has confirmed its willingness
to collaborate with the leading companies in
the market, in order to build a complete range
of products, ranging from insurance coverage
in case of events that personally involve the
customer to those dedicated to the vehicle and
its use.
The financial and insurance offer converge in
a single relationship with the customer, which
simplifies and helps the management and
payment of the vehicle and services connected
to it.
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MOBILITY - RENTAL

Rental Portfolio (MLN/ €)
2,200
2,000

2,071

1,800
1,701

1,600
1,400
1,391

1,200
1,124

1,000

930

800
600
400
200
0

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

31.12.2016

31.12.2015

Rental Portfolio by Product

(thousand of units)

RENTAL
259.3
FLEET MANAGMENT
20.3
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Rental Additions

(thousand of units)

140.0
133.6

120.0
110.8

100.0

99.8
85.7

80.0
60.0

69.5

40.0
20.0

June 2019 saw the launch of the new Leasys
Mobility Stores, which bring to life the concept
of “Living Mobility”, the new integrated mobility
system that confirms Leasys’s role as a pioneer in
the industry, with the objective of providing a full
range of mobility services to customers who show
a growing preference for tailor-made solutions.

End of Year Rental Portfolio

31.12.2019

FCA Bank operates in the Rental sector through
its Leasys subsidiary.
In December, Leasys made further progress
in its internationalization process by setting
up an operation in Poland, thus bringing to 8
the countries in which it is operational (Italy,
France, Germany, Spain, the Netherlands, United
Kingdom, Belgium and Poland), and continuing to
pursue international growth.

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

31.12.2016

31.12.2015

0

In October Leasys CarCloud was launched,
the first mobility subscription in Italy. This
is a sustainable model that embraces car
disownership and fosters the ability to move
freely. By subscribing to a mobility services, a
customer can choose at any time and throughout
Italy the vehicle best suited to any situation.
Thus, the FCA Bank Group has proved once
again its ability to meet the different rental and
mobility requirements of all sorts of customers,
from large to small and medium companies, to
self-employed professionals and individuals.
Sales of off lease cars continue under the Clickar
trademark, through the largest online platform
in Italy devoted to sector operators and private
individuals.

(€/BLN)

3.5

3.5

3.0
2.8

2.5
2.2

2.0
1.5
1.0

1.7
1.4

0.5
31.12.2019

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

31.12.2016

31.12.2015

0
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INSURANCE AND SERVICING

Intermediate Insurance Gross Written Premiums (€/MLN)
600
523.7

31.12.2018

400

532.9

31.12.2017

500

496.8

524.7

415.7

300
200
100
0
31.12.2019

31.12.2016

31.12.2015
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Gross Written Premiums per Insurance Product 2019 (€/MLN)

Other
Insurances

CPI
15%

13%

GAP
15%

52%
Motor
Insurance

5%
Extended
Warranty

FCA Bank provides a wide range of credit- and
vehicle-protection insurance products and
services in connection with financing contracts.
Below, a list of the main insurance services
provided in the various European markets is
provided:
• Credit Protection Insurance, which releases
customers from the obligation to repay, in whole
or in part, their debt in the presence of specific
sudden and/or unexpected events;
• GAP (Guaranteed Asset Protection) Insurance,
which protects the value of the vehicle
purchased, in case of theft or total loss, with
the payment of the vehicle for the full value for
a given number of years after purchase or a
substantial payment, which may vary depending
on the laws applicable in the country;
• Glass/vehicle etching, an important anti-theft
measure;
• Third-party liability insurance, which may or
may not be financed;
• Theft and fire policy which, when it is financed
throughout the term of the contract, covers
theft, fire, robbery, natural events, socio-political

events, vandalism and shattered glass;
• Kasko & Collision. Kasko insurance covers
damages in case of collision with another
vehicle, fixed and mobile object collision, vehicle
overturning and roadway departure. Collision
insurance kicks in only in case of collision with
another identified vehicle;
• Warranty Extension, which extends the
manufacturer’s standard guarantee period
with a range of solutions that cover customer
expenses in case of vehicle breakdown.
All the financing and insurance solutions
described are adapted to local standards, to
meet customer requirements in the various
European markets in which FCA Bank operates.
In 2019 the bank sold about 2 policies per
financing contract, for a total of €525 million in
premiums collected.
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"IN 2019 THIS STRATEGY
TRANSLATED INTO
THE LAUNCH OF A RETAIL
OPERATION IN MOROCCO
THROUGH A WHITE LABEL
AGREEMENT."

• 37

The business lines

FCA Bank
and Leasys
expansion in
european
markets
ALAIN JUAN

European Markets

Over the past few years, FCA Bank began
expanding its activities in Europe, and elsewhere,
to better grasp the business opportunities that
might materialize in supporting the business
of its captive brands. In 2019 this strategy
translated into, among others, the launch of a
retail operation in Morocco, through a White
Label Agreement with one of the most important
local financial operators, Wafasalaf, which is part
of the Gruppo Crèdit Agricole Consumer Finance
Group.
The partnership – which was named FCA Capital
Maroc, in keeping with the corporate names
used in the rest of Europe - is clearly intended
to support FCA Bank in its pursuit of growth
in Morocco. By using FCA Bank’s know-how
and experience in the provision of innovative
financing products in terms of mobility, access
and flexibility, the new company is designed to
become a key reference for all the customers
that want to finance the purchase of an FCA

vehicle and a partner for the network of dealers
that it has been financing since 2017. This White
Label Agreement will also allow FCA Bank
to improve its know-how on the Moroccan
market in terms of customer profile and risk
management in view of any further steps in the
future.
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MARKET AND
AUTOMOTIVE BRANDS
DEVELOPMENT
AUTOMOTIVE MARKET
The size of the automotive market
in Europe (European Union + EFTA)
grew on the previous year, reaching
15.8 million vehicles. New car
registrations increased in Germany
(+5%), Poland (+4.5%), Greece
(+10.3%) and Switzerland (+3.9%) and
decreased slightly in Portugal (-2%),
UK (-2.4%) and Spain (-4.8%).

15.8 million

new car and
commercial vehicle
registrations.

• 39

The business lines

48.1%
Brand FCA

(+1.1%)

49.6%
Brand JLR

(-0.5%)

41.1%
Maserati

(-2.8%)

FCA BANK’S PARTNERS
FCA registered 1.1 million vehicles, achieving
6.7% market share. Attention is called to the
launch of the Alfa Romeo Giulietta MY 2019,
designed to meet the requirements of every
customer. Against this background, FCA Bank
supported this launch with U-Go, the innovative
peer-to-peer platform whereby Leasys’s
customers can share their rented vehicles when
they are not using them. The combination of
Giulietta and U-Go are synonymous with style
and mobility.
Jaguar and Land Rover sold approximately 90
thousand cars during 2019. In particular, Land
Rover introduced the new Range Rover Evoque
(March).
Maserati delivered approximately 5,300
vehicles and launched the new Trofeo version
of its successful Levante SUV.
The FCA Bank Group’s global penetrations
for these three brands were (in brackets the
variation compared to 2018):
• 48.1% FCA brands (+1.1 percentage points);
• 49.6% JLR brands (-0.5 percentage points);
• 41.1% Maserati (-2.8 percentage points)
FCA Bank’s commercial penetration regarding
Ferrari registrations was nearly 25.4%, with
€487 million in volumes financed (compared to
€461 million in 2018, with a 6% increase).
The collaboration arrangement with the
Erwin Hymer Group generated €147 million in
volumes financed (up 43% on 2018).
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"WITH LEASYS CARCLOUD,
FOR A FIXED MONTHLY FEE
CUSTOMERS CAN ACCESS
DIFFERENT VEHICLES, WITH
THE POSSIBILITY TO CHANGE
THEM ANYTIME, ON THE BASIS
OF THEIR NEEDS."

The business lines
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New mobility
& CarCloud

ALBERTO GRIPPO

Chief Executive Officier Leasys

Disownership is the mega-trend that is driving
the global mobility sector. Now more than
ever, modern consumers are looking for
clarity and flexibility as well as the possibility
to use products and services continuously
without owning them. This trend characterizes
customers not for what they might own but
for the experiences that they might want to
live, with the result that the production and
sale of goods and services now emphasize
sustainability over time.
Leasys, the leader in long-term car rental in Italy,
is now of the most dynamic operators in the
European mobility sector and has been the first
to grasp this trend, and in the most convincing
manner, by emphasizing innovation. In October
2019, it launched Leasys CarCloud, the first
“mobility subscription” service.
With Leasys CarCloud, for a fixed monthly fee
customers can access different vehicles, with the
possibility to change them anytime, on the basis
of their needs. They can have a small car when
they drive in the city or an SUV or a station
wagon for weekend outings or the summer
holidays.
Thus, CarCloud is a highly innovative mobility
solution that meets in full the most exacting
demands for flexibility.
The subscription has no time limits. Customers

can start, renew monthly or leave at any time.
The activity can be managed digitally with zero
bureaucracy. To use the service, all customers
have to do is to purchase the subscription that
best suits their requirements, register in the
program online and select the desired vehicle.
This vehicle can then be picked up within 48
hours at one of the 150 Leasys Mobility Stores
participating in the Leasys CarCloud located
throughout Italy or even delivered at home.
If customers wish to change to another model
included in the subscription, they can do so by
making a reservation online. The replacement
can be carried out also by returning the vehicle
in one’s possession to a Leasys Mobility Store
and pick up another at a different Store. This
is ideal for people who travel by airplane or by
train and intend to use their subscription once
they arrive at their destination.
Leasys CarCloud has been a first in the sector,
taking in the first two months since inception
in Italy more than 3,000 orders. It is definitely a
best practice to be exported to other Countries.
Car subscription is a further step in the strategy
of Leasys, the Mobility Pioneer.
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Macroeconomic scenario,
the automotive market
and financial markets
In 2019 global trade showed a slight recovery,
with signs of improvement on the tariff front
between United States and China (a first
trade agreement was signed in December),
even though prospects remain uncertain.
The Central Banks continued to maintain an
accommodative stance.
In the euro area economic activities were
affected mainly by a weaker manufacturing
sector, which is particularly important in
Germany, while the service sector remained in
a growth mode. Projections made in December
by the Eurosystem estimate a 1.2% growth rate
for the GDP in the euro area in 2019. Regarding
monetary policy, the ECB’s Governing Council
adopted a package of expansionary measures
to address cyclical risks and weak price
prospects. However, recent estimates call for a
rate of inflation lower than the 2% threshold for
the next three years.
Credit showed signs of expansion, with
respect to both households and non-financial
companies. In particular, business lending
grew faster in France and Germany and less
so in Spain and Italy. Non-performing loans fell
further in the first three quarters of 2019.

Regarding the automotive market, new car
registrations (European Union + EFTA) at the
end of December 2019 rose by 1.2% on the
comparable figure for 2018, to 15.8 million.
Of the five most important European car
markets (Germany, United Kingdom, France,
Italy and Spain), Germany was up 5% on 2018,
while France and Italy were up 1.9% and 0.3%,
respectively. For their part, the United Kingdom
and Spain posted sharp drops, with -2.4% and
–4.8%, respectively.

• 46

Consolidated financial statements December 31, 2019

Significant events
and strategic transactions
Renewal of Joint Venture
On July 19, 2019, FCA Italy (“FCA”) and Crédit
Agricole Consumer Finance (“CACF”) signed
an agreement to extend their equally-held Joint
Venture in FCA Bank S.p.A. until December
31, 2024. This extension will strengthen FCA
Bank’s business model, enabling it to complete
its commercial offering and to enhance
profitability.

Bank of Italy’s Audit
The Bank of Italy performed an audit of FCA
Bank S.p.A.’s policies and practices in relation
to transparency in banking and financial
transactions and services under articles 115 et
seq. of Legislative Decree 385 of September
1, 1993, which was completed January 2018.
The audit, which involved also interviews
with company functions, required certain
adjustments to the consolidated financial
statements as of December 31, 2018 and
December 31, 2019. The audit resulted without
significant impact on the annual result.

Italian Antitrust Authority
AGCM
On May 15, 2017, the Italian Anti-Trust Authority
(Autorità Garante della Concorrenza e del
Mercato - AGCM) announced the launch of an
inquiry into nine car financing operators, or
“captives”, which represent the industry in almost
its entirety, and two trade associations Assofin
“Associazione Italiana del Credito al Consumo e
Immobiliare” and Assilea “Associazione Italiana
Leasing”) to ascertain if there was any violation
of the TFEU (Article 101 of the Treaty on the
Functioning of the European Union – Anticompetitive agreements) in the automotive
financing industry.
FCA Bank S.p.A. (“Company”) was one of the
nine operators covered by the inquiry, which was
intended to investigate alleged exchanges of
information.
AGCM communicated that the procedure, which

was scheduled to end on July 31, 2018, was
extended until December 31, 2018.
The decision was served to the company on
January 9, 2019 indicating that the AGCM found
the company, together with the other captives,
had been exchanging commercially sensitive
information via direct contacts, as well as through
the local industry associations Assofin and
Assilea, with a view – according to the AGCM –
to coordinating their commercial strategies with
respect to car loans and leasing offerings, in
breach of the TFEU.
The AGCM imposed a total sanction of euro 678
million to the involved parties, and specifically
fined the Company euro 178.9 million.
While it respects AGCM’s work, the Company
feels that the accusations outlined in the decision
are inaccurate. To that end, the Company thinks
that the reasons to challenge that decision are
pertinent and should be pursued.
As such, the Company have filed an appeal with
the Regional Administrative Court (“TAR”) against
the decision and has requested a stay of payment
of the fine.
On April 4, 2019, the TAR of the Lazio Region,
accepted the request for a suspension of the
enforceability of the fine with order no. 3348 and
set the hearing on the merits for February 26,
2020.

Leasys – Car City Club
On December 13, 2019, the liquidation of Car
City Club Srl in Liquidazione was completed.
As of the same date, the company ceased
to exist and was stricken off the Companies
Register.

FCA - PSA
On October 31, 2019, FCA published a press
release announcing that the Supervisory Board
of Peugeot S.A. and the Board of Directors of
FCA have each unanimously agreed to work
towards a full combination of their respective
businesses by way of a 50/50 merger.
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Merger of FCA-Group Bank Polska

Outlook for 2020

An agreement to carry out the cross-border
merger of FCA Group Bank Polska with and
into FCA Bank S.p.A. was signed on December
19, 2019 and recorded in the Turin Companies
Register on December 24, 2019.

In 2019 commercial activities were quite
positive, in the context of stronger ties with the
served automotive brands, and translated into
significant financial results.
The FCA Bank Group will continue to cooperate
with the manufacturing partners, supporting
them in the launch of the new products planned
for 2020 and the consolidation of those already
introduced in the market.
In this economic context, the Board of Directors
thinks that FCA Bank’s sound financial and
organizational structure makes the Group ready
to react to any deterioration of the conditions in
which it operates as well as, on the other hand,
ready to grasp any opportunity that should
materialize.
FCA Bank is in a position to support the
commercial activities of its manufacturing
partners - Fiat Chrysler Automobiles, Jaguar
Land Rover, Maserati, Ferrari, Aston Martin,
Morgan Motor Company and Erwin Hymer
Group – as well as those of the other partner
brands, promoting the financing, insurance and
rental and mobility solutions best suited to meet
the needs of dealers and end customers.

In keeping with the agreement, the merger took
effect for legal, tax and accounting purposes
on January 1, 2020. As of this date FCA Bank
S.p.A. operates in Poland through a branch.
The merger turned out to be the best tool to
face effectively the competition resulting from
the expansion and globalization processes
under way in the banking and financial
system, on one side, and to look for additional
qualitative growth opportunities that would
allow the bank to fulfil the existing potential, on
the other.
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Commercial
policies
Business development
during 2019
In 2019 FCA Bank firmed up the cooperation
with the new commercial partners. For Aston
Martin in particular, the first half of 2019 posted
excellent results, with total volumes financed in
the amount of €35.4 million.
In April, the agreement with Morgan Motor
Company for the management of loans to end
customers was extended also to the United
Kingdom.
In the motorcycle sector, the cooperation
arrangement with Harley Davidson became
operational in Spain, Poland and Portugal (in
January, April and September, respectively)
while June saw the start of the activity with MV
Agusta in Italy, France, Germany and United
Kingdom.

Thus, there are 18 brands that work with FCA
Bank. Regarding the geographical scope, FCA
Bank is firmly present in 17 European countries
and in Morocco, where in October a partnership
was also entered into with Wafasalaf to provide
FCA customers with innovative financing
solutions for their car purchases.
In the countries in which FCA Bank operates,
total new car registrations in 2019 amounted to
16.1 million while FCA Bank disbursed financing
in the amount of €13.7 billion.
Regarding the brands of the FCA Group, total
financing stood at €10.5 billion, with a 3%
increase in respect of 2018.
For the Jaguar and Land Rover brands, total
financing grew by 5% compared to the previous
year, to €2.4 billion.
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Yearly Originations (€/MLN)
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The commercial penetration for the Group
brands (registrations of new financed vehicles/
total new FCA Group vehicles registrations)
reached 48.1% in 2019 (+1.2% in respect of
2018).

The penetration for JLR brands stood at 49.6%,
while for Maserati at 41.1%.
Total penetration for all the brands served
reached 48.1%, compared to 47.1% of last year.
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E-Wallet and
credit cards:
FCA Bank’s
experience
GIULIO VIALE

FCA Bank Italia

Since its transformation into a bank four years
ago, FCA Bank has been constantly diversifying
its offering. To that end, 2019 witnessed the
bank’s entry into the complex and dynamic
world of credit cards.
FCA Bank’s credit card is the first milestone in
a broader strategy setting that will create many
contact points among the carmaker, the dealer
network and the FCA Bank Group, an ideal
situation to generate benefits for customers
and new sales opportunities by providing
competitive services.
FCA Bank’s experience in this ever-changing
environment – suffice to think of the recent
offering of open banking platforms and the
presence of new dynamic players that intensify
competition – translated into the launch of the
credit card, first with the Group’s employees and
subsequently in the open market. Eventually, the
offering was expanded to five new personalized
credit cards, each with the graphics of the FCA
brand to enhance the customer’s loyalty to, and
identification with, the brand.
The FCA Bank credit cards feature such
innovative contents and functionalities as My
Budget - which makes it possible to choose
the favourite repayment method, whether in
instalment or in a lump-sum, by customizing
the amount of the instalment until the last day
of the month – and My Control, which can be
used to manage comfortably one’s payments,
by enabling or disabling online purchases, use
abroad or cash withdrawals.

Every credit card issued comes with access to
the FCA Bank Club, the free-of-charge program
that rewards loyalty on the basis of one’s
purchases.
In addition to products and services by
prestigious partners, the Club makes available
discount vouchers on other FCA Bank products,
such as the reduction of processing fees
associated with a loan or lease application or
the upgrade of the interest rate on the Bank’s
Conto Deposito and programs related to
services such as short-term car rental.
All these functionalities and benefits can be
accessed anytime in a simple and secure
manner from one’s smartphone through the My
FCA Bank app.
This will be the battlefield for the next
challenge, create amazement in the car finance
market with the launch of the closed-circuit
FCA Bank loyalty card. Distributed through
the dealer network, this loyalty card will allow
customers to earn points that can be applied
toward purchases within the FCA Bank Club by
repaying the monthly loan instalment as well
as to convert it into an actual Visa credit card
directly from the My FCA Bank Customer Area.
The offering of banking products will include
in the near future such digital payment
facilities as e-Wallet and Payment Hud. In
fact, the development of mega trends such as
“connected vehicles”, “self-driving vehicles”

Report on operations

and “electrification” will lead inevitably to
the creation of wide ranges of services that
customers will be able to use while they travel
or while they wait for their EV to charge.
These will be in addition to mobility
management services (e.g. parking, fuelling,
intermodal ticketing), to the new mobility
access models determined by disownership
(sharing of one’s vehicle, vehicle in “cloud” with
fee- or subscription-based payments), and
services rendered directly to the vehicle (e.g.
apps downloaded over the air on one’s onboard
computer, remote door opening/closing to
enable third-party services).
As such, we can expect that a large number of
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transactions will be generated in the near future
in connection with these new services, i.e. “invehicle payment”, and FCA Bank intends to
act as an infrastructure that enables in-vehicle
payments, by operating a Group Payment Hub
capable of handling all these transactions at a
highly competitive cost for its customers.
Moreover, FCA Bank intends to develop and
integrate into vehicles the e-Wallet (digital
wallet that can contain different payment tools)
for all Group customers, allowing them to
authorize purchases in relation to the context
(one click, one tap fingerprints, voice command,
face-ID) and providing larger discounts as well
as exclusive services through a complete and
simple user experience.
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Financial
strategy
Interest rates trend
0.3%
0.2%
0.1%
0.0%
-0.1%
-0.2%
-0.3%
-0.4%
-0.5%
-0.6%

01/2019

02/2019

03/2019

04/2019

IRS 2 years

05/2019

06/2019

07/2019

IRS 3 years

The Treasury function manages the Group’s
liquidity and financial risks, in accordance with
the risk management policies set by the Board
of Directors.
The Group’s funding strategy is designed to:
• maintain a stable and diversified funding
source structure;
• manage liquidity risk;
• minimize the exposure to interest rate,
currency and counterparty risks, within the
scope of low and pre-set limits. In 2019, the
Treasury department raised the cash necessary
to fund the Group’s activity, at competitive
terms and conditions so as to improve the net
interest margin.
The most important activities completed in
2019 included:
• three public placements of euro-denominated
bonds issued by FCA Bank S.p.A. (through
its Irish branch) for a total amount of €2,300
million;
• three private placements of bonds issued by
FCA Bank S.p.A. (through its Irish branch) for a
total amount of €600 million;

08/2019

09/2019

10/2019

11/2019

12/2019

IRS 5 years

• a stand-alone issue of bonds denominated
in Swiss francs by FCA Capital Suisse S.A.
(guaranteed by FCA Bank S.p.A.) for a total
amount of CHF 125 million;
• the placement of Euro Commercial Paper
issued by FCA Bank S.p.A. (through its Irish
branch) for a total amount of €385 million;
• securitization of retail receivables in Italy, by a
vehicle called A-Best Seventeen S.r.l., for a total
amount of €912.6 million, with the placement
in the market of Senior, Mezzanine and Junior
notes (minus the 5% retention required by
regulations);
• renewal of securitization programs:
- Erasmus Finance DAC, relating to
receivables due from German, French and
Spanish dealers, for up to €1,290 million
- Fast 3 S.r.l., relating to receivables due from
Italian dealers, for up to €1,000 million
- Nixes Six PLc, relating to receivables due
from UK customers, for up to GBP 670 million
- Nixes Seven B.V., relating to receivables
due from German customers, for up to €540
million;
• the net increase of new bank loans provided
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Financial structure and funding sources
The table below shows the financial structure and
funding sources as of December, 31 2019:

As a % of total
funding sources

As a % of total
liabilities and equity

Crédit Agricole Group

12%

11%

Financial institutions

19%

19%

Securitizations

19%

18%

Bank deposits

4%

4%

MTN

30%

28%

Equity

11%

10%

Central Banks

4%

4%

Commercial Papers

1%

1%

Description

5%

Non-financial liabilities
Total

to different Group companies, for a total
amount of €700 million;
• an increase of €200 million in deposits from
the public, which brought total deposits to over
€1.1 billion at December 31, 2019.

100%

100%
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"THE YEAR AHEAD WILL SEE
SIGNIFICANT IMPROVEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCE CALCULATOR,
WHICH IS CONSTANTLY
CHANGING TO INCORPORATE
NEW TECHNOLOGICAL
SOLUTIONS AND TO PROVIDE AN
INCREASINGLY BETTER
CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE."
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The Web Finance
Calculator,
innovation to
serve customers
better.
MARCELLA MERLI

Sales & Marketing

In a world where digitalization is no longer a
new frontier, but a solid base on which to build
integrated solutions and services, customer
experience has taken centre stage and a key
role in the development of new products
and systems. Access and customization are
the two features that consumers consider
paramount in their buying process, in reaction
to the many inputs that they receive and the
increasingly important personal needs. FCA
Bank’s Finance Calculator came to life in 2006
as a communication tool made available by
Sava, which eventually became FCA Bank, on
its website. Today it is a pan-European platform
present in over 300 touchpoints which, in
light of the 1 million daily interactions that it
generates, qualifies as a shopping tool, allowing
customers to research and customize the best
car financing solutions. In fact, the Finance
Calculator makes it possible to simulate one’s
monthly payment by choosing from the range
of available options – traditional loan repayable
in monthly instalments, lease and solutions with
guaranteed future value – including insurance
and additional services and permitting a
comparison among the different alternatives.
The service can be accessed through the
websites of the FCA Bank Group either on a
stand-alone basis or on an integrated basis, with
the car configurators of the Brands, the dealers
and the stock locators. The service is available
for all the FCA, Maserati, Jaguar and Land Rover

brands and for all the types of vehicle, whether
new, used or immediate delivery.
The year ahead will see significant improvements
for the Finance Calculator, which is constantly
changing to incorporate new technological
solutions and to provide an increasingly better
customer experience. The new 3.0 version will
be integrated into the systems in place in every
market, making it possible to release new user
functionalities. New developments include the
evaluation of the trade-in value of one’s car, the
addition of Leasys’s rental products and the
possibility to look for vehicles consistent with
one’s monthly expense budget.
In addition, the integration with the
functionalities of the current pre-scoring
platform and the future development of
e-commerce tools will enable users to see their
credit application approved and to reserve the
offer, with a 100% digital customer journey. All
this can be obtained by just accessing the Web
Finance Calculator.
In FCA Bank’s strategic vision innovation is a will
always be at the customer’s service.
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Funding sources

2%

1%
5%

15%

7%

8%

11%

13%

3%
4%
10%

31%

28%

35%

34%

17%

20%
17%

16%

24%

4%
12%

30%

19%

19%

11%

10%

10%

10%

11%

31.12.2016

31.12.2017

31.12.2018

31.12.2019

19%

18%

31.12.2015

22%

1%
4%

Equity

Securitisation

Crédit Agricole Group

Time Deposit

Third Parties

MTN

Central Bank

C Ps

The chart shows how the strategy to diversify
the funding sources firmed up over the years.
In particular, the banking licence obtained in
2015 made it possible to resort to the European
Central Bank and to benefit from the further
diversification resulting from the launch of

“Conto Deposito” in 2016 and “Euro Commercial
Papers” in 2018.
All these actions enabled FCA Bank to continue
to secure the liquidity necessary to fund the
growing business and to strengthen its liability
profile.
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FINANCIAL RISK
MANAGEMENT

FCA BANK’S PROGRAMS
AND ISSUES

Interest-rate risk management policies, which
are intended to protect net interest margin
from the impact of changes in interest rates,
provide for the maturities (interest reset dates)
of liabilities to match the maturities of the
asset portfolio. It is worthy of note that the
Group’s risk management policies allows the
use of interest rate derivatives only for hedging
purposes.
Maturity matching is achieved also through
more liquid derivative instruments, such as
interest rate swaps and forward rate agreements
(the Group’s risk management policies do not
allow the use of instruments other than “plain
vanilla”, such as exotic instruments).

FCA Bank’s issues are managed, as detailed in
the following table, through:
• the Euro Medium Term Note (EMTN) program,
with FCA Bank S.p.A. as issuer (through its Irish
branch). At December 31, 2019 the program
had an aggregate maximum nominal amount
of €12 billion and approximately €8.6 billion in
notes outstanding. The notes and the program
have been assigned FCA Bank S.p.A.’s longterm rating by Moody’s, Standard & Poor’s and
Fitch;

The strategy pursued during the year involved
constant and full hedging of the risk in question,
thereby offsetting the effect of interest rate and
market volatility.
In terms of currency risk, the Group’s policy
does not contemplate the creation of foreign
currency positions. As such, non-euro portfolios
are usually funded in the matching currencies;
where this is not possible, risk is hedged
through foreign exchange swaps (it is worthy
of note that Group risk management policies
allow the use of foreign exchange transactions
solely for hedging purposes). Counterparty
risk exposure is minimized, according to the
criteria set out by Group risk management
policies, by depositing excess liquidity with
the central bank and performing day-to-day
transactions with primary banks. Use of veryshort-term investment instruments is limited to
short-term deposits and repurchase agreements
with European government securities as
underlying. Regarding transactions in interest
rate derivatives (carried out solely under
ISDA standard agreements), counterparty
risk is managed solely through the clearing
mechanisms under EMIR.

• stand-alone bonds denominated in Swiss
francs issued by FCA Capital Suisse S.A. and
guaranteed by FCA Bank S.p.A. At December
31, 2019 there were three bonds outstanding
for a total amount of 400 million Swiss francs.
These bonds have been assigned FCA Bank
S.p.A.’s long-term rating by Moody’s and Fitch;
• the Euro Commercial Paper program with
FCA Bank S.p.A. as issuer (through its Irish
branch). At December 31, 2019 the program
had an aggregate maximum nominal amount
of €750 million and approximately €230 million
in commercial paper outstanding. The program
has been assigned FCA Bank S.p.A.’s short term
rating by Moody’s.

• 59

Report on operations

FCA Bank programs and issuances

INSTRUMENT

ISIN

MARKET

SETTLEMENT
DATE

MATURITY
DATE

AMOUNT
(MLN)

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Public

XS1220057472

EUR

17-Apr-15

17-Apr-20

700

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Public

XS1383510259

EUR

23-Mar-16

23-Sep-20

500

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Public

XS1435295925

EUR

21-Jun-16

21-Jan-21

500

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Public

XS1497682036

GBP

29-Sep-16

29-Sep-21

400

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Public

XS1598835822

EUR

13-Apr-17

15-Nov-21

800

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Public

XS1697916358

EUR

12-Oct-17

12-Oct-20

800

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Public

XS1753030490

EUR

17-Jan-18

17-Jun-21

850

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Private

XS1757829079

EUR

22-Jan-18

22-Jan-20

240

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Private

XS1793286664

EUR

16-Mar-18

16-Mar-20

240

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Public

XS1881804006

EUR

21-Sep-18

21-Feb-22

600

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Public

XS1954697923

EUR

21-Feb-19

21-Jun-22

650

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Private

XS1983383545

EUR

16-Apr-19

16-Apr-21

200

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Public

XS2001270995

EUR

24-May-19

24-Nov-22

800

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Private

XS2016113420

EUR

20-Jun-19

20-Jul-21

200

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Public

XS2051914963

EUR

13-Sep-19

13-Sep-24

850

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Private

XS2072086049

EUR

24-Oct-19

24-Oct-22

200

FCA Capital Suisse SA

Public

CH0326371413

CHF

29-Jun-16

29-Nov-21

100

FCA Capital Suisse SA

Public

CH0370943620

CHF

25-Jul-17

24-Jul-20

175

FCA Capital Suisse SA

Public

CH0498400586

CHF

23-Oct-19

23-Oct-23

125

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Private

XS1967698975

EUR

20-Mar-19

18-Mar-20

130

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Private

XS2028909898

EUR

12-Jul-19

10-Jul-20

100

ISSUER
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RATING
On May 9, 2019, Fitch raised FCA Bank’s short
term rating.
The ratings assigned to FCA Bank at December
31, 2019 are as follows.

TLTRO-III
The ECB’s third series of targeted longerterm refinancing operations (TLTRO-III),
starting from September 2019, represents an
opportunity for banks and an effective tool in
transmitting competitive interest rates from the
financial sector to the private sector. TLTRO-III
will enable banks to borrow at the interest rate
applicable to the ECB’s deposit facility for up to
three years.

SIGNIFICANT RISK TRANSFER
TRANSACTIONS
On November 27, 2019 a placement was
completed for the Class A, B, C, D, E and M
notes issued by A-Best Seventeen S.r.l. in
connection with the securitization of car loans
originated in Italy by FCA Bank S.p.A..
The transaction allowed the optimization of
the level of risk-weighted assets as a result
of a “significant risk transfer” for prudential
purposes, in keeping with Regulation (EU) no.
575/2013 (“CRR”), as subsequently amended by
Regulation (EU) no. 2401/2017.

In December 2019, the bank finalized the first
transaction under the TLTRO-III program for
€100 million.

Entity

Long Term
Rating

Outlook

Short Term
Rating

Long Term
Deposits Rating

Moody’s

Baa1

Stable

P-2

Baa1

Fitch

BBB+

Stable

F1

-

Standard & Poor's

BBB

Negative

A-2

-
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Cost of risk
and credit quality
Cost of risk

• monitoring of credit performance, with
prompt detection of performance deterioration
situations through early warning indicators;
• effective credit collection actions.

The FCA Bank Group’s cost of risk is a function
of such factors as:
• core captive activities: support to the
dealer network, loans and leases and mobility
offerings for end customers;
• conservative credit policies: from the
acceptance phase based on ratings, scores,
decision engines;

This makes it possible to maintain a low level of
non-performing loans and customers/contracts
showing a risk increase.

Non performing loans
1.92%
1.58%

1.43%
1.24%

31.12.2018

31.12.2019

31.12.2017

31.12.2016

31.12.2015

1.21%
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At 0.25%, the Cost of Risk was again excellent
and in line with budget, despite the uncertainty

160

0.93%

140

0.89%

looming over the Euro area and the automotive
sector.

0.91%
0.78%

120

0.75%

0.57%

0.44%

0.30%

100

0.20% 0.18%

0.25%

80
60

145

145

144

116

109

83

40

70

20

44

43

66

2019

2018

2017

2016

Cost of risk (€/MLN)

2015

2014

2013

2012

2011

2010

2009

0

55

Cost of risk (%)

Cost of risk and unemployement
9.0%
8.2%

7.6%

7.0%
6.4%

0.4%

2015

0.3%

2016

Cost of risk/Average portfolio Ratio

0.2%

0.2%

2017

2018

0.3%

2019

Unemployement (Source Eurostat, Eu 27 countries, December 2019)

Report on operations

• 63

• 64

Consolidated financial statements December 31, 2019

SCORING MODELS TO
EVALUATE “RETAIL”
CREDIT RISK
In assessing the creditworthiness of retail credit
applicants, scorecards are one of the main
decision-making drivers utilized by the FCA
Bank Group.
Scorecards are statistical models that identify
the probability of risk associated with the
customer/application and the ensuing
classification in the rejection or acceptance
area through the application and an approved
cut-off value.
The use of statistical models ensure an
objective, transparent, structured and
consistent assessment of all the information
related to the customer and the financing
required.
The evaluation of a customer’s creditworthiness
is based mainly on the outcome of the
scorecards and the application of the rules
governing credit approval (such as control over
external negative events, status of internal risks,
etc.).
In the cases where the input of a credit analyst
is required, the final credit decision can be
confirmed or revised, where necessary.
Currently, the FCA Bank Group uses 32
scorecards based on country, type of customer
and, where possible, type of product.
FCA Bank has adopted an organizational model
intended to improve the Parent Company’s
level of service to Group companies. In
this context, the central credit function is
responsible, for all the markets, for:
• supervising the development of credit
evaluation models, ensuring their quality;
• monitoring constantly and continuously

the performance of such models and
recommending corrective actions in the
presence of a deteriorated predictive ability;
• drafting the Group’s scoring procedures and
policies.
To develop scoring models, FCA Bank has
been using reliable partners, sector leaders
with adequate professional skills and the
use of rigorous and advanced statistical
methodologies.
In September 2019, the Board of Directors
approved the insourcing of the activities to
develop scoring models, under the supervision
of central credit. The goal is to create a
competence centre that would serve the
Group companies for the development of
all the scorecards use din the credit process
(acceptance, anti-fraud, collection) starting
from 2020.
From a quantitative point of view, during the
second half of 2019 the Retail business line saw
the approval of a new scorecard for private
customers in Denmark while a new scorecard
is being approved for private customers in
Greece. The Rental business line, for its part,
witnessed the approval and implementation of
a new scorecard for companies in Italy while a
new scorecard is being approved, still in Italy,
for private and self-employed customers.
It is worthy of note that in the second half of
2019, the development of a new tool began
to monitor scorecards, through an automated
and faster process, thereby allowing the
implementation of any necessary corrective
action even more rapidly.

RATING MODELS
TO EVALUATE
“CORPORATE” RISK
The evaluation of corporate customers is
based on a comprehensive combined use
of two systems, developed in cooperation
with the pertinent technical staff of the two
shareholders.
The first, which is called CRISP, is intended
mainly to evaluate the counterparty’s equity.
The second, which is called ANADEFI,
emphasizes instead the counterparty’s earning

power and probability of default.
It is noted that the operational mechanisms
for the use of systems to rate corporate
counterparties and the development of
scorecards, as well as the setting of the cut-off
for retail counterparties, are matters that fall
within the purview of the Board of Directors,
which sets the specific guidelines to be applied
by management in day-to-day operations.
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CREDIT QUALITY

(Item 40b - Loans and receivables with customers) (€/thousand)
31/12/2018

31/12/2019
DESCRIPTION

Gross
exposure

Allowance for
loan and lease

Net
exposure

Gross
exposure

Allowance for
loan and lease

Net
exposure

Bad exposures

125,027

(84,544)

40,483

111,536

(83,607)

27,929

Unlikely
to pay

102,832

(35,417)

67,415

122,391

(38,737)

83,654

Non Performing
Past due

71,534

(26,854)

44,680

53,831

(23,836)

29,995

Non-performing
loans

299,393

(146,815)

152,578

287,758

(146,180)

141,578

Performing
loans

23,876,501

(123,990)

23,752,511

23,574,135

(127,705)

23,446,429

Total

24,175,894

(270,805)

23,905,089

23,861,893

(273,885)

23,588,008

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

DESCRIPTION

Gross
exposure
weight

Net
exposure
weight

Coverage
ratio

Gross
exposure
weight

Net
exposure
weight

Coverage
ratio

Bad exposures

0.52%

0.17%

67.62%

0.47%

0.12%

74.96%

Unlikely
to pay

0.43%

0.28%

34.44%

0.51%

0.35%

31.65%

Non Performing
Past due

0.30%

0.19%

37.54%

0.23%

0.13%

44.28%

Non-performing
loans

1.24%

0.64%

49.03%

1.21%

0.60%

50.80%

Performing
loans

98.76%

99.36%

0.52%

98.79%

99.40%

0.54%

Total

100.00%

100.00%

1.12%

100.00%

100.00%

1.15%

The credit quality is confirmed at an excellent
level, with non-performing loans representing
0.64% of total net exposure. The net exposure
of non-performing loans amounted to euro 153
million compared to a total net exposure of
euro 24 billion.

Allowance for loans and lease losses
amounted to euro 271 million at the end of
2019, compared to euro 274 million at the end
of 2018; gross exposure for impaired loans
amounted to euro 299 million compared to
euro 288 million at the end of 2018.
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"CUSTOMERS NEED
ONLY TO ENTER FINANCIAL
DATA TO LEARN IN REAL TIME
WHETHER THE SELECTED
FINANCING PLAN
IS FEASIBLE."
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Digitalization
LUCA POLLANO

ICT, Digital & Data Governance

In a hyper-connected world, digital transformation
plays an increasingly important role for the bank. The
digital transition actually entails a paradigm change
from a traditional product-centric strategy to a
customer-centric one. In 2019, in agreement with the
digitalization roadmap defined, FCA Bank focused on
this customer-centric vision to design processes and
solutions to encourage customers to establish a solid
and long-standing trust-based relationship.
PRE-SCORING
Knowledge is the word at the foundation of the prescoring project, which came to life to add value both
to the potential customer and the dealer by providing
a preliminary and immediate answer on the customer’s
ability to access a financing plan by FCA Bank chosen
online while configuring a vehicle on the brand’s
website. Once the amount of the monthly instalment
is calculated online with the finance calculator, thanks
to pre-scoring customers need only to enter little but
necessary financial data to learn in real time whether
the selected financing plan is feasible. Dealers, for
their part, will receive though pre-scoring the result
of the credit assessment, which will be used either to
expedite completion of the credit application process
or to provide customers with an alternative financing
solution, in case the plan selected online is inconsistent
with their repayment capabilities.
In July 2019, the project was successfully launched
in Germany, the pilot market; eventually this winning
strategy was rolled out in Italy, Spain, Belgium, the
Netherlands and Austria.
DIGITAL ONBOARDING
As the optimal financing plan is chosen, the data
entered and pre-scoring results received, customers
who then go to the dealer will receive all the benefits

deriving from the digital onboarding project: digital
signature, filing and dematerialization of all the
documentation designed to finalize the contract. In
Spain and Portugal, countries where such solution
is adopted by over 80% of customers, the benefits
are clear: better customer experience, thanks to a
transparent and secure process, greater security and
more structured communications between the dealer
and the bank. The year just ended was important
for this project as this solution was introduced
successfully also in Greece, Belgium, the Netherlands,
France and Poland, after its launch in Spain, Portugal,
Italy, Germany and Austria.
CUSTOMER PORTAL
As the contract is signed and the sale process
completed, the bank’s objective is to set up a
communication channel for customers that might be
used as needed. From a smartphone, a tablet or a
personal computer, customers can access FCA Bank’s
Customer Portal, to obtain updated information in real
time or to update their personal information by using
easy and intuitive tools. Customer are provided a tool
that is:
• easy: a single area to monitor closely all car financing
and lease contracts signed and banking products, so
as to manage them conveniently and rapidly;
• intuitive and secure: easy-to-use solution for all
customers from any device and secure through the use
of a one-time password to confirm any action;
• customized: customers are offered the possibility to
receive personalized solutions through the portal.
The project, which had already gone live in Italy,
Germany, Austria and UK, was launched successfully in
2019 in France, Poland, Belgium and the Netherlands.
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Residual
values
Residual value is the value of the vehicle when
the related loan or lease contract expires.
The Bank is exposed to residual value risks in
connection with loan and lease contracts with
customers that can return the vehicle at the
end of such contracts.
Trends in the used vehicle market may entail a
risk for the holder of the residual value.
This risk is basically borne by the dealers
throughout Europe, with the exception of the
UK market, where the risk is managed, regularly
monitored, mitigated with specific procedures
and covered through specific provisions by the
bank.
FCA Bank has long adopted Group guidelines
and processes to manage and monitor residual
risk on an ongoing basis.

euro/mln

2017

2018

31/12/19

Consumer loans
and leases:

Regarding long-term rentals, residual risk on
rented vehicles is generally borne by the rental
car company, save for specific arrangements
with third parties. In this case, residual risk
is represented by the difference between
the market value of the vehicle at the end of
the contract and the carrying amount of the
vehicle.
Leasys and its subsidiaries, which are not
part of the banking group, and FCA Capital
Danmark A/S are the Group companies
operating in the long-term rental business.

euro/mln

2017

2018

31/12/19

894

1,230

1,497

Long-Term
Rental:

Residual Risk borne
by Group FCA Bank

924

912

1,102

of which UK market

803

700

687

Provisions for residual value

37

Residual Risk borne
by Group FCA Bank

Provisions for residual value

24
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Results
of operations
Economic data (€/mln)

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

Net banking income and rental margin

1,025

954

Net operating expenses

(293)

(277)

Cost of risk

(66)

(44)

Operating income

666

633

Other income / (expense )

(28)

(85)

Profit before tax

638

548

Net income

467

388

Average

26,348

24,375

End of year

27,539

26,805

Net banking income and rental margin (on average outstanding)

3.89%

3.91%

Cost/Income ratio

28.55%

29.02%

Cost of risk (on average outstanding)

0.25%

0.18%

CET1

14.20%

12.45%

Total Capital Ratio (TCR)

15.82%

14.02%

Outstanding

Ratio

Ratio
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Balance sheet data (€/mln)

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

Cash and cash balances

585

363

Financial assets designated at fair value with effects on comprehensive income

10

10

25,903

25,745

a) Loans and receivables with banks

1,997

2,157

b) Loans and receivables with customers

23,905

23,588

Hedging derivatives

37

36

Changes in fair value of portfolio hedge items

48

27

Insurance reserves attributable to reinsures

13

10

3,197

2,547

Intangible assets

263

247

Tax assets

300

273

Other assets

1,350

1,279

Total assets

31,705

30,535

Total liabilities

28,534

27,657

Net equity

3,171

2,878

Financial assets valued at amortized costs:

Property, plant and equipment

The average outstanding portfolio for the
period rose by 8% on 2018, mainly thanks to the
Rental business line (+27%). Also the average
outstanding portfolio of the Retail financing
business increased (+9%) while that of the
Dealer financing business was largely stable

(+1%) compared to the previous year. FCA Bank
improved its commercial penetration (which
went up by 2.1% on 2018), reaching 48.1%,
generating total financed volumes for the year
in the amount of €13.7 billion, up 3% on 2018.
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Outstanding End of Year (€/MLN)
26,805

27,000
23,936

24,000
20,755

21,000
18,000

17,249

15,000

1,406

3,508

15,760

16,889

8,226

7,142

14,378

13,002

11,016

Retail

12,000

1,706

2,239

2,818

27,539

Dealer

30,000

9,000

3,000

4,827

6,047

7,319

Rental

6,000

0
31.12.2019

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

31.12.2016

31.12.2015

26,348

27,000
24,375

24,000

21,797
1,906

18,000
15,000

18,498
16,088
1,404

1,579

2,939
16,247

14,940

13,717

11,768

Retail Financing

21,000

2,317

10,452

12,000
9,000
7,162

Rental

4,232

7,118

31.12.2019

3,000

5,150

6,174

31.12.2018

6,000

Dealer financing

Average Portfolio (€/MLN)

0
31.12.2017

31.12.2016

31.12.2015
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Income Rental Margin
1.100

4.1%

4.0%

3.9%

3.9%

3.9%

1.000
953.9

900
800

840.5

700
600

1.024.8

731.6
667.4

500
400
300
200
100
0

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

31.12.2016

31.12.2015

Net banking income and rental margin for the
period rose by €70.9 million, to €1,024.8 million,
thanks to higher volumes and a lower cost of
funds. Net banking income and rental margin
accounted for 3.9% of the average outstanding

Income Margin/Average Portfolio Ratio (%)
Income Margin (€/MLN)

portfolio, in line with the comparable metric
at the end of 2018, thanks also to the constant
cooperation with the commercial partners.
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Net Operating Expenses
35%

29%

29%

276,8

292,6

31.12.2019

31%

31.12.2018

33%

300
250
200

235,7

245,0

263,7

150
100
50
31.12.2017

31.12.2016

31.12.2015

0

Operating efficiency combined with the ability
of profit to grow relatively faster than costs
resulted in a cost/income ratio of 28.6%,
continuing the improvement process under way
for a number of years.

Cost income ratio (% annual basis)
Net Operating Expenses (€/MLN)

In absolute terms, net operating costs rose by
approximately €15.8 million on 2018, in keeping
with the increase of the average outstanding
portfolio and the investments made to support
the Group’s growth.

Cost of Risk
80

0.44%

70
60

0.25%
70.1

0.30%

50
55.1

40

0.20%

42.7

44.1

31.12.2017

31.12.2018

30

66.2
0.18%

20
10

At 0.25% of the average outstanding portfolio,
the cost of risk was excellent also in 2019 and
was in line with budget, despite the uncertainty
hanging over the euro area and the automotive
sector. In absolute terms, the cost of risk

31.12.2019

31.12.2016

31.12.2015

0

Cost of Risk / Average Portfolio Ratio (%)
Cost of Risk (€/MLN)

settled at €66 million, with an increase on the
previous year also as a result of the increase in
financed volumes.
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Relazione financial
e bilanciostatements
consolidatoDecember
31 Dicembre
Consolidated
31, 2019

Profit before tax and Net profit (€/MLN)
650
600

638.0

550
500

547.6

521.1

450

467.1

400
350

416.5
382.5

359.4

300
250

388.4

311.6
249.1

200
150
50
0

30.06.2019

Expenses include the contribution to the Single
Resolution Fund for €7.7 million.

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

31.12.2016

31.12.2015

Operating profit for 2019 amounts to €666
million, up to 4.4% copared to the previous year
(€663 million). The pre-tax profit totals €638
million reflecting an increase of approximately
€90.4 million (up 17%) on the comparable year
amount.

Pre-tax Profit
Net Profit

In terms of net result, the period ended with
a net profit of €467.1 million, up 20% on the
comparable year figure.
The increase in net profit was due to the lower
tax burden on Leasys S.p.A., in relation to the
super-depreciation of investments in tangible
assets.
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Equity and
capital ratio
Impieghi di fine periodo (€/MLN)

Own Funds and ratios
(€/000)

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

3,001,472

2,724,100

5,584

5,555

Tier 1 - T1

3,007,056

2,729,655

Tier 2 - T2

337,046

337,406

Total Capital

3,344,102

3,067,061

Risk-weighted assets (RWA)

21,142,442

21,877,598

CET1

14.20%

12.45%

Total Capital ratio (TCR)

15.82%

14.02%

LCR

282%

259%

NSFR

106%

110%

Leverage Ratio

10.62%

10.22%

RONE (Net Profit/Average Normative Equity)

23.25%

18.69%

Common Equity Tier 1 - CET1
Additional Tier 1 - AT1

REGULATORY RATIOS

OTHER RATIOS

At December 31, 2019, the Total Capital Ratio
was 15.82%, reflecting an improvement over the
comparable metric at the end of 2018.
Such improvement was in essence due to the
inclusion in CET 1 of the net profit for the year
ended December 31, 2019 pursuant to article
26, paragraph 2, of Regulation (EU) n. 575/2013
of the European Parliament and of the Council
and Decision (EU) 2015/656 of the European
Central Bank (ECB/2015/4). To this end, formal
acceptance by the ECB was obtained.
CET 1 (Profit Included) – which is calculated by
including profit for the year after dividends, if
declared, in line with the same rules as those
applicable at the end of 2018 - showed an

improvement, as it rose to 14.20%.
Regarding the liquidity ratios, LCR reached
282% while NSFR was 106%.
The profitability ratios also improved, thanks to
the excellent results for the period.
RONE (Return on Normative Equity) calculated
considering the average Normative Equity and
a 9.5% capital requirement for RWA, stood at
23.25%.
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RECONCILIATION BETWEEN RECLASSIFIED AND
REPORTED FINANCIAL STATEMENT FIGURES

31/12/2018

Ref. Notes to
the financial
statements
Part C

930

903

1.1

20. Interest expenses and similar charges

(237)

(242)

1.3

40. Fee and commission income

148

164

2.1

50. Fee and commision expenses

(33)

(43)

2.2

80. Net income financial assets and liabilities held for trading

(0)

1

4.1

90.Fair value adjustments in hedge accounting

(6)

(2)

5.1

1

1

6.1

(1)

(1)

8.1

160.Net premium earned

1

1

10.1

170. Net other operating income/ charges from insurance activities

(1)

2

11.1

200. Net provision for risks and charges

2

1

13.3

210. Impairment on tangible assets

(427)

(361)

14.1

230. Other operating income/charges

647

530

16.1

Net Banking Income

1,025

954

190. Administrative costs

(267)

(270)

12.1

200. Net provision for risks and charges

(1)

7

13.3

220. Impairment on intangible assets

(14)

(11)

15.1

210. Impairment on tangible assets

(11)

(2)

14.1

0

(1)

16.1

(293)

(277)

(12)

(12)

2.2

(46)

(19)

8.1
16.1

Reconciliation between reported income statement
and reclassified income statement (€/mln)
10. Interest income and similar revenue

31/12/2019

100. Profits (losses) on disposal or repurchase of
a) financial assets at amortized cost
130. Impairment losses on:
a) financial assets at amortized cost

230. Other operating income/charges
Net operating expenses
50. Fee and commision expenses
130. Impairment losses on:
a) financial assets at amortized cost

(8)

(13)

(66)

(44)

200. Net provision for risks and charges

(0)

(84)

13.3

190. Administrative costs

(12)

(1)

12.1

230. Other operating income/charges

(16)

-

16.1

(28)

(85)

(171)

(159)

Income taxes

(171)

(159)

Net profit

467

388

230. Other operating income/charges
Cost of risk

Other income/expenses
300. Tax expense related to profit or loss from continuing operations

With reference to the items of the
above representation, when there is not
a correspondence to the items of the

21.1

Consolidated Income Statement, please see the
references to the Notes to the Consolidated
financial statements.
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Reconciliation between outstanding and loans and receivables with customers
(€/mln)
Oustanding

31/12/2019

Ref. Notes to t
he financial
statements

27,539
(3,092)

Part B 9.1 FS Assets

(709)

Part B 13.1 FS Assets

2

Part B 1.1 FS Liabilities

80. Other liabilities

145

Part B 8.1 FS Liabilities

40.b) Loans and receivables with customers not included in the outstanding

291

Part B 4.2 FS Assets

90. Property, plant and equipment (*)
130. Other assets (**)
10.b) Deposits from customers

40.b) Loans and receivables with customers

Allowance for loans Management data
90. Property, plant and equipment
130. Other assets

24,176

305
(34)

10.b) Deposits from customers

-

80. Other liabilities

-

40.b) Loans and receivables with customers not included in the outstanding

-

Allowance for loans with customers Item 40.b)

(*) The item includes assets related to the rental
business
(**) The item includes the consignment for euro 147
million and receivables from customers relating to
the rental business for euro 561 million.

271

Part B 13.1 FS Assets
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RECONCILIATION BETWEEN PARENT COMPANY
AND CONSOLIDATED EQUITY
Equity

Of which, profit
for the year

1,832,245

443,354

Equity and profit of subsidiaries less non-controlling interests

2,317,426

283,337

Consolidation adjustments:

(1,033,430)

(266,279)

(1,010,652)

-

-

(266,877)

(22,778)

598

3,116,241

460,412

54,931

6,663

3,171,172

467,075

Equity and profit for the year of FCA Bank S.p.A.

Elimination of carrying amount of consolidated companies
Intercompany dividends
Other consolidation adjustments
Equity and profit attributable to FCA Bank S.p.A.’s shareholders
Equity and profit attributable to non-controlling interests
Consolidated equity and net profit

Report on operations

Organization
and human resources
For this section please refer to the
Consolidated Non-Financial Statement.
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"COMPLIANCE MEANS
ADHERENCE TO RULES,
A NON-NEGOTIABLE VALUE
WHICH FCA BANK
PRESERVES AND
ADVANCES WITH ALL
ITS ENERGIES."
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Compliance and
transparency:
FCA Bank’s
added value
PATRIZIO LATTANZI

Compliance & Supervisory Relations

Compliance means adherence to rules, a nonnegotiable value which FCA Bank preserves and
advances with all its energies, in relation to each
activity performed.
This translates into confidence for its customers,
who can count on a banking intermediary that
treats compliance as the cornerstone of its
operations.
FCA Bank is convinced that, to engage in fair
business practices, it is necessary to disseminate
an adequate compliance culture among all the
people who act in its name.
To that end, during the year, the bank launched
a number of initiatives involving, among other
things, in-depth training activities and employees
and collaborators kept constantly up to date on
competition and personal data protection.
In addition to the dissemination of a compliance
culture, FCA Bank is convinced that it is
necessary to set up a rigorous set of internal
rules and regulations that might inform and
guide the conduct of all employees and
collaborators, so that these might abide by
primary and secondary legislation.

To that end, FCA Bank kept constantly updated
its own set of policies, rules and procedures,
paying special attention to new regulations
enacted during the year.
Lastly, in keeping with its own Code of Conduct,
FCA Bank upgraded its safeguards in place in the
antitrust area and firmed up those established
to protect the right/duty of each employee
to report conduct considered inappropriate,
ensuring the anonymity of the tipper.
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Information
technology
In keeping with the Group’s digitalization
process, the Information and Communication
Technology firmed up its actions to upgrade
the operating systems necessary to achieve
the dematerialization of the sale process in
Consumer Financing, making it possible to
achieve the 60% digitalization target by 2019.
In the second half the digitalization process
involved obtaining Web Machine’s privacy
consent by further strengthening the process in
line with the applicable laws and regulations.
In the second half of 2019, the following projects
were managed to strengthen compliance:
• the IFRS 16 project was completed, to enable
management of “IFRS 16 – Leases”, which
governs lease agreements for entities that use
international financial reporting standards;
• NCB: New Corporate Backbone, i.e. the new
Pan-European tool that makes it possible to
manage “Credit Dossiers” through a workflow
containing the approval process and automatic
calculation with the new powers;
• New Default Definition, which entails a new
calculation of this corporate indicator.
In parallel, the Company decided to invest in
projects intended to enhance its profitability:
• in the second half of 2019, to support the
activity of the Treasury department, the ABACO
(i.e. Collateralized Bank Assets) project was

started in connection with the Bank of Italy’s
procedure to manage collateralized loans;
• lease securitization, which is intended to allow
the securitization of the credit component
of leased assets, excluding all the other
components;
• New Financial Calculator 3.0, creating a new
tool, to allow potential customers to use a more
effective and intuitive tool to calculate proposed
long-term-rental financing and product emulator
starting from a specific monthly payment. The
new tool, available on all digital front-ends, will
be connected with the corporate back-ends in
real time;
• the Pre-Scoring Project will be implemented
in early 2020 also in Italy and its integration
with the Financial Calculator 3.0 will start the
Company’s process toward eCommerce;
• the functionalities in the Customer Area of FCA
Bank’s website were improved, to allow a better
User experience, by activating the integration of
a single digital identity (Single Sign On) with the
banking product Conto Deposito;
• RCA Generali project, to manage the
new financing provided for connected and
unconnected vehicles, with the replacement of
the current provider, UK-based AM Trust, in light
of Brexit (exit of UK from the European Union).
Moreover, FCA Bank has started a process to

Report on operations

redefine all the central Treasury systems, to
upgrade and make more effective the tool
to analyse the department’s benefit. In the
meantime, activities began on the CFO Database
project, intended to create a database containing
accounting data, with a high level of detail, for all
the legal entities and subsidiaries of FCA Bank
and Leasys, which will enable the automated
feeding of the Consolidated Financial Statements
and Supervision application and the automated
upload of the planning module data.
Also the BI’s new Roadmap was redefined,
in view of the replacement of the Company’s
DataWarehouse system with a more innovative
Data Lake system, capable of hosting the most
up-to-date communication tools now and in
the near future. The new tool will be able to host
new objects and will make it possible to perform
a detail analysis to design and develop the new
Customer Centricity model.
With that in mind, the Company reconsidered
the Customer Care tool, by selecting in the
constantly evolving market a solution better than
the current one, in light of the rapid changes in
corporate requirements. Thus, starting from the
end of 2020, FCA Bank’s Markets and Leasys will
see the implementation of the new Salesforce
system, starting from the countries that do not
have an integrated Customer Care tool yet.
Moreover, the Markets are working in close
cooperation with the central activities for the
Pan-European Pre-Scoring, Customer Portal
and Residual Value projects. The Residual Value
project is intended to provide a common starting
base for the calculation of the residual value of
corporate assets, basing the recalculation on a
single provider.
In the Foreign Markets the strategy to upgrade
operating and accounting systems based on the
approach by cluster was still unfolding while
the rollouts started in 2015 for the creation of
IT platforms to cover the Retail and Long Term
Rental business lines continued to take place. In
2020, there will be releases in Denmark, Portugal,
Poland, France and Spain.
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The year just ended saw the beginning of the
process to standardize the systems of Leasys
Rent, the short-term rental company purchased
by Leasys to meet new market requirements,
in anticipation of new trends, and to meet the
needs of web customers, creating new and
innovative products, such as the subscriptionbased CarCloud platform.
Also the RPA (Robotic Process Automation)
project, for automating repetitive and low-valueadded corporate processes, was completed
across FCA Bank. The project involved also
Leasys in 2019 and will be exported to the
European Markets in 2020. In 2019 the RPA
project activated progressively 40 robots,
covering HQ, BU and Leasys processes, thus
confirming the strategic plan to automate
repetitive activities in many functional areas
of FCA Bank, with the resulting reduction of
personnel expenses and the reallocation of
Business resources to higher value-added
activities. In 2020 the remaining 50 robots will be
released, thus completing the last instalment of
the RPA project.
The department managed the developments
related to the creation of the applications for
the on-line auction of used cars for private
individuals and Brokers, to support Clickar, a new
company.
The department released also, for the benefit
of JLR, the new Pan-European Customer Portal
and the new JLR Pre-Scoring system, providing
customers with a user experience in line with the
carmaker’s expectations.
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Cross Path
Program &
Innovaction
ANDREA BARCIO

Head of Human Resources

In 2016 the FCA Bank Group launched CrossPath, an international and inter-functional
professional development program designed
to form a pool of young talents by attracting
brilliant new university graduates. An accurate
selection process led to the identification of a
restricted group of high-potential candidates
who entered a fast-track program to foster
professional growth in terms of leadership and
technical skills. Key features of the program
were job rotation and international breadth.
Through a series of 24-month assignments, the
trainees had the opportunity to test their mettle
in different roles in different core areas of our
industry (Credit, Finance e Sales & Marketing)
and to gain experience in one of the 18 markets
in which the Group operates. In this way, these
rookies developed a precious knowledge of the
business and its processes through constant
on-the-job training, but also through group and
individual training initiatives focused on soft and
hard skills.
A process that was definitely demanding
and challenging, but one in which
Management believes and invests with the
intent of training future leaders, capable
and competent professionals who can meet
tomorrow’s challenges. To that end, one of
the characteristics of “Cross-Path” was the
activation of a dedicated mentoring program,
where senior managers selected from among
the members of the Leadership team followed
trainees individually along their growth path,
providing the type of guidance that supported
them throughout the duration of the program.

After 4 years, those trainees have been assigned
to challenging and stimulating roles, in 7
different countries (as an example:; market CFO,
head of Marketing & Business Development of a
Leasys market, Marketing Manager for European
markets with Leasys, etc.).
The positive feedback received from both
the trainees and management confirmed
the success of the initiative and prompted
the bank to set up another inter-functional
and international “Cross-Path” program. In
the first quarter of 2020, the new group of
high-potential candidates, with a passion
for automotive and finance, will be selected.
The candidates will have ambitious goals and
the opportunity to be involved in different
assignments.
The FCA Bank Group’s commitment, and its
attention to employee development themes, go
also beyond the “Cross-Path” program. Since
2017 a number of training programs have been
developed in Rental and Retail with the intent
of giving a chance also to internal staff to prove
themselves in interdisciplinary professional
challenges and to participate in innovative and
training initiatives (i.e. (i.e. hackaton, business
games, special projects, virtual training, etc.).
Following completion in 2019 of the Strategic
Thinking Path program, which was started
in 2017, FCA Bank launched an additional
corporate initiative called InnovAction, to
develop feasible and innovative business
solutions that might enable it to be
competitive in the market, meeting, and
where possible anticipating, customer needs.
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"A PROCESS IN WHICH
MANAGEMENT BELIEVES AND
INVESTS WITH THE INTENT OF
TRAINING FUTURE LEADERS,
CAPABLE AND COMPETENT
PROFESSIONALS WHO CAN
MEET TOMORROW’S
CHALLENGES."

With management’s help, eight strategic
areas of our business were identified and
matched with specific projects with which to
work. Participants are a heterogeneous and
international group, made up of 48 colleagues
coming from a variety of markets and with
different corporate seniorities.
The 8 teams identified worked on a single
project, with support from an internal tutor in
terms of expertise, know-how and leadership.
The program consists of three main phases, a
kick-off workshop held in June, involving a oneday-and-a-half gathering where participants
and tutors, with help from external facilitators

and innovation experts, worked on the creation
of the teams and the sharing of methods
and tools to be used for the development of
projects; six months of project work, during
which participants worked from a remote
location; and a final day to be held in early
2020, where the teams will present their
projects to the Leadership Team.
To overcome the geographical distance and the
functional and hierarchical differences within
the organization, virtual and team coaching
sessions were held to enhance agile working
and virtual remote collaboration capabilities.
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Internal
control systems
For this section please refer to the
Consolidated Non-Financial Statement.
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INTERNAL CONTROL FUNCTIONS
For this section please refer to the
Consolidated Non-Financial Statement.

INTERNAL BOARD COMMITTEES
For this section please refer to the
Consolidated Non-Financial Statement.

COMMITTEES INVOLVED IN THE
INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM
For this section please refer to the
Consolidated Non-Financial Statement.

• 87

• 88

Consolidated financial statements December 31, 2019

Other
information
PRINCIPAL RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES

markets and interest rates) can impact the
Group’s prospects and its financial and
operating results.

The specific risks that can give rise to
obligations for the Company are evaluated
when the relevant provisions are made and
are reported in the notes to the financial
statements, together with significant
contingent liabilities. In this section, reference
is made to risk and uncertainty factors related
essentially to the economic, regulatory and
market context which can produce effects for
the Company’s performance. The Company’s
financial condition, operating performance and
cash flows are affected first of all by the various
factors that make up the macroeconomic
picture in which it operates, including increases
and decreases in gross domestic product,
consumer and business confidence levels,
trends in interest, exchange and unemployment
rates.

The FCA Group abides by the laws and
regulations of every country in which it
operates. Most of the legal proceedings we are
involved in relate to disputes due to missed
payments by customers and dealers in the
course of our ordinary business activities.

The Group’s activity is mainly linked to the
performance of the automotive sector, which
is historically cyclical. Bearing in mind that
it is hard to predict the breadth and length
of the different economic cycles, every
macroeconomic event (such as a significant
drop in the main end markets, the solvency
of counterparties, the volatility of financial

Our provisions “for risks and charges”, and
the close monitoring of the legal proceedings
under way, allow us to assess quickly their
possible effects on our accounts.

Brexit
The exit of the United Kingdom from the
European Union had been set originally for
March 29, 2019. However, the UK government
stumbled into a number of difficulties to
have Parliament ratify the treaty signed with
the European Union on 14 November 2015.
In fact, the House of Commons rejected the
treaty three times. This led to the resignation
of Prime Minister Theresa May in June and
the postponement of Brexit (which was first
scheduled for October 31, 2019 and then
rescheduled for January 31, 2020). With
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the election of new Prime Minister Boris
Johnson, on December 12, 2019, the House of
Commons approved on December 20, 2019 the
Withdrawal Bill proposed by the Government.
This Bill calls, among others, for:
• The entry into a transition period until
December 31, 2020, to negotiate a new treaty
for the trade of goods and services; until the
end of 2020, trade relations will be governed
by the rules and regulations currently in
force and, in the absence of a deal, trade
relations will be managed without any specific
agreement;
• The repeal of the Benn Act, which in the
previous legislature required the government to
ask Brussels for an extension of Brexit, in case
of no deal.
Regarding the activities of FCA Bank, which
operates in the UK through three companies
engaging in retail financing, dealer financing
and rental, last year a risk assessment process
was undertaken in keeping with the guidelines
set out in the “Opinion of the European
Banking Authority on preparations for the
withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the
European Union” (EBA/Op/2018/05), published
on June 25, 2018.
The Company’s Board of Directors could, in
turn, review a specific assessment prepared
by management which, starting from a stress
scenario defined by the Bank of England,
focused on three specific themes; trends in
new car registrations, residual values and the
outlook for credit risk in case of hard Brexit.
As of the assessment date, no significant
economic impacts on the UK subsidiaries were
brought to light.

DIRECTION AND COORDINATION
ACTIVITIES
FCA Bank S.p.A. is not subject to direction
and coordination of other companies or
entities. Companies under the control (direct
or indirect) of FCA Bank S.p.A. have identified
it as the entity that performs direction and
coordination activities, pursuant to Article
2497-bis of the Italian Civil Code. This activity
involves setting the general strategic and
operating guidelines for the Group, which
then are translated into the implementation
of general policies for the management of
human and financial resources, and marketing/
communication. Furthermore, coordination
of the Group includes centralized treasury
management and internal audit services.
This allows the subsidiaries, which retain full
management and operational autonomy,
to achieve economies of scale by availing
themselves of professional and specialized
services with increasing levels of quality
and to concentrate their resources on the
management of their core business.

DIVIDEND AND RESERVE
DISTRIBUTIONS
On December 20, 2019, an interim dividend
of €180 million was distributed to the
shareholders, as per resolution of the Board of
Directors dated December 13. 2019

OTHER REGULATORY
DISCLOSURES
In line with Bank of Italy’s instructions on the
preparation of banks’ financial statements, it is
noted that:
a) in the period under review the Group did
not carry out any significant research and
development activities;
b) the Group does not hold and did not
purchase and/or sell shares or interests of the
controlling companies in the period under
review.
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Consolidated income statement details and reconciliation with
reclassified income statement (€/mln)
10

INTEREST INCOME AND SIMILAR REVENUES

80

NET INCOME FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILTIES HELD FOR TRADING

40

FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME
FINANCIAL REVENUE

		
100

of which insurance

31/12/2019

Reclassified
Income
Statements Items

930
(0)
148
1,078
248

PROFITS (LOSSES) ON DISPOSAL OR REPURCHASE OF FINANCIAL
ASSETS AT AMORTIZED COST

1

160

NET PREMIUM EARNED

1

170

NET OTHER OPERATING INCOME/ CHARGES FROM INSURANCE ACTIVITIES

(1)

TOTAL FINANCIAL REVENUE

1,079

NBI

20

INTEREST EXPENSES AND SIMILAR CHARGES

(237)

NBI

90

FAIR VALUE ADJUSTMENTS IN HEDGE ACCOUNTING

(6)

NBI

50

FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSES

(46)

Fee and commission expenses

(33)

NBI

Insurance credit cost

(12)

COR

TOTAL FINANCIAL COST
130

(289)

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON LOANS

(47)

Impairment losses on loans

(46)

COR

(1)

NBI

Impairment losses on loans
180

NET PROFIT FROM FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE ACTIVITIES

744

190

ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS

(279)

Administrative costs

(267)

NOE

Administrative costs

(12)

OTH

200

210

NET PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES

1

Net provisions for risks and charges

2

NBI

Net provisions for risks and charges

(1)

NOE

Net provisions for risks and charges

(0)

OTH

IMPAIRMENT ON TANGIBLE ASSETS

(438)

Depreciation of rental assets (rental business)

(427)

NBI

Depreciation of tangibles asset

(11)

NOE

220

IMPAIRMENT ON INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(14)

NOE

230

OTHER OPERATING INCOME / CHARGES

623

Rental income/charges (rental business)

647

NBI

0

NOE

Eexpense recoveries and credit collection expenses
Impairment of rental receivables (rental business)
Other

(8)

COR

(16)

OTH

(106)

240

OPERATING COSTS

290

TOTAL PROFIT OR LOSS BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

638

300

TAX EXPENSE RELATED TO PROFIT OR LOSS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

(171)

330

NET PROFIT OR LOSS

467

340

MINORITY PORTION OF NET INCOME (LOSS)

350

HOLDINGS INCOME (LOSS) OF THE YEAR

467

TAX
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Report on operations

Reclassified Income Statements Items (€/mln)

31/12/2019

Net Banking Income

1,025

NBI

Net Operating Expenses

(293)

NOE

Cost of risk

(66)

COR

Other income / (expense)

(28)

OTH

Profit before tax

638

Tax expense

(171)

Net profit

467

Turin, 21st February 2020

TAX

On behalf of the Board of Directors
Chief Executive Officer and General Manager
Giacomo Carelli
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Consolidated statement
of financial position
ASSETS (€/thousand)

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

585,272

362,536

9,807

9,634

Financial assets measured at amortized cost

25,903,033

25,744,698

a) Loans and advances to banks

1,997,944

2,156,691

b) Loans and advances to customers

23,905,089

23,588,007

10.

Cash and cash balances

30.

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

40.

50.

Hedging derivatives

36,930

35,940

60.

Changes in fair value of portfolio hedge items (+/-)

48,145

27,417

70.

Equity Investments

44

44

80.

Insurance reserves attributable to reinsurers

13,159

9,596

90.

Property, plant and equipment

3,196,737

2,546,620

100.

Intangible assets

262,573

247,098

- goodwill

183,183

183,183

Tax assets

299,861

274,013

a) current

98,829

84,294

b) deferred

201,032

189,719

-

-

of which:

110.

120.

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale

130.

Other assets

1,350,171

1,278,860

Total assets

31,705,732

30,536,456
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LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (€/thousand)

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

10.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

26,933,628

26,207,022

a) Deposits from banks

10,278,046

9,807,112

b) Deposits from customers

1,798,752

1,822,725

c) Debt securities in issue

14,856,829

14,577,185

20.

Financial liabilities held for trading

3,407

3,729

40.

Hedging derivatives

91,533

53,920

60.

Tax liabilities

238,205

192,392

a) current

55,162

51,335

b) deferred

183,043

141,057

1,014,431

927,779

80.

Other liabilities

90.

Provision for employee severance pay

11,726

11,626

100.

Provisions for risks and charges

225,504

251,818

-

-

b) post-retirement benefit obligations

49,954

43,121

c) other provisions for risks and charges

175,550

208,697

110.

Insurance reserves

16,127

10,662

120.

Revaluation reserves

(26,989)

(35,608)

150.

Reserves

1,970,072

1,588,613

155

Interim dividends

(180,000)

-

160.

Share premium

192,746

192,746

170.

Share capital

700,000

700,000

190.

Minorities (+/-)

54,931

48,397

200.

Net Profit (Loss) for the year (+/-)

460,413

383,360

31,705,732

30,536,456

a) committments and guarantees given

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity
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Consolidated
income statement
Item (€/thousand)
10.

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

Interest income and similar revenues

930,283

903,452

of which: interest income calculated using effective interest method

921,626

891,299

20.

Interest expenses and similar charges

(236,835)

(242,050)

30.

Net interest margin

693,448

661,402

40.

Fee and commission income

147,780

164,176

50.

Fee and commission expenses

(45,893)

(54,986)

60.

Net fee and commission

101,887

109,191

80.

Net income financial assets and liabilities held for trading

(45)

551

90.

Fair Value adjustments in hedge accounting

(6,187)

(1,801)

100.

Profits (losses) on disposal or repurchase of:

1,462

1,162

a) Financial asstets valued at amortized cost

1,462

1,162

120.

Operating income

790,566

770,504

130.

Net impairment/reinstatement for credit risk:

(47,388)

(20,728)

a) Financial asstets valued at amortized cost

(47,388)

(20,728)

150.

Net profit from financial activities

743,178

749,776

160.

Net premium earned

1,243

561

170.

Net other operating income/charges from insurance activities

(867)

2,073

180.

Net profit from financial and insurance activities

743,554

752,411

190.

Administrative costs:

(278,443)

(268,189)

a) payroll costs

(175,030)

(169,033)

b) other administrative costs

(103,413)

(99,156)

805

(75,800)

-

-

805

(75,800)

200.

Net provisions for risks and charges
a) commitments and financial guarantees given
b) other net provisions

210.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment

(437,816)

(363,518)

220.

Impairment on intangible assets

(13,963)

(11,008)

230.

Other operating income/charges

624,267

513,698

240.

Operating costs

(105,149)

(204,819)

250.

Profit (loss) on equity investments

(400)

-

290.

Total profit or loss before tax from continuing operations

638,005

547,592

300.

Tax expense related to profit or loss from continuing operations

(170,930)

(159,228)

310.

Total profit or loss after tax continuing

467,075

388,364

330.

Net profit or loss

467,075

388,364

340.

Minority portion of net income

6,663

5,004

350.

Holding income (loss) of the year

460,413

383,360
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Consolidated statement
of comprehensive
income
Items (€/000)
10.

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

Profit (loss) for the year

467,075

388,364

Other comprehensive income after tax not reclassified to profit or loss

(6,930)

1,710

Defined-benefit plans

(6,930)

1,710

Other comprehensive income after tax reclassified to profit or loss

13,518

(7,369)

110

Exchange rate differences

16,035

(4,332)

120

Cash flow hedging

(2,517)

(3,037)

170

Total other comprehensive income after tax

6,588

(5,659)

180

Other comprehensive income (Item 10+170)

473,663

382,705

190

Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to non - controlling interests

6,533

4,990

200

Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to owners of the parents

467,130

377,715

70
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Consolidated statement of
changes in equity
as of 31/12/2019 and 31/12/2018
ALLOCATION
ON PROFIT
FROM
PREVIUS YEAR

CHANGES DURING THE YEAR

Equity as at 31/12/2019

Equity attributable to Parent
Company's shareholders as at
31/12/2019

Non-controlling interests
as at 31/12/2019

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

195,623

192,746

2,877

388,364

(2,022)

-

-

-

-

2,012,126

1,970,072

42,053

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(27,041)

(26,990)

(51)

-

-

-

(180,000)

(180,000)

-

-

-

-

-

Share premium
reserve

195,623

195,623

Consolidated comprehensive
income for 31/12/2019

-

-

Changes in equity
investments

-

-

Stock options

-

b) other shares

Derivatives on shares

3,389

Other changes

Special dividends paid

700,000

-

Changes in equity
instruments

Share buyback

703,389

703,389

Changes in reserves

-

703,389

Dividends and other allocations

-

Reserves

New share issues

Equity transactions

-

Balance as at 01/01/2019

Changes in opening balance

Closing balance as at 31/12/2018

€/thousands

Share capital:
a) common
shares

Reserves:
a) retained
earnings
b) other
Valutation
reserve

1,625,784

-

1,625,784

-

-

-

-

(35,651)

-

(35,651)

2,022

Equity
instruments

-

-

Interim
dividends

-

-

Treasury
shares

-

-

Profit (loss)
for the year

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

6,588

-

(180,000)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

467,075

467,075

460,413

6,663

388,364

-

388,364

(388,364)

2,877,509

-

2,877,509

-

-

-

-

(180,000)

-

-

-

-

473,663

3,171,172

-

-

Equity attributable to parent
2,829,111
Company's
shareholders

-

2,829,111

-

-

-

-

(180,000)

-

-

-

-

467,130

-

3,116,241

-

Interests

-

48,397

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

6,533

-

-

54,931

Equity

48,397
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€/thousands

New share issues

Share buyback

Special dividends paid

Equity attributable to Parent Company's
shareholders as at 31/12/2018

Non-controlling interests
as at 31/12/2018

-

703,389

700,000

3,389

-

-

-

-

-

-

Share premium
reserve

195,623

(17,393)

195,623

-

-

-

195,623

192,746

2,877

1,360,856

-

1,343,463

282,528

-

-

-

-

(29,992)

-

(29,992)

Equity as at 31/12/2018

-

Consolidated comprehensive
income for 31/12/2018

-

Changes in equity invesments

-

Stock options

-

Derivatives on shares

b) other shares

Other changes

-

Changes in equity
instruments
straordinaria dividendi

703,389

Changes in reserves

Reserves

Dividends and other allocations

-

Equity transactions

703,389

Esistenze al 31/12/2017

-

CHANGES DURING THE YEAR

Balance as at 01/01/2018

Changes in opening balance

ALLOCATION
ON PROFIT
FROM
PREVIUS YEAR

Share capital:
a) common
shares

Reserves:
a) retained
earnings
b) other
Valutation
reserve
Equity
instruments

-

Interim
dividends

(100,000)

Treasury
shares

-

Profit (loss)
for the year

(207)
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(100,000)

-

-

-

(5,659)

-

-

1,625,784 1,588,613

-

100,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(35,651)

(35,608)

(43)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

388,364

383,360

5,004

-

-

382,528

-

382,528

(382,528)

Equity

2,512,404

(17,393)

2,495,011

-

-

(207)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

382,705 2,877,509

Equity attributable to parent
Company's
shareholders

2,469,082

(17,494)

2,451,588

-

-

191)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

377,715

-

2,829,111

-

43,322

101

43,423

-

-

(16)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,990

-

-

48,397

Interests

388,364

37,171
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Consolidated statement
of cash flow (direct method)
€/thousand

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

A. OPERATING ACTIVITIES
1. Business operations

1,124,247

898,845

- interest income (+)

1,046,770

878,555

- interest expense (-)

(282,470)

(219,085)

- fee and commission income (expense) (+/-)

101,982

109,191

- personnel expenses (-)

(160,372)

(169,033)

1,243

561

(867)

2,073

- other expenses (-)

(50,731)

(71,900)

- other revenue (+)

606,688

518,679

- taxes and levies (-)

(137,997)

(150,195)

2. Cash flows from increase/decrease of financial assets

(502,530)

(3,375,375)

- financial assets held for trading

3,435

(3,412)

- financial assets at fair value with impact on other comprehensive income

(173)

(9,634)

- financial assets at amortized cost

(340,728)

(2,358,765)

- other assets

(165,064)

(1,003,563)

839,939

3,786,448

- fiancial liabilities at amortized cost

778,103

2,823,537

- financial liabilities held for trading

(3,756)

7,103

- other liabilities

65,592

955,808

1,461,655

1,309,918

418,825

305,284

418,825

305,284

(1,477,745)

(1,253,142)

(1,449,225)

(1,232,375)

(28,520)

(20,767)

(1,058,920)

(947,858)

- dividend and other distributions

(180,000)

-

Cash generated by / (used for) financing activities

(180,000)

-

222,735

362,060

- net earned premiums (+)
- Other insurance income/expenses (+/-)

3. Cash flows from increase/decrease of financial liabilities

Cash flows generated by/(used for) operating activities
B. INVESTING ACTIVITIES
1. Cash flows generated by
- sales of property, plant and equipment
2. Cash flows used for
- purchases of property,plant and equipment
- purchases of intangible assets
Cash generated by / (used for) investing activities
C. FINANCING ACTIVITIES

CASH GENERATED /(USED) DURING THE YEAR
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Reconciliation
€/thousand

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

Cash and cash equivalents - opening balance

362,536

476

Cash generated (used) during the year

222,735

362,060

Cash and cash equivalents - closing balance

585,272

362,536
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NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
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Part A - Accounting policies
A.1 - GENERAL INFORMATION
SECTION 1
Statement of compliance with
International Financial Reporting
Standards
The consolidated financial statements as of and
for the year ended December 31, 2019 have been
prepared in accordance with the International
Accounting Standards (IAS) and the International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
and the related interpretations by the International
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee
(IFRIC), as endorsed by the EU Commission
with Regulation no 1606 of July 19, 2002 and
transposed into the Italian legal system with
Legislative Decree no. 38 of February 28, 2005, up
to December 31, 2017.
Bank of Italy, whose powers in relation to the
accounts of banks and financial companies subject
to its supervision were laid down by Legislative
Decree no. 87/92 and confirmed by the abovementioned Legislative Decree, established the
formats of the accounts and the notes used to
prepare these financial statements through circular
no. 262 of December 22, 2005, as amended.
This amendment derive essentially from the
mandatory application, from January 1, 2019, of the
IFRS 16:
• l’IFRS 16 “Leasing”. The new accounting
standard issued by the IASB in January 2016
and endorsed by the European Commission
through Regulation no. 1986/2017, replaced IAS
17 “Leases”, IFRIC 4 “Determining whether an
arrangement contains a lease”, SIC 15 “Operating
leases – Incentives” and SIC 27 “Evaluating the
substance of transactions involving the legal form
of a lease”, with effect from January 1, 2019, and
established the requirements for accounting for
lease contracts.

SECTION 2
Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements consist of
the Statement of financial position, the Income
statement, the Statement of comprehensive
income, the Statement of changes in equity, the
Statement of cash flows and the Notes as well as

a board of directors’ report on Group operations.
The financial statements and the notes show the
amounts for the year just ended at December 31,
2019 well as the comparative figures at December
31, 2018.
The FCA Bank Group’s consolidated financial
statements were prepared in accordance with
IAS 1 and the guidelines of Banca d’Italia’s circular
no. 262 of December 22, 2005, 6th update of
November 30, 2018. In particular:
• Formats of the consolidated Statement of
financial position, Income statement and notes.
The statement of financial position and the
income statement do not contain items with
zero balances in the year just ended and in the
previous one.
• Consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.
The statement of comprehensive income reflects,
in addition to net profit for the year, other items
of income and expenses divided between those
that can be reversed and those that cannot be
reversed to income statement.
• Consolidated statement of changes in equity.
The consolidated statement of changes in equity
shows the composition and changes in equity for
the year under review and the comparable period.
The items are allocated between the amounts
attributable to the Parent Company’s shareholders
and non-controlling interests.
• Consolidated statement of cash flows.
The Consolidated Statement of cash flows is
prepared under the direct method.
• Unit of account.
Amounts in the financial statements and the notes
are in thousands of euros.
• Going concern, accrual basis of accounting
and consistency of presentation of financial
statements.
The Group is expected to remain viable in the
foreseeable future. Accordingly, the financial
statements for the year ended December 31,
2019 were prepared on the assumption that the
Company is a going concern, in accordance with
the accrual basis of accounting and consistent
with the financial statements for the previous year.
There were no departures from the application of
IAS/IFRSs.
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Risks and uncertainties related to the use of
estimates
In accordance with IFRSs, management is required
to make assessments, estimates and assumptions
which affect the application of IFRSs and the
amounts of reported assets, liabilities, costs and
revenues and the disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities. The estimates and the relevant
assumptions are based on past experience and
other factors considered reasonable under the
circumstances and are adopted to determine the
carrying amount of assets and liabilities.
In particular, estimates were made to support
the carrying amounts of certain significant items
of the consolidated financial statements as of
December 31, 2019, in accordance with IAS/
IFRSs and the above-mentioned guidelines.
Such estimates concerned largely the future
recoverability of the reported carrying amounts in
accordance with the applicable rules and based
on a going concern assumption.
Estimates and assumptions are revised regularly
and updated from time to time. In case
performance fails to meet expectations, carrying
amounts might differ from original estimates and
should, accordingly, be changed. In these cases,
changes are recognized through profit or loss in
the period in which they occur or in subsequent
years.
The main areas where management is required to
make subjective assessments include:
• recoverability of receivables and, in general,
financial assets and the determination of any
impairment;
• determination of the fair value of financial
instruments to be used for financial reporting
purposes; in particular, the use of valuation
models to determine the fair value of financial
instruments not traded in active markets;
• quantification of employee provisions and
provisions for risks and charges;
• recoverability of deferred tax assets and
goodwill.

SECTION 3
Scope and methods of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements as of

December 31, 2019 include the accounts of the
Parent Company, FCA Bank S.p.A., and its direct
and indirect Italian and foreign subsidiaries, as
required by IFRS 10.
They reflect also the entities, including
structured entities, in relation to which the
Parent Company has exposure or rights to
variable returns and the ability to affect those
returns through power over them.
To determine the existence of control, the Group
considers the following factors:
• the purpose and design of the investee, to
identify the entity’s objectives, the activities that
give rise to its returns and how such activities
are governed;
• the power over the investee and whether the
Group has contractual arrangements, which
attribute it the ability to govern the relevant
activities; to this end, attention is paid only
to substantive rights, which provide practical
governance capabilities;
• the exposure to the investee to determine
whether the Group has arrangements with the
investee whose returns vary depending on the
investee’s performance.
If the relevant activities are governed through
voting rights, control may be evidenced by
considering potential or actual voting rights, the
existence of any arrangements or shareholders’
agreements giving the right to control the
majority of the voting rights, to appoint the
majority of the members of the board of
directors or otherwise the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of the entity.
Subsidiaries may include any structured entities,
where voting rights are not paramount to
determine the existence of control, including
special purpose vehicles (SPVs). Structured
entities are considered subsidiaries where:
• the Group has the power, through contractual
arrangements, to govern the relevant activities;
• the Group is exposed to the variable returns
deriving from their activities.
The Group does not have any investments in
joint ventures.
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The table below shows the companies included in the scope of consolidation.

1. INVESTMENTS IN CONTROLLED SUBSIDIARIES
COUNTRY OF
INCORPORATION
(*)

TYPE OF
RELATIONSHIP
(**)

NAME

REGISTERED
OFFICE

FCA Bank S.p.A.

Turin - Italy

Leasys S.p.A.

Turin - Italy

Rome - Italy

1

Clickar S.r.l.

Turin - Italy

Rome - Italy

1

PARENT
COMPANY
(***)

SHARING
%

100.00
Leasys S.p.A.

100.00
100.00

FCA Capital France S.A.

Trappes - France

1

Leasys France S.A.S.

Trappes - France

1

Leasys S.p.A.

100.00

FCA Leasing France SNC

Trappes - France

1

FCA Capital France SA

99.99

Heilbronn - Germany

1

100.00

FCA Automotive Services UK Ltd

Slough - UK

1

100.00

FCA Dealer Services UK Ltd

Slough - UK

1

100.00

Leasys UK Ltd

Slough - UK

1

Leasys S.p.A.

100.00

1

Leasys S.p.A.

100.00

FCA Bank Deutschland GmbH

Leasys Rent S.p.A.

Bolzano - Italy

Fiumicino - Italy

FCA Capital Espaňa EFC S.A.

Alcala de Henares - Spain

1

100.00

FCA Dealer Services Espaňa S.A.

Alcala de Henares - Spain

1

100.00

FCA Capital Portugal IFIC S.A.

Lisbon - Portugal

1

100.00

FCA Dealer Services Portugal S.A.

Lisbon - Portugal

1

100.00

FCA Capital Suisse S.A.

Schlieren - Switzereland

1

100.00

Leasys Polska Sp.Zo.o.

Warsaw - Poland

1

FCA-Group Bank Polska S.A.

Warsaw - Poland

1

100.00

FCA Capital Nederlands B.V.

Lijnden - Netherlands

1

100.00

Leasys Nederland B.V.

Lijnden - Netherlands

1

Glostrup - Denmark

1

100.00

Vienna - Austria

2

50.00

Pullach - Munchen

1

50.0001

FCA Leasing GmbH

Vienna - Austria

1

100.00

FCA Capital Hellas S.A.

Athens - Greece

1

99.99

FCA Insurance Hellas S.A.

Athens - Greece

1

FCA Capital RE DAC

Dublin - Ireland

1

FCA Capital Sverige AB

Kista - Sweden

1

FCA Capital Danmark A/S

100.00

Barum - Norway

1

FCA Capital Danmark A/S

100.00

FCA Capital Danmark A/S
FCA Bank GmbH
Ferrari Financial Services GmbH

FCA Capital Norge AS
(*) If different from Registered Office
(**) Relation Type:
1 = majority of voting rights at ordinary meetings
2 = dominant influence at ordinary meeting
(***) If different from FCA Bank S.p.A.

Leasys S.p.A.

Leasys S.p.A.

FCA Capital Hellas SA

100.00

100.00

99.99
100.00
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The structured entities related to securitization transactions, whose details are provided below, are
fully consolidated:
NAME

COUNTRY

Nixes Six PLc

London - UK

Nixes Seven B.V.

Amsterdam - Netherlands

Fast 3 S.r.l.

Milan - Italy

Erasmus Finance DAC

Dublin - Ireland

A-BEST TEN S.r.l. IN LIQUIDAZIONE

Conegliano (TV) - Italy

A-BEST ELEVEN UG

Frankfurt am Main - Germany

A-BEST TWELVE S.r.l.

Conegliano (TV) - Italy

A-BEST THIRTEEN FT

Madrid - Spain

A-BEST FOURTEEN S.r.l.

Conegliano (TV) - Italy

A-BEST FIFTEEN S.r.l.

Conegliano (TV) - Italy

A-BEST SIXTEEN UG

Frankfurt am Main - Germany

A-BEST SEVENTEEN S.r.l.

Conegliano (TV) - Italy

3. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES WITH SIGNIFICANT NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS
3.1 Non-controlling interests, availability of non-controlling interests’
voting rights and dividends paid to non-controlling interests
DIVIDENDS DISTRIBUTED
AVAILABILITY OF
TO NON-CONTROLLING
NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS
INTERESTS' VOTING TIGHTS (%)

NAME

NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (%)

FCA Bank GmbH (Austria)

50%

50%

-

Ferrari Financial Services
GmbH (Germany)

49.99%

49.99%

-

Pursuant to IFRS 10, FCA Bank GmbH (Austria), a 50%-held subsidiary and Ferrari Financial Services
GmbH a 50.0001%-held subsidiary are included in the consolidation area.
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3.2 Investments in subsidiaries with significant non-controlling interests.
The table below provides financial and
operating highlights of FCA Bank GmbH and
of Ferrari Financial Services GmbH before
intercompany eliminations required by IFRS 12:

(amounts in thousands of euros)

FCA BANK GMBH (AUSTRIA)

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

Total assets

246,994

311,175

Financial assets

244,956

308,899

Financial liabilities

195,241

258,386

Equity

51,753

46,520

Net interest income

8,644

8,105

407

322

Banking income

9,052

8,427

Net result from investment activities

8,882

8,730

Net result from investment and insurance activities

8,882

8,730

Operating costs

(2,260)

(2,274)

Profit (loss) before taxes from continuing operations

6,622

6,455

Net profit (loss) for the period

5,242

4,738

Net fee and commission income

(amounts in thousands of euros)

FERRARI FINANCIAL SERVICES GMBH (GERMANY)

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

Total assets

681,310

611,351

Finacial assets

671,580

602,167

Financial liabilities

607,940

546,630

Equity

58,140

49,969

Net interest income

21,300

18,522

329

(147)

Banking income

21,332

18,408

Net result from investment activities

20,069

17,272

Net result from investment and insurance activities

20,069

17,272

Operating costs

(8,973)

(8,968)

Profit (loss) before taxes from continuing operations

11,096

8,304

Net profit (loss) for the period

8,086

5,330

Net fee and commission income
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CONSOLIDATION METHODS
In preparing the consolidated financial
statements, the financial statements of the
Parent Company and its subsidiaries, prepared
according to IAS/IFRSs, are consolidated on a
line-by-line basis by aggregating together like
items of assets, liabilities, equity, income and
expenses.
The carrying amount of the parent’s investment
in each subsidiary and the corresponding
portions of the equity of each such subsidiary
are eliminated.
Any difference arising during this process – after
the allocation to the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary – is recognized as goodwill on first
time consolidation and, subsequently, among
other reserves.
The share of net profit pertaining to noncontrolling interests is indicated separately,
so at to determine the amount of net profit
attributable to the Parent Company’s
shareholders.
Assets, liabilities, costs and revenues arising from

intercompany transactions are eliminated.
The financial statements of the Parent Company
and those of the subsidiaries used for the
consolidated financial statements are all as of
the same date.
For foreign subsidiaries, which prepare their
accounts in currencies other than the euro,
assets and liabilities are translated at the
exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet
date, while revenues and costs are translated at
the average exchange rate for the period.
Exchange differences arising from the conversion
of costs and revenues at the average exchange
rate and the conversion of assets and liabilities at
the reporting date are reported in profit or loss
in the period.
Exchange differences arising from the equity
of consolidated subsidiaries are recognized in
other comprehensive income and reversed to
profit and loss when loss of control over the
subsidiaries’ occurs.
The exchange rates used to translate the
financial statements at December 31, 2019 are as
follows:

31/12/2019

Medium
31/12/2019

31/12/2018

Medium
31/12/2018

Polish Zloty (PLN)

4.257

4.300

4.301

4.261

Danish Crown (DKK)

7.472

7.466

7.467

7.453

Swiss Franc (CHF)

1.085

1.112

1.127

1.155

GB Pound (GBP)

0.851

0.878

0.895

0.885
9.597

Norwegian Krone (NOK)

9.864

9.851

9.948

Moroccan Dirham (MAD)

10.740

10.764

10.951

11.083

Svedish Krona (SEK)

10.447

10.589

10.255

10.258

5. OTHER INFORMATION
To prepare the consolidated financial statements
use was made of the following:
• financial statements at December 31, 2019 of
the Parent Company FCA Bank S.p.A.;
• accounts as of December 31, 2019, approved
by the competent bodies and functions, of the
other fully consolidated companies, as adjusted
to take into account the consolidation process
and, where necessary, to comply with the
Group’s accounting policies.

SECTION 4
Subsequent events
No events occurred after the balance sheet
date which should result in adjustments of the

consolidated financial statements as of December
31, 2019.
However, it is noted that the Group monitors
closely the events in their evolution and the
economic impact of the COVID-19 (Corona virus)
emergency. At this moment, there is not enough
evidence for a thorough assessment of the effects.

SECTION 5
Other information
The consolidated financial statements and the
Parent Company’s financial statements were
audited by EY S.p.A. pursuant to Legislative
Decree no. 39 of January 27, 2010.
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INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ENDORSED BY THE
EUROPEAN UNION WITH EFFECT APPLICABLE AS OF JANUARY 1, 2019
As required by IAS 8, the table below shows the new international financial reporting standards, or the
amendments of standards already effective, which took effect as of January 1, 2019.
EC ENDORSEMENT
REGULATION

DATE OF
PUBBLICATION

DATE OF
APPLICATION

DESCRIPTION
OF STANDARD/AMENDMENT

1986/2017

November 9, 2017

January 1, 2019

IFRS 16 - Leases
The new standard constitutes an innovation in that it
established that leases be reported in entities' balance sheets,
thus enhancing the visibility of their assets and liabilities.
IFRS 16 repeals the distinction between operating leases and
finance leases (for the lessee), requiring that all lease contracts
be treated as finance leases. Short-term contracts (12 months)
and those involving low value items (e.g. personal computers)
are exempted from this treatment.
The new standard will take effect on January 1, 2019, Early
adoption is permitted provided that also IFRS 15, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers, is applied.

498/2018

March 26, 2018

January 1, 2019

Amendments to IFRS9

1595/2018

October 24, 2018

January 1, 2019

IFRIC 23 - Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatment

Under IFRS 9, a debt instrument can be measured at amortized
cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income,
provided that the contractual cash flows are ‘solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding’ (the
SPPI criterion) and the instrument is held within the appropriate
business model for that classification. The amendments to
IFRS 9 clarify that a financial asset passes the SPPI criterion
regardless of the event or circumstance that causes the early
termination of the contract and irrespective of which party pays
or receives reasonable compensation for the early termination
of the contract.
The amendments specified that the early termination can result
from a contractual term or from an event outside the control of
the parties, such as a change in law or regulation leading to the
early termination of the contract.
The amendments must be applied retrospectively; earlier
application is permitted.
The amendment provides specific transition provisions if it is
only applied in 2019 rather than in 2018 with the remainder of
IFRS 9.
The amendments are intended to apply when the prepayment
amount approximates to unpaid amounts of principal and
interest plus or minus an amount that reflects the change in a
benchmark interest rate.
This implies that prepayments at current fair value or at an
amount that includes the fair value of the cost to terminate an
associated hedging instrument, will normally satisfy the SPPI
criterion only if the other elements of the change in fair value,
such as the effects of credit risk or liquidity, are small.
Under IFRS 9, a debt instrument can be measured at amortized
cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income,
provided that the contractual cash flows are ‘solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding’ (the
SPPI criterion) and the instrument is held within the appropriate
business model for that classification. The amendments to
IFRS 9 clarify that a financial asset passes the SPPI criterion
regardless of the event or circumstance that causes the early
termination of the contract and irrespective of which party pays
or receives reasonable compensation for the early termination
of the contract.

The standard clarifies the accounting treatment for
uncertainties in accounting for income tax. The entity needs to
evaluate the probability that the relevant tax authority accepts
the accounting treatment of income tax.
If it is probable that the tax authority does not accept the
accounting treatment, IFRIC 23 proposes two methods to
reflect the uncertainty in the calculation of income tax:
- the most likely amount that the tax authority will accept
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EC ENDORSEMENT
REGULATION

DATE OF
PUBBLICATION

DATE OF
APPLICATION

DESCRIPTION
OF STANDARD/AMENDMENT

1595/2018

October 24, 2018

January 1, 2019

(e.g. in case of a binary choice – cost deduction accepted or
rejected totally);
- the sum of amounts weighted by the probability that the tax
authority will accept each one of them (e.g. when there are
different possible answers by the authority).

412/2019

March 15, 2019

January 1, 2019

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle
By Regulation (EU) 2019/412 of March 14, 2019 the Commission,
in the framework of its regular activity aimed at streamlining
and clarifying the standards, adopted the new provisions
introduced by the IASB in its Annual Improvements to
International Financial Reporting Standards 2015-2017 Cycle
(annual improvements) published by the IASB on December
12, 2017. These new provisions include amendments to IAS 12
– Income Taxes, IAS 23 - Borrowing Costs, IFRS 3 - Business
Combinations and IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements.
IFRS 3 Business Combinations - The amendments clarify
that, when an entity obtains control of a business that is a
joint operation, it applies the requirements for a business
combination achieved in stages, including remeasuring
previously held interests in the assets and liabilities of the joint
operation at fair value. In doing so, the acquirer remeasures its
entire previously held interest in the joint operation. An entity
applies those amendments to business combinations for which
the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first
annual reporting period beginning on or after January 1, 2019.
Earlier application is permitted.
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements - A party that participates in, but
does not have joint control of, a joint operation might obtain
joint control of the joint operation in which the activity of the
joint operation constitutes a business as defined in IFRS 3. The
amendments clarify that the previously held interests in that
joint operation are not remeasured. An entity applies those
amendments to transactions in which it obtains joint control
on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period
beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Earlier application is
permitted.
IAS 12 Income Taxes - The amendments clarify that the income
tax consequences of dividends are linked more directly to past
transactions or events that generated distributable profits than
to distributions to owners. Therefore, an entity recognizes the
income tax consequences of dividends in profit or loss, other
comprehensive income or equity according to where the entity
originally recognized those past transactions or events. An
entity applies those amendments for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2019.
Earlier application is permitted. When an entity first applies
those amendments, it applies them to the income tax
consequences of dividends recognized on or after the
beginning of the earliest comparative period.
IAS 23 Borrowing Costs - The amendments clarify that an
entity treats as part of general borrowings any borrowing
originally made to develop a qualifying asset when substantially
all of the activities necessary to prepare that asset for its
intended use or sale are complete. An entity applies those
amendments to borrowing costs incurred on or after the
beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity
first applies those amendments.
An entity applies those amendments for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019.
Earlier application is permitted.
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EC ENDORSEMENT
REGULATION

DATE OF
PUBBLICATION

DATE OF
APPLICATION

DESCRIPTION
OF STANDARD/AMENDMENT

402/2019

March 14, 2019

January 1, 2019

Amendment to IAS 19
By the same Regulation, amendments to IAS 19 – Plan
Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement have been adopted.
The objective of the amendments is to clarify that, after
the amendment, curtailment or settlement of the defined
benefit plan, entities shall use the updated assumptions from
remeasurement of their net defined liability (asset) for the
remainder of the reporting period.
The amendments to IAS 19 require that, upon occurrence of an
amendment/curtailment of a defined benefit plan, entities are
required to update the actuarial assumptions used to determine
the current service cost (i.e. the amount of the present value
of a defined benefit obligation resulting from employee service
in the current period) and the net interest on the net liability
(asset) for the remainder of the annual reporting period, that
is the period between the date of the amendment/curtailment
and the closing of the current annual period.
The previous version of IAS 19 required - in case of amendment/
curtailment of a defined benefit plan, before calculating past
service costs – the remeasurement of the net liability (asset) by
using the fair value of the assets held by the plan and current
actuarial assumptions while it did not require explicitly the
update of the actuarial assumptions underlying the current
service cost and the net interest following the amendment of
the plan. Given the diversity of practices adopted by entities,
the amendments in question specify that the entity is required
to update the actuarial assumptions following the amendment/
curtailment of the plan using the most recent information.

237/2019

February 11, 2019

January 1, 2019

Amendment to IAS 28
The amendments clarify that an entity applies IFRS 9 - Financial
Instruments to long-term interests in an associate or joint
venture to which the equity method is not applied.
In applying IFRS 9, an entity does not take account of any
losses of the associate or joint venture, or any impairment
losses on the net investment, recognized as adjustments to the
net investment in the associate or joint venture that arise from
applying IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures.
To illustrate how entities apply the requirements in IAS 28
and IFRS 9 with respect to long-term interests, the IASB also
published an illustrative example.
The amendments are applied retrospectively, with certain
exceptions. Early application of the amendments is permitted
and must be disclosed.
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ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND IFRS AND IFRIC
INTERPRETATIONS ENDORSED BY THE EUROPEAN UNION, NOT YET
MANDATORILY APPLICABLE AND NOT ADOPTED EARLY BY THE GROUP AT
DECEMBER 31, 2019
EC ENDORSEMENT
REGULATION

DATE OF
PUBBLICATION

DATE OF
APPLICATION

2075/2019

December 6, 2019

January 1, 2020

DESCRIPTION
OF STANDARD/AMENDMENT
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in
IFRS Standards
The IASB issued on on 29 March 2018 a revised version of its
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting that underpins
IFRSs. This instrument helps to ensure that the Standards
are conceptually consistent and that similar transactions
are treated the same way, providing useful information for
investors and others. The Conceptual Framework also assists
companies in developing accounting policies when no IFRS
Standard applies to a particular transaction; and it helps
stakeholders more broadly to understand the Standards better.
The revised Conceptual Framework includes: a new chapter on
measurement; guidance on reporting financial performance;
improved definitions and guidance - in particular the definition
of a liability; and clarifications in important areas, such as the
roles of stewardship, prudence and measurement uncertainty in
financial reporting.

2104/2019

December 10, 2019

January 1, 2020

Amendment to IAS 1 and IAS 8.
The IASB clarified in IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial
Statements” and IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors” the definition of “material”
and aligned such definition with that used in the Conceptual
Framework and in the IFRS.
Information is material if omitting or misstating it could
reasonably affect the decisions that the primary users of
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements.

Amendment to
IFRS 9, IAS 39
and IFRS 7

January 20, 2020

January 1, 2020

Amendment to IFRS 9, IAS 39 e IFRS 7: interest rate
benchmark reform.
The IASB has issued amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7
that modifies IFRS 9 and IAS 39 hedge accounting policies.
The amendment will take effect on January 1, 2020, but early
adoption is permitted. The European Commission identified
both EONIA and EURIBOR, which are managed by the
European Money Market Institute (EMMI), as critical benchmark
rates, pursuant to the BMR.
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ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS
NOT YET ENDORSED BY THE EUROPEAN UNION

STANDARD/
AMENDMENT

DATE OF
PUBBLICATION

DATE OF
APPLICATION

DESCRIPTION
OF STANDARD/AMENDMENT

Amendment to
IFRS 3

October 22, 2018

January 1, 2020

Amendment to IFRS 3.

IFRS 17 Insurance
contracts

May 18, 2017

The IASB, in the updated version of IFRS 3 - Business
combinations, changed the definition of company.
The new definition shows that the purpose of the company is to
provide products and services to customers, while the previous
definition focused on the purpose of producing outcome in the
form of dividends, lower costs or other benefits economic for
investors or others. Companies apply to business combinations
the new definition starting from the operations having date of
stipulation later than January 1, 2020.

January 1, 2021

IFRS 17 - Insurance contracts
On May 18, 2017, the IASB issued IFRS 17 - Insurance Contracts
which applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2021.
The new standard, which deals with accounting for insurance
contracts (previously known as IFRS 4), intends to improve
the understanding of investors, among others, of insurers’ risk
exposure, operating performance and financial position. The
IASB published a final version after a long consultation phase.
IFRS 17 is a complex standard which will include certain key
differences from the current accounting treatment regarding
the measurement of liabilities and the recognition of profits.
IFRS 17 applies to all insurance contracts. The accounting model
of reference, the General Model, is based on the present value
of expected cash flows, the identification of a risk adjustment
and a contractual service margin (“CSM”), which cannot be
negative and represents the present value of unearned profit,
to be released to profit or loss in each period with the passage
of time.
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TRANSITION TO IFRS 16
Regulations
IFRS 16 replaced IAS 17 and the relevant
interpretations and will take effect on or after
January 1, 2019. IFRS 16 lays down the principles
for the recognition, measurement, presentation
and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to
account for most leases by following a single
accounting model.

statement of financial position either as part
of property, plant and equipment or as its
own line item. IFRS 16 substantially reflects
the lessor accounting requirement in IAS 17.
Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its
leases as operating leases or finance leases,
using he same classification principle as IAS 17.

The objective of IFRS 16 is to ensure that lessors
and lessees report information that faithfully
represents lease transactions. The information
provides a basis for users of financial
statements to assess the effects of leases on
the entity’s financial condition, operating results
and cash flows.

Exemptions

IFRS 16 introduces significant changes to
manner in which lease transactions are
accounted for by both lessors and lessees,
in that it introduces a single accounting
model for leases with a term of more than 12
months, unless the underlying asset is of low
value. Specifically, the main change entails
the removal of the distinction, introduced by
IAS 17, between operating lease and finance
lease. From now on, all lease transaction must
be accounted for in the same way, with the
recognition of an asset and a liability.
A lessee recognizes a right-of-use asset
representing its right to use the underlying
asset and a liability representing its obligation
to make lease payments. A lessee measures
right-of-use assets similarly to other nonfinancial assets (such as property, plant and
equipment) and lease liabilities similarly to
other financial liabilities. As a consequence, a
lessee recognizes depreciation of the rightof-use asset and interest on the lease liability.
In a cash flow statement, a lessee separates
the total amount of cash paid into principal
(presented within financing activities) and
interest (presented within the operating or
financing activity) in accordance with IAS 7.

IFRS 16 does not require a company to
recognize assets and liabilities for short-term
leases or for leases whose underlying asset
is of low value. Short-term means a contract
expiring after no more than 12 months while an
underlying asset is of low value if its price, new,
does not exceed €5 thousand.

The lease asset is the right to use the
underlying asset and is presented in the

IFRS 16 applies to all types of leases, that is
contracts that convey to the lessee the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time (use period) in exchange for
consideration.

In addition, the IASB decided to extend the
exemption of short-term leases to include
contracts for which it is not reasonably certain
that their term exceeds 12 months, considering
the probability of exercise of the extension or
extinguishment options The FCA Bank Group
decided to apply both exemptions.
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Transition
method

The effects of first time adoption
of IFRS 16

FCA Bank Group chose to carry out the first
time adoption of IFRS 16 through the modified
retrospective approach. Under this approach
the cumulative effect of initially applying IFRS
16 is recognized at the date of initial application
and comparative figures for the year preceding
the first time adoption of IFRS 16 are not
restated. As such, the 2019 financial statements
are not comparable in terms of right of use and
the corresponding lease liability.

The adjustment to the opening statement of
financial position following adoption of IFRS 16
by using the modified retrospective approach
resulted in an increase in total assets, as a
result of the recognition of the new rights of
use at Group level, of less than 1% and a total
increase in liabilities (due to lessor) for the
same amount.

IFRS 16
project
In 2018 a working group was established
within the Consolidated Accounts function
of the FCA Bank Group, to identify all lease
contracts, evaluate the key information
contained in each of them and assess the
qualitative and quantitative impacts of the new
IFRS. The macro-phases of the project can be
summarized in the following activities:
• Preliminary analyses performed at the central
level (mainly related to accounting themes);
• Specific training on IFRS 16 provided to all of
the FCA Bank Group companies;
• Questionnaire prepared by each Group
company and document gathering;
• Review of results and identification of
pertinent contract types;
• Analysis of contractual clauses to identify the
cases of inclusion/exclusion from the scope of
IFRS 16;
• Quantification of the impact deriving from
the first time adoption of IFRS 16 at the
consolidated level.

First time adoption did not have any impact on
equity. On first time adoption IFRS 16 suggests
a practical expedient that allows the company
not to re-determine the scope of application
(IFRS 16.C3) but to apply the standard only
to leases identified in accordance with the
requirements of IAS 17 and IFRIC 4.
Regarding the comparative data, it is noted
that the Group’s choice to implement the first
time adoption of IFRS 16 according to the
modified retrospective approach exempts it
from restating comparative data.
The tables to the side show the effect of
adoption of IFRS 16.

The impacts
on Own Funds
The increase in RWA resulting from the
registration of the total rights of use, weighted
100%, has an impact on CET 1 of less than 1 bp.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Assets (€/thousand)
90.

Property, plant and equipment

51,699

Total assets

51,699

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity (€/thousand)
10.

200.

31/12/2019

31/12/2019

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

51,724

b) Deposits from customers

51,724

Net Profit (Loss) for the year (+/-)
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

(25)
51,699

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
Item (€/thousand)

2019

20.

Interest income and similar revenues

(612)

30.

Net interest margin

(612)

120.

Operating income

(612)

150.

Net profit from financial activities

(612)

180.

Net profit from financial and insurance activities

190.

Administrative costs:

(612)

30/06/2018
8,675

b) other administrative costs

8,675

210.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment

(8,312)

230.

Other operating income/charges

224

240.

Operating costs

587

290.

Total profit or loss before tax from continuing operations

(25)

310.

Total profit or loss after tax continuing

(25)

330.

Net profit or loss

(25)

350.

Holding income (loss) of the year

(25)
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A.2 - MAIN ITEMS IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
This section shows the accounting policies
adopted to prepare the consolidated financial
statements as of December 31, 2019. Such
description is provided with reference to the

recognition, classification, measurement and
derecognition of the different assets and
liabilities.

1.
FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(FVOCI)
This category includes the financial assets that
meet both the following conditions:
• the financial asset is held under a business
model whose objective is achieved both
through the collection of expected contractual
cash flows and through sale (Hold to Collect
and Sell business model), and
• the contractual terms of the financial asset
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding (“SPPI Test”
passed).
This caption also includes equity instruments,
not held for trading, for which the option
was exercised upon initial recognition of
their designation at fair value through other
comprehensive income.
In particular, this caption includes:
• debt securities that can be attributed to a
Hold to Collect and Sell business model and
that have passed the SPPI test;
• equity interests, that do not qualify as
investments in subsidiaries, associates or
joint ventures and are not held for trading,
for which the option has been exercised of
their designation at fair value through other
comprehensive income;
• loans that are attributable to a Hold to Collect
and Sell business model and have passed the
SPPI Test, including the portions of syndicated
loans subscribed that are originally intended to
be sold and are part of a Hold to Collect and
Sell business model.
According to the general rules established by
IFRS 9 on the reclassification of financial assets
(except for equity instruments, for which no

reclassification is permitted), reclassifications
to other categories of financial assets are not
permitted unless the entity changes its business
model for those financial assets. In such cases,
which are expected to be highly infrequent,
the financial assets may be reclassified from
those measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income to one of the other two
categories established by IFRS 9 (Financial
assets measured at amortized cost or Financial
assets measured at fair value through profit
or loss). The transfer value is the fair value at
the time of the reclassification and the effects
of the reclassification apply prospectively
from the reclassification date. In the event
of reclassification from this category to the
amortized cost category, the cumulative gain
(loss) recognized in the valuation reserve is
allocated as an adjustment to the fair value
of the financial asset at the reclassification
date. In the event of reclassification to the
fair value through profit or loss category, the
cumulative gain (loss) previously recognized
in the valuation reserve is reclassified from
shareholders’ equity to net income (loss).
Initial recognition of financial assets occurs at
settlement date for debt securities and equity
instruments and at disbursement date for loans.
On initial recognition, assets are recorded at fair
value, including transaction costs and revenues
directly attributable to the instrument.
After initial recognition, the Assets classified at
fair value through other comprehensive income,
other than equity instruments, are measured at
fair value, with the recognition in profit or loss
of the impact resulting from the application of
the amortized cost, the impairment effects and
any exchange rate effect, whereas the other
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gains and losses resulting from a change in fair
value are recognized in a specific shareholders’
equity reserve until the financial asset is
derecognized.
Upon the total or partial sale, the cumulative
gain or loss in the valuation reserve is
transferred, in whole or part, to the income
statement.
Equity instruments, for which the choice has
been made to classify them in this category,
are measured at fair value and the amounts
recognized in Other comprehensive income
cannot be subsequently transferred to profit
or loss, not even if they are sold. The only
component related to these equities that
is recognized through profit or loss is their
dividends. Fair value is determined on the basis
of the criteria already described for Financial
assets designated at fair value through profit or
loss.
For the equities included in this category,
which are not quoted on an active market,
the cost approach is used as the estimate
of fair value only on a residual basis and in a
small number of circumstances, i.e., when all
the measurement methods referred to above
cannot be applied, or when there are a wide
range of possible measurements of fair value,
in which cost represents the most significant
estimate.
Financial assets measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income – both in the form
of debt securities and loans – are subject to
the verification of the significant increase in
credit risk (impairment) required by IFRS 9, in
the same way as Assets measured at amortized
cost, with the consequent recognition through
profit or loss of a value adjustment to cover
the expected losses. More specifically, for
instruments classified as stage 1 (i.e., financial
assets at origination, when not impaired, and
instruments for which there has not been a
significant increase in credit risk since the initial
recognition date), a 12-month expected loss
is recognized on the initial recognition date
and at each subsequent reporting date. For

instruments classified as stage 2 (performing
for which there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since the initial recognition date)
and as stage 3 (credit impaired exposures),
a lifetime expected loss for the financial
instrument is recognized. Equity instruments
are not subject to the impairment process.
Financial assets are derecognized solely if the
sale leads to the substantial transfer of all the
risks and rewards connected to the assets.
Conversely, if a significant part of the risks and
rewards relative to the sold financial assets is
maintained, they continue to be recorded in
financial statements, even though their title
has been transferred. When it is not possible to
ascertain the substantial transfer of risks and
rewards, the financial assets are derecognized
where no control over the assets has been
maintained. If this is not the case, when control,
even partial, is maintained, the assets continue
to be recognized for the entity’s continuing
involvement, measured by the exposure to
changes in value of assets disposed and to
variations in the relevant cash flows. Lastly,
financial assets sold are derecognized if
the entity retains the contractual rights to
receive the cash flows of the asset, but signs a
simultaneous obligation to pay such cash flows,
and only such cash flows, without significant
delay to third parties.
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2.
FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED
AT AMORTIZED COST
This category includes the financial assets (in
particular loans and debt securities) that meet
both the following conditions:
• the financial asset is held under a business
model whose objective is achieved through the
collection of expected contractual cash flows
(Hold to Collect business model), and
• the contractual terms of the financial asset
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding (“SPPI Test”
passed).
More specifically, the following are recognized
in this caption:
• loans to banks in their various forms that meet
the requirements referred to in the paragraph
above;
• loans to customers in their various forms
that meet the requirements referred to in the
paragraph above;
• debt securities that meet the requirements
referred to in the paragraph above.
This category also includes the operating loans
and receivables connected to the provision
of financial activities and services as defined
by the Consolidated Law on Banking and the
Consolidated Law on Finance (e.g. for the
distribution of financial products and servicing
activities).
According to the general rules established by
IFRS 9 on the reclassification of financial assets,
reclassifications to other categories of financial
assets are not permitted unless the entity
changes its business model for those financial
assets. In such cases, which are expected to be
highly infrequent, the financial assets may be
reclassified from the amortized cost category
to one of the other two categories established
by IFRS 9 (Financial assets measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income
or Financial assets measured at fair value
through profit or loss). The transfer value is
the fair value at the time of the reclassification
and the effects of the reclassification apply
prospectively from the reclassification date.
Gains and losses resulting from the difference
between the amortized cost of a financial

asset and its fair value are recognized through
profit or loss in the event of reclassification to
Financial assets measured at fair value through
profit or loss and under Shareholders’ equity,
in the specific valuation reserve, in the event of
reclassification to Financial assets measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income.
Initial recognition of the financial asset occurs
at settlement date for debt securities and
at disbursement date for loans. On initial
recognition, assets are recorded at fair value,
including transaction costs and revenues
directly attributable to the instrument. In
particular, for loans, the disbursement date
is usually the same as the date of signing of
the contract. Should this not be the case, a
commitment to disburse funds is made along
the subscription of the contract, which will
cease to exist upon disbursement of the loan.
The loan is recognized based on its fair value,
equal to the amount disbursed or subscription
price, inclusive of the costs/revenues directly
attributable to the single loan and determinable
from inception, even when settled at a later
date. Costs that, even with the aforementioned
characteristics, are reimbursed by the
borrower or are classifiable as normal internal
administrative costs are excluded.
After the initial recognition, these financial
assets are measured at amortized cost, using
the effective interest method. The assets
are recognized in the balance sheet at an
amount equal to their initial carrying amount
less principal repayments, plus or minus the
cumulative amortization (calculated using
the effective interest rate method referred
to above) of the difference between this
initial amount and the amount at maturity
(typically attributable to costs/income
directly attributable to the individual asset)
and adjusted by any provision for losses. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments
of the asset, as principal and interest, to the
amount disbursed inclusive of the costs/
revenues attributable to that financial asset. This
measurement method uses a financial approach
and allows distribution of the economic effect
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of the costs/income directly attributable to
a financial asset over its expected lifetime.
The amortized cost method is not used for
assets, measured at historical cost, whose
short duration makes the effect of discounting
negligible, or for assets without a definite
maturity or revocable loans. The measurement
criteria are closely linked to the inclusion of
these instruments in one of the three stages
of credit risk established by IFRS 9, the last of
which (stage 3) consists of non-performing
financial assets and the remaining (stages 1 and
2) of performing financial assets.
With regard to the accounting representation
of the above measurement effects, the
value adjustments for this type of asset are
recognized in profit or loss:
• on initial recognition, for an amount equal to
the 12-month expected credit loss;
• on subsequent measurement of the asset,
when the credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, in relation
to changes in the amount of adjustments for
the 12-month expected credit losses;
• on subsequent measurement of the asset,
when the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, in relation to the
recognition of adjustments for expected credit
losses over the contractually agreed remaining
lifetime of the asset;
• on subsequent measurement of the asset,
where – after a significant increase in credit
risk has occurred since initial recognition – the
increase is no longer “significant” due to the
alignment of the cumulative value adjustments
to take account of the change from a lifetime

expected credit loss to a 12-month expected
credit loss for the instrument.
These financial assets, when they are
performing, are subject to an assessment,
aimed at establishing the value adjustments
to be recognized in the financial statements,
at the level of individual loan (or “tranches” of
securities), according to the risk parameters
consisting of Probability of Default (PD), Loss
Given Default (LGD) and Exposure at Default
(EAD), derived from the AIRB models, and duly
adjusted to take account of the provisions of
IFRS 9.
If, in addition to a significant increase in
credit risk, there is also objective evidence of
impairment, the amount of the loss is measured
as the difference between the carrying amount
of the asset – classified as “non-performing”,
like all the other relationships with the same
counterparty – and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows, discounted using
the original effective interest rate. The amount
of the loss, to be recognized through profit
or loss, is established based on individual
measurement or determined according to
uniform categories and, then, individually
allocated to each position, and, takes account
of forward-looking information and possible
alternative recovery scenarios. Non-performing
assets include financial assets classified as
bad, unlikely-to-pay or past due by over ninety
days according to the rules issued by the
Bank of Italy, in line with the IAS/IFRS and EU
Supervisory Regulations. The expected cash
flows take into account the expected recovery
times and the estimated realizable value of
any guarantees. The original effective rate of
each asset remains unchanged over time even
if the relationship has been restructured with
a variation of the contractual interest rate and
even if the relationship, in practice, no longer
bears contractual interest. If the reasons for
impairment are no longer applicable following
an event subsequent to the registration of
impairment, recoveries are recorded in the
income statement. The size of the recovery
must not lead the carrying value of the financial
asset to exceed the amortized cost had no
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impairment losses been recognized in previous
periods. Recoveries on impairment with time
value effects are recognized in net interest
income.
In some cases, during the lifetime of these
financial assets, and of loans in particular,
the original contractual conditions may be
subsequently modified by the parties to the
contract. When the contractual clauses are
subject to change during the lifetime of an
instrument, it is necessary to verify whether the
original asset should continue to be recognized
in the balance sheet or whether, instead, the
original instrument needs to be derecognized
and a new financial instrument needs to be
recognized.
In general, changes to a financial asset lead to
its derecognition and the recognition of a new
asset when they are “substantial”.

Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part
of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:
• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or
• the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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3.
HEDGING
DERIVATIVES
Hedging derivatives are intended to offset
potential losses/gains on a specific item or group
of items, attributable to a specific risk, through
the gains/losses generated on another instrument
or group of instruments in the event that the
specific risk in question materializes. The FCA
Bank Group hedges its exposure to the interest
rate risk associated with receivables arising
from instalment loans and bonds issued at fixed
interest rates with derivatives designated as fair
value hedges. Derivatives entered into to hedge
the variable interest rate risk associated with the
debt of the companies engaged in long-term
rental are designated as cash flow hedges.
Only derivatives entered into with a counterparty
not belonging to the Group may be treated as
hedging instruments.

Hedging derivatives are stated at fair value.
Specifically:
• in the case of cash flow hedges, derivatives are
recognized a their fair value. Any change in the
fair value of the effective part of the hedge is
recognized through OCI, in item 120. “Valuation
reserve” while any change in the fair value of
the ineffective part of the hedge is recognized
through profit or loss in item 90.
• in the case of fair value hedges, any change
in the fair value of the hedging instrument is
recognized through profit or loss in item 90.
“Net result of hedging activity”. Any change in
the fair value of the hedged item, attributable to
the risk hedged with the derivative instrument,
is recognized through profit and loss as an
offsetting entry of the change in the carrying
amount of the hedged item.
The fair value of derivative instruments is
calculated on the basis of interest and exchange
rates quoted in the market, taking into account
the counterparties’ creditworthiness, and reflects
the present value of the future cash flows
generated by the individual contracts.
Gains or losses on derivatives hedging interest
rate risk are allocated either to “Interest and
similar income” or “Interest and similar expenses”,
as the case may be.
A derivative contract is designated for hedging
activities if there is a formal document of the
relationship between the hedged instrument and
the hedging instrument and whether the hedge
is effective since inception and, prospectively,
throughout its life.
A hedge is effective (in a range between 80% and
125%) when the changes in the fair value (or cash
flows) of the hedging financial instrument almost
entirely offset the changes in hedged item with
regard to the risk being hedged.
Effectiveness is assessed at every year-end or
interim reporting date by using:
• prospective tests, to demonstrate an
expectation of effectiveness in order to qualify for
hedge accounting;
• retrospective tests, to ensure that the hedging
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relationship has been highly effective throughout
the reporting period, measuring the extent to
which the achieved hedge deviates from a perfect
hedge.
If the tests fail to demonstrate hedge
effectiveness, hedge accounting, as indicated
above, is discontinued and the derivative contract
is reclassified to held-for-trading financial assets
or financial liabilities and is therefore measured
in a manner consistent with its classification.
In case of macro hedging, IAS 39 permits the
establishment of a fair value hedge for the interest
rate risk exposure of a designated amount of
financial assets or liabilities so that a group of
derivative contracts can be used to offset the
changes in fair value of the hedged items as
interest rates vary.
Macro hedges cannot be applied to a net position
being the difference between financial assets and
liabilities.
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Macro hedging is considered highly effective if, like
fair value hedges, at inception and in subsequent
periods the changes in fair value of the hedged
amount are offset by the changes in fair value of
the hedging derivatives in the range of 80% to
125%.
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4.
INVESTMENTS

5.
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Investments in joint ventures (IFRS 11) as well
as in companies subject to significant influence
(IAS 28) are recognized with the equity
method.
The carrying amount of the investment is
adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s
share of net assets of the associate or joint
venture since the acquisition date. Goodwill
relating to the associate or joint venture
is included in the carrying amount of the
investment and is not tested for impairment
separately.
The statement of profit or loss reflects the
Group’s share of the results of operations of the
associate or joint venture. Any change in OCI
of those investees is presented as part of the
Group’s OCI. In addition, when there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the
associate or joint venture, the Group recognises
its share of any changes, when applicable, in
the statement of changes in equity. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and the associate or joint
venture are eliminated to the extent of the
interest in the associate or joint venture.
Under the equity method, the investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognized at cost.
If there is any evidence that the value of an
investment has been impaired, the recoverable
value of the investment is estimated, taking
account the present value of the future cash
flows that it will generate, including its disposal
value.
If the recovery value is lower than book value,
the difference is recorded in the income
statement.
In subsequent periods, if the reasons for the
impairment cease to exist, the original value
may be restored through the income statement.

This item includes furniture, fixtures, technical
and other equipment and assets related to the
leasing business.
These tangible assets are used to provide goods
and services, to be leased to third parties, or for
administrative purposes and are expected to be
utilized for more than one period.
This item consists of:
• assets for use in production
• assets held for investment purposes.
Assets held for use in production are utilized
to provide goods and services as well as for
administrative purposes and are expected to be
used for more than one period. Typically, this
category includes also assets held to be leased
under leasing arrangements.
This item includes also assets provided by the
Group in its capacity as lessor operating lease
agreements.
Assets leased out include vehicles provided
under operating lease agreements by the
Group’s long-term car rental companies. Trade
receivables to be collected in connection with
recovery procedures in relation to operating
leases are classified as “Other assets”. Operating
lease agreements with a buyback clause are also
included in “Other assets”.
Tangible assets comprise also leasehold
improvements, whenever such expenses are
value accretive in relation to identifiable and
separable assets. In this case, classification takes
place in the specific sub-items of reference in
relation to the asset.
Asset held for investment purposes refer
to investment property as per IAS 40, i.e.
properties held (owned or under a finance lease)
in order to receive rental income and/or an
appreciation of the invested capital.
Tangible assets are initially recognized at cost,
inclusive of purchase price and all the incidental
charges incurred directly to purchase and to
put the asset in service. Costs incurred after
purchase are only capitalized if they lead to an
increase in the future economic benefits deriving
from the asset to which they relate. All other
costs are recorded in the income statement as
incurred.
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Subsequently, tangible assets are recognized
at cost, less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis
considering the remaining useful life and value of
the asset.
At every reporting date, if there is any evidence
that an asset might be impaired, the book value
of the asset is compared with its realizable value –
equal to the greater of fair value, net of any selling
costs, and the value in use of the asset, defined
as the net present value of future cash flows
generated by the asset.
Any impairment losses and adjustments are
recorded in the income statement, item 210
“Impairment/reinstatement of tangible assets”.
If the reasons that gave rise to the impairment
no longer apply, then the loss is reversed for the
amount that would restore the asset to the value
that it would have had in the absence of any
impairment, less accumulated depreciation.
Initial direct costs incurred in the negotiation and
execution of an operating agreement are added
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to the leased assets in equal instalments, based on
the length of the agreement.
Tangible assets are derecognized upon disposal
or when they are retired from production and
no further economic benefits are expected from
them. Any difference between the selling price
or realizable value and the carrying amount is
recognized through profit or loss, item 280 “Gains
(losses) from the sale of investments”.
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6.
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets are non-monetary longterm assets, identifiable even though they are
intangible, controlled by the Group and which
are likely to generate future economic benefits.
Intangible assets include mainly goodwill,
software, trademarks and patents.
Goodwill arising in a business combination is
initially measured at cost (being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred
and the amount recognized for non-controlling
interests) and any previous interest held over
the fair value of net identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed.
In the case of software generated internally
the costs incurred to develop the project are
recognized as intangible assets provided that
the following conditions are met: technical
feasibility, intention to complete, future
usefulness, availability of sufficient technical
and financial resources and the ability to
measure reliably the costs of the project.
Intangible assets are recognized if they are
identifiable and originated from legal or
contractual rights.
Intangible assets purchased separately and/or
generated internally are initially recognized a
cost and, except for goodwill, are amortized on
a straight line basis over their remaining useful
life.
Subsequently, they are measured at cost
net of accumulated amortization and any
accumulated impairment losses. The useful
life of intangible assets is either definite or
indefinite.
Definite-life intangibles are amortized over
their remaining useful life and are tested for
impairment every time there is objective
evidence of a possible loss of value. The
amortization period of a definite-life intangible
asset is reviewed at least once every year, at
year end. Changes in the useful life in which
the future economic benefits related to the
asset will materialize result in changes in the
amortization period and are considered as
changes in estimates. The amortization of
definite-life intangible asset is recognized in
the income statement in the cost category

consistent with the function of the intangible
asset.
Indefinite-life intangible assets, including
goodwill, are not amortized but are tested
every year for impairment both individually and
at the level of cash generating units. Every year
(or whenever there is evidence of impairment)
goodwill is tested for impairment. To this end,
the cash generating unit to which goodwill is
to be attributed is identified. The amount of
any impairment is calculated as the difference
between the carrying amount of goodwill and
its recoverable value, if lower. Recoverable
value is equal to the greater of the fair value of
the cash generating unit, less any selling costs,
and the relevant value in use.
Any adjustments are recognized in the income
statement, item 270. “Goodwill impairment”.
No reversal of impairment is permitted for
goodwill.
Intangible assets are derecognized upon
disposal or when and no further economic
benefits are expected from them. Any
difference between the selling price or
realizable value and the carrying amount is
recognized through profit or loss, item 280
“Gains (losses) from the sale of investments”.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

• 131

7.
CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXATION
Tax assets and liabilities are recognized in the
consolidated statement of financial position in
line item 110. “Tax assets” on the asset side and
line item 60. “Tax liabilities” on the liability side.
In accordance with the balance sheet method,
current and deferred taxes are accounted for as
follows:
• current tax assets, that is payments in excess
of taxes due under applicable national tax laws;
• current tax liabilities, or taxes payable under
applicable national tax laws;
• deferred tax assets, that is income taxes
recoverable in future years and related to:
• deductible timing differences;
• unused tax loss carry-forwards; and
• unused tax credits carried forward;
• deferred tax liabilities, that is income tax
amounts payable in future years due to the
excess of income over taxable income due to
timing differences.
Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities
are calculated by applying national tax laws
in force and are accounted for as an expense
(income) in accordance with the same accrual
basis of accounting applicable to the costs and
revenues that generated them.
Generally, deferred tax assets and liabilities
arise in the cases where the deductibility of a
cost or the taxability of a revenue is deferred
with respect to their recognition.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized on the basis of the tax rates that,
at the balance sheet date, are expected to be
applicable in the year in which the asset will
be realized or the liability extinguished, on
the basis of the tax legislation in force, and
are periodically revised to take account of any
change in legislation.
Deferred tax assets are recognized, to the
extent that they can be recovered against
future income. In accordance with IAS 12, the
probability that there is sufficient taxable
income in future should be verified from time
to time. If the analysis reveals that there is no
sufficient future income, the deferred tax assets

are reduced accordingly.
Current and deferred taxes are recognized in
the income statement, item 300 “Income tax
on continuing operations”, with the exception
of those taxes related to items recognized, in
the current or in another year, directly through
equity, such as those related to gains or losses
on available-for-sale financial assets and
those related to changes in the fair value of
cash flow hedges, whose changes in value are
recognized, on an after-tax basis, directly in
the statement of comprehensive income in the
“Valuation reserve”.
Current tax assets are shown in the balance
sheet net of current tax liabilities whenever the
following conditions are met:
• existence of an enforceable right to offset the
amounts recognized;
• the parties intend to settle the assets and
liabilities in a single payment on a net basis
or to realize he asset and simultaneously
extinguish the liability.
Deferred tax assets are reported in the
Statement of financial position net of deferred
tax liabilities whenever the following conditions
are met:
• existence of a right to offset the underlying
current tax assets with current tax liabilities;
and
• both deferred tax assets and liabilities relate
to income taxes applied by the same tax
jurisdiction on the same taxable entity or on
different taxable entities that intend to settle
the current tax assets and liabilities on net basis
(typically in the presence of a tax consolidation
agreement).

• 132

Consolidated financial statements December 31, 2019

• 133

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

8.
PROVISIONS FOR RISKS
AND CHARGES
Post-employment benefits and
similar obligations
Post-employment benefits are established in
accordance with labor agreements and are
qualified as defined-benefit plans.
Obligations associated with employee
defined-benefit plans and the relevant pension
costs associated to current employment are
recognized based on actuarial estimates by
applying he projected unit credit method.
Actuarial gains/losses resulting from the
valuation of the liabilities of the definedbenefit plan are recognized through Other
Comprehensive Income (OCI) in the “Valuation
reserve”. Such re-measurements are not
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
periods.”
The discount rate used to calculate the present
value of the obligations associated with postemployment benefits changes depending on
the country/currency in which the liability is
denominated and is set on the basis of yields,
at the balance sheet date, of bonds issued by
prime corporates with an average maturity
consistent with that of the liability. Net interest
is calculated by applying the discount rate to
the net defined benefit liability or asset.”

Other provisions
Other provisions for risks and charges relate
to costs and charges of a specified nature
and existence certain or probable but whose
amount or date of payment is uncertain on the
balance sheet date. Provisions for risks and
charges are made solely whenever:
a) there is a current (legal or constructive)
obligation as a result of a past event;
b) fulfilment of this obligation is likely to be
onerous;
c) the amount of the liability can be reliably
estimated.
When the time value of money is significant,
the amount of a provision is calculated as
the present value of the expenses that will
supposedly be incurred to extinguish the
obligation.
This item includes also long-term benefits to
employees whose expenses are determined
with the same actuarial criteria as those of the
defined-benefit plans. Actuarial gains or losses
are all recognized as incurred through profit or
loss.
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9.
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT
AMORTISED COST

10.
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
HELD FOR TRADING

The items bank borrowings, Due to customers
and Securities outstanding include the financial
instruments (other than financial liabilities held
for trading and recognized at their fair value)
issued to raise funds from external sources. In
particular, securities outstanding reflect bonds
issued by Group companies and securities
issued by the SPEs in relation to receivable
securitization transactions.
These financial liabilities are recognized on
the date of settlement at fair value, which is
normally the amount collected or the issue
price, less any transaction costs directly
attributable to the financial liability.
Subsequently, these instruments are recognized
at their amortized cost, on the basis of the
effective interest method. The only exception is
short-term liabilities, as the time value of money
is negligible, which continue to be recognized
on the basis of the amount collected.

Financial liabilities held for trading include
mainly derivative contracts that are not
designated as hedging instruments.
These financial liabilities are recognized initially
at their fair value initially and subsequently
until they are extinguished, with the exception
of derivative contracts to be settled with the
delivery of an unlisted equity instrument whose
fair value cannot be determined reliably and
that, as such, are recognized at cost.

Financial liabilities are derecognized when
they reach maturity or are extinguished.
Derecognition takes place also in the presence
of a buyback of previously issued securities.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the liability and the price paid to buy it
back is recognized through profit or loss, item
100.c) “Gains (Losses) on buyback of financial
liabilities”.

11.
INSURANCE ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES
IFRS 4 defines insurance contracts as contracts
under which one party (the insurer) accepts
significant insurance risk from another party
(the policyholder) by agreeing to compensate
the policyholder (or a party designated by the
policyholder) if a specified uncertain future
event (the insured event) adversely affects the
policyholder.
The Group’s insurance activity concerns the
reinsurance of life and non-life insurance
policies sold by insurance companies to
customers of consumer credit companies to
protect the payment of the debt.
The items described below reflect, as
prescribed by paragraph 2 of IFRS 4, the
operating and financial effects deriving from
the reinsurance contracts issued and held.
In essence the accounting treatment of such
products calls for the recognition:
• in items 160. “Net premiums” and 170. “Income
(losses) from insurance activities” of the income
statement, (i) of the premiums, which include
the premiums written for the year following
the issue of contracts, net of cancellations;
(ii) changes in technical provisions, reflecting
the variation in future obligations toward
policyholders arising from insurance
contracts; (iii) commissions for the year due to
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intermediaries; (iv) cost of claims, redemptions
and expirations for the period;
• in item 110. “Technical provisions”, on
the liability side, of the obligations toward
policyholders, calculated individually for every
contract with the prospective method, on the
basis of demographic/financial assumptions
currently used by the industry;
• in item 80. “Technical provisions ceded to
reinsurers”, on the asset side, the obligations
attributable to reinsurers.
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12.
OTHER INFORMATION
Employee Severance Fund
The FCA Bank Group has established different
defined-benefit and defined-contribution
pension plans, in line with the conditions and
practices in the countries in which it carries out
its activities.
In Italy, the Employee Severance Fund is treated
as “post-employment benefits”, classified as:
• “defined-contribution plan” for the severance
amounts accrued to employees as of 1 January
2007 (effective date of Legislative Decree no.
252 on the reform of supplementary pension
funds), both in case the employee exercised
the option to allocate the sums attributable to
him/her to supplementary pension funds and in
case the employee opted for the allocation of
these sums to INPS’s Treasury fund. For these
sums, the amount accounted for as personnel
expenses is determine on the basis of the
contributions due without applying actuarial
calculation methods;
• “defined-benefit plan”, recognized on the
basis of its actuarial value as determined by
using the projected credit unit method, for the
severance amounts accrued until 31 December
2006. These amounts are recognized on the
basis of their actuarial value as determined
by using the projected credit unit method. To
discount these amounts to present value, the
discount rate was determined on the basis of
yields of bonds issued by prime corporates
taking into account the average remaining
duration of the liability, as weighted by the
percentage of any payment and advance
payment, for each payment date, in relation
to the total amount to be paid and paid in
advance until the full amount of the liability is
extinguished.
Costs related to the employee severance
fund are recognized in the income statement,
item no. 190.a) “Administrative expenses:
personnel expenses” and include, for the part
relating to the defined-benefit plan (i) service
costs related to companies with less than 50
employees; (ii) interest cost accrued for the
year, for the defined-contribution part; (iii)

the severance amounts accrued in the year
and credited to either the pension funds or to
INPS’s Treasury fund.
On the Statement of financial position, item 90
“Employee severance fund” reflects the balance
of the fund exiting at 31 December 2006, minus
any payment made until December 31, 2019.
Item 80 “Other liabilities” – “Due to social
security institutions” shows the debt accrued
at December 31, 2019 relating to the severance
amounts payable to pension funds and INPS’s
Treasury fund.
Actuarial gains and losses, reflecting the
difference between the carrying amount of the
liability and the present value of the obligation
at year-end, are recognized in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income without
reclassification to profit or loss (that is through
equity in the Valuation reserve), in accordance
with IAS 19 Revised.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers
is recognized, when it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Company and the
amount can be reliably quantified. In particular,
for all financial instruments measured at
amortized cost, such as loans and receivables
to customers and banks, and interest-bearing
financial assets classified as AFS, interest
income is recorded using the effective interest
rate (EIR) and classified under “Interest and
similar income”.
Commissions receivable upon execution of
a significant act or upon the rendering of
a service are recognized as revenue when
the significant act has been completed or
when the services are provided. On the other
hand, commissions related to origination fees
received by the entity relating to the creation or
acquisition of a financial asset are deferred and
recognized as an adjustment to the effective
rate of interest.
Revenues from services are recognized when
the services are rendered.
Dividends are recognized in the year in which
their distribution is approved.
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Cost recognition

Foreign currency transactions

Costs are recognized as they are incurred.
Costs attributable directly to financial
instruments measured at amortized cost and
determinable since inception, regardless of
when the relevant outlays take place, flow to
the income statement via application of the
effective interest rate.
Impairment losses are recognized as incurred.

Foreign currency transactions are entered,
upon initial recognition, in the reference
currency by applying to the foreign currency
amount the exchange rate prevailing on the
transaction date. At every interim and year-end
reporting date, items originated in a foreign
currency are reported as follows:
• cash and monetary items are converted at the
exchange rate prevailing at the reporting date;
• non-monetary items, recognized at historical
cost, are converted at the exchange rate
prevailing on the date of the transaction;
• non-monetary items, recognized at fair value,
are converted at the exchange rate prevailing at
the reporting date.

Finance leases
Lease transactions are accounted for in
accordance with IAS 17.
In particular, recognition of a lease agreement
as a lease transaction is based on the substance
that the agreement on the use of one or more
specific assets and whether the agreement
transfers the right to use such asset.
A lease is a finance lease if it transfers all the
risks and benefits incidental to ownership of
the leased asset; if it does not, then a lease is
an operating lease.
For finance lease agreements where the FCA
Bank Group acts as lessor, the assets provided
under finance lease arrangements are reported
as a receivable in the statement of financial
position for a carrying amount equal to the net
investment in the leased asset. All the interest
payments are recognized as interest income
(finance component in lease payments) in the
income statement while the part of the lease
payment relating to the return of principal
reduce the value of the receivable.

Exchange rate differences arising from
the settlement of monetary items and the
conversion of monetary items at exchange
rates other than the initial ones, or those used
to translate the previous year’s accounts,
are recognized in the income statement as
incurred. When a gain or a loss related to a
non-monetary item is recognized through OCI,
the exchange rate difference related to such
item is also recognized through OCI.
By converse, when a gain or a loss is
recognized through profit or loss, the exchange
rate difference related to such item is also
recognized through profit or loss.
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Use of estimates
Financial reporting requires use of estimates
and assumptions which might determine
significant effects on the amounts reported in
the Statement of financial position and in the
Income statement, as well as the disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities. The
preparation of these estimates implies the use
of the information available and subjective
assessments, based on historical experience,
used to make reasonable assumptions to record
the transactions. By their nature the estimates
and assumptions used may vary from one year
to the next and, as such, so may the carrying
amounts in the following years, significantly
as well, as a result of changes in the subjective
assessments made.
The main cases where subjective assessments
are required include:
• quantification of losses on loans and
receivables, investments and, in general, on
financial assets;
• evaluation of the recoverability of goodwill
and other intangible assets;
• quantification of employee provisions and
provisions for risks and charges;
• estimates and assumptions on the
recoverability of deferred tax assets.
The estimates and assumptions used are
periodically and regularly updated by the
Group. Variations in actual circumstances could
require that those estimates and assumptions
are subsequently adjusted. The impacts of
any changes in estimates and assumptions
are recognized directly in profit or loss in the
period in which the estimates are revised, if
the revision impacts only that period, or also in
future periods, if the revision impacts both the
current and future periods.
Following are the key considerations and
assumptions made by management in applying
IFRS and that could have a significant impact
on the amounts recognized in the consolidated
financial statements or where there is
significant risk of a material adjustment to the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities during
a subsequent financial period.

Recoverability of deferred tax
assets
The Group had deferred tax assets on
deductible temporary differences and
theoretical tax benefits arising from tax loss
carryforwards. The Group has recorded this
amount because it believes that it is likely to be
recovered.
In determining this amount, management
has taken into consideration figures from
budgets and forecasts consistent with those
used for impairment testing and discussed in
the preceding paragraph on the recoverable
amount of non-current assets.
Moreover, the contra accounts that have
been recognized (i.e. deferred tax assets not
recognized to the extent that it is not probable
that taxable profit will be available against
which the unused tax losses or unused tax
credits can be utilized) are considered to be
sufficient to protect against the risk of a further
deterioration of the assumptions in these
forecasts, taking account of the fact that the
net deferred assets so recognized relate to
temporary differences and tax losses which, to
a significant extent, may be recovered over a
very long period, and are therefore consistent
with a situation in which the time needed
to exit from the crisis and for an economic
recovery to occur extends beyond the horizon
implicit in the abovementioned estimates.
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Pension plans and other postemployment benefits
Employee benefit liabilities with the related
assets, costs and net interest expense are
measured on an actuarial basis, which requires
the use of estimates and assumptions to
determine the net liabilities or net assets.
The actuarial method takes into consideration
parameters of a financial nature such as the
discount rate and the expected long term
rate of return on plan assets, the growth
rate of salaries as well as the likelihood of
potential future events by using demographic
assumptions such as mortality rates, dismissal
or retirement rates.
In particular, the discount rates selected
are based on yields curves of high quality
corporate bonds in the relevant market. The
expected returns on plan assets are determined
considering various inputs from a range of
advisors concerning long-term capital market
returns, inflation, current bond yields and
other variables, adjusted for any specific
aspects of the asset investment strategy. Salary
growth rates reflect the Group’s long-term
actual expectation in the reference market
and inflation trends. Changes in any of these
assumptions may have an effect on future
contributions to the plans
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Liabilities and contingent liabilities
The Group makes provisions for pending
disputes and legal proceedings when it is
considered probable that there will be an
outflow of funds and when the amount of the
losses arising therefrom can be reasonably
estimated. If an outflow of funds becomes
possible but the amount cannot be estimated,
the matter is disclosed in the notes. The Group
is the subject of legal and tax proceedings
covering a range of matters which are pending
in various jurisdictions. Due to the uncertainty
inherent in such matters, it is difficult to predict
the outflow of funds which will result from
such disputes. Moreover, the cases and claims
against the Group often derive from complex
and difficult legal issues which are subject to
a different degree of uncertainty, including
the facts and circumstances of each particular
case, the jurisdiction and the different laws
involved. In the normal course of business the
Group monitors the stage of pending legal
procedures and consults with legal counsel
and experts on legal and tax matters. It is
therefore possible that the provisions for the
Group’s legal proceedings and litigation may
vary as the result of future developments of the
proceedings under way.
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A.3 - INFORMATION ON TRANSFERS BETWEEN
PORTFOLIOS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
In 2019 no inter-portfolio transfers were made.

A.4 - INFORMATION ON FAIR VALUE
QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES
According to IFRS 13, fair value is the price
that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at
the measurement date (exit price). IFRS 7
introduces instead the definition of “fair value
hierarchy”. This standard calls for fair value to
be determined in accordance with a three-level
hierarchy based on the significance of the
inputs used in such measurement. The objective
is to set the price at which the asset can be
sold.

The three levels are as follows:
• Level 1 (L1): quoted prices (without
adjustments) in an active market – as defined
by IFRS 9 – for the assets and liabilities to be
measured;
• Level 2 (L2): inputs other than quoted
market prices included within Level 1 that are
observable either directly (prices) or indirectly
(derived from prices) in the market;
• Level 3 (L3): inputs that are not based on
observable market data.
The methods adopted by the Company to
determine fair value are illustrated below:
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• Austrian government bonds purchased by
the Austrian subsidiary, quoted in regulated
markets (caption: “Financial assets designated
at fair value with effects on comprehensive
income”);
• bonds issued by FCA Bank S.p.A and the
subsidiaries in Ireland and Switzerland under
the Euro Medium Term Notes programme and
listed in regulated markets (Caption: “Financial
liabilities valued at amortized cost – c) debt
certificates including bonds”);
• bonds issued in connection with securitization
transactions, placed with the public or with
private investors, by different Group entities
(Caption: Financial liabilities valued at
amortized cost – c) debt certificates including
bonds”).
For listed bonds issued in connection with
securitization transactions, reference to prices
quoted by Bloomberg.
Financial assets and liabilities classified as
(L2), whose fair value is determined by using
inputs other than quoted market prices that are
observable either directly (prices) or indirectly
(derived from prices) in the market, refer to:
• OTC trading derivatives to hedge
securitization transactions;
• OTC derivatives entered into to hedge Group
companies’ receivables.
Receivable portfolio (caption:”Financial
assets valued at amortized cost – Loans and
receivables with customers”), borrowings and
other issued bonds, not quoted, are classified in
L3.
Derivatives are measured by discounting their
cash flows at the rates plotted on the yield
curves provided by Bloomberg. Receivables
and payables are measured in the same way.
In accordance with IFRS 13, to determine
fair value, the FCA Bank Group considers
default risk, which includes changes in
the creditworthiness of the entity and its
counterparties.

In particular:
• a CVA (Credit Value Adjustment) is a negative
amount that takes into account scenarios
in which the counterparty fails before the
company and the company has a positive
exposure to the counterparty. Under these
scenarios, the company incurs a loss equal to
the replacement value of the derivative;
• a DVA (Debt Value Adjustment) is a positive
amount that takes into account scenarios
in which the company fails before the
counterparty and the company has a negative
exposure to the counterparty. Under these
scenarios, the company obtains a gain for an
amount equal to the replacement cost of the
derivative.
For listed bonds issued in connection with
private securitization transactions, reference is
provided by prime banks active in the market
taking as reference equivalent transactions,
or made to the nominal value of the bonds
or the fair value attributed by the banking
counterparty that subscribed to them.
The Group uses measurement methods (mark
to model) in line with those generally accepted
and used by the market. Valuation models are
based on the discount of future cash flows and
the estimation of volatility; they are reviewed
both when they are developed and from time
to time, to ensure that they are fully consistent
with the objectives of the valuation.
These methods use inputs based on prices
prevailing in recent transactions on the
instrument being measured and/or prices/
quotations of instruments with similar
characteristics in terms of risk profile.
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QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURES

A.4.5 FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
A.4.5.1 Assets and liabilities valued at fair value on a recurring basis:
breakdown by fair value levels

31/12/2018

31/12/2019

Assets and liabilities valued at fair value
L1

L2

L3

L1

L2

L3

1. Financial assets valued at fair value with impact on income statement
of which

-

-

-

-

-

-

a) Financial assets held for trading

-

-

-

-

0

-

b) Financial assets designated at fair value

-

-

-

-

-

-

c) Other financial assets compulsorily assessed at fair value

-

-

-

-

-

-

9,807

-

-

9,634

-

-

3. Cover derivatives

-

36,930

-

-

35,940

-

4. Tangible assets

-

-

-

-

-

-

5. Intangible assets

-

-

-

-

-

-

9,807

36,930

-

9,634

35,940

-

1. Financial liabilities held for trading

-

3,407

-

-

3,729

-

2. Financial liabilities designated at fair value

-

-

-

-

3. Cover derivatives

-

91,533

-

53,920

-

-

94,940

-

57,649

-

2. Financial assets valued at fair value with impact on overall profitability

Total

Total

Legend: L1 = Level 1

-

L2 = Level 2

L3 = Level 3
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A.4.5.4 Assets and liabilities not measured at fair value or measured at
fair value on a non-recurring basis: distributions for levels of fair value
Assets / Liabilities not
measured at fair value or measured at fair value on
a non-recurring basis

31/12/2018

31/12/2019
BV

L1

L2

L3

BV

L1

L2

L3

25,903,033

-

1,997,960

23,953,234

25,744,698

-

2,156,711

23,615,424

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

25,903,033

-

1,997,960

23,953,234

25,744,698

-

26,933,628

9,439,872

-

18,318,466

26,207,022 7,831,589

-

-

-

-

9,439,872

-

18,318,466

1. Financial assets valued
at amortized cost
2. Available for sale financial
assets
3. Non current assets classified
as held for sale
Total

2,156,711 23,615,424

1. Financial liabilities measured
at amortized cost

-

18,585,456

-

-

-

18,585,456

2. Liabilites included in disposal
group classified as hfs
Total

26,933,628

BV = Book Value

L1 = Leve 1

L2 = Leveo 2

-

-

26,207,022 7,831,589

L3 =Leve 3

A.5 INFORMATION REGARDING
“DAY ONE PROFIT/LOSS”
IFRS 7, Paragraph 28 regulates the particular
case in which, in the event that the purchase of
a financial instrument calculated at fair value
but not listed in market the transaction cost,
that generally represent the best estimate at
fair value in an initial basis, diverges to the fair
value determined with the evaluative technics
adopted by the entity.
In this case an evaluative profit/loss is realized

and an adequate informative note for class of
financial instrument must be provided at the
purchase place.
At December 31, 2019, in the Consolidated
Financial Statement this case is not present.
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Part B - Information
on the consolidated
balance sheet
ASSETS

SECTION 1
CASH AND CASH BALANCES - ITEM 10
This item includes cheques, cash and cash
equivalent items.

1.1 Cash and cash balances: breakdown
Total
31/12/2019
a) Cash
b) Demand deposits with Central Banks
Total

Total
31/12/2018

26

34

585,246

362,502

585,272

362,536
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SECTION 3
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - ITEM 30
3.1 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income:
breakdown by product
Total
31/12/2019

Item/Values

Total
31/12/2018

L1

L2

L3

L1

L2

9,807

-

-

9,634

-

1.1 Structured securities

-

-

-

-

-

1.2 Other debt securities

9,807

-

-

9,634

-

2. Equity instruments

-

-

-

-

-

3. Loans

-

-

-

-

-

9,807

-

-

9,634

-

1. Debts securities

Total

Legend: L1 = Level 1

The item mainly includes a bond issued by the
Austrian government and held by FCA Bank
GmbH (Austria) and FCA Bank Polska S.A.;
these are mandatory deposits required by the
local Central Bank.

L2 = Level 2

L3 = Level 3

L3
-
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3.2 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income:
breakdown by borrowers/issuers

Items/Values

Total
31/12/2019

Total
31/12/2018

1. Debt securities

9,807

9,634

a) Central Banks

-

-

9,807

9,634

c) Banks

-

-

d) Other financial companies

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

a) Banks

-

-

b) Other issuers:

-

-

-

-

-

-

- non financial companies

-

-

- others

-

-

-

-

a) Central Banks

-

-

b) Public sector entities

-

-

c) Banks

-

-

d) Other financial companies

-

-

-

-

e) Non financial companies

-

-

f) Households

-

-

9,807

9,634

b) Public sector entities

of which: insurance companies
e) Non financial companies
2. Equity instruments

- other financial companies
of which: insurance companies

3. Loans

of which: insurance companies

Total
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3.3 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income:
gross value and total accumulated impairments

Total accumulated
impairments

Gross value
First
stage

of which:
instruments
with low
credit risk

Second
stage

Third
stage

First
stage

Second
stage

Third
stage

Partial
accumulated
write-offs*

9,807

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total 31/12/2019

9,807

-

-

-

-

-

-

x

Total 31/12/2018

9,634

-

-

-

-

-

-

x

x

x

-

-

x

-

-

-

Debt securities
Loans

of which:
purchased or originated
creditimpaired

Note:
(*) Value shown for information purposes.
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SECTION 4
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST - ITEM 40

4.1 Financial assets at amortised cost: breakdown by product of loans and
advances to banks

Total 31/12/2018

Total 31/12/2019
Book value

Type of transaction/Values

Book value

Fair value

First
Third of which:
and second stage acquired or
originated
stage
credit

L1

L2

L3

First
Third
and second stage
stage

Fair value

of which:
acquired or
originated
credit

L1

L2

L3

566,008

-

-

-

566,008

-

615,449

-

-

-

615,449

-

1. Time deposits

27,867

-

-

x

x

x

41,233

-

-

x

x

x

2. Compulsory reserves

27,884

-

-

x

x

x

14,433

-

-

x

x

x

3. Repos

-

-

-

x

x

x

-

-

-

x

x

x

4. Others

510,257

-

-

x

x

x

559,783

-

-

x

x

x

B. Receivables to banks

1,431,935

-

-

- 1,431,952

-

1,541,242

-

-

-

1,541,262

-

1. Loans

1,431,935

-

-

- 1,431,952

-

1,541,242

-

-

-

1,541,262

-

1,403,493

-

-

x

x

x

1,498,680

-

-

x

x

x

-

-

-

x

x

x

12,142

-

-

x

x

x

28,442

-

-

x

x

x

30,420

-

-

x

x

x

26,764

-

-

x

x

x

25,367

-

-

x

x

x

1,490

-

-

x

x

x

-

-

-

x

x

x

188

-

-

x

x

x

5,054

-

-

x

x

x

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2.1 Structured securities

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2.2 Other debt securities

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,997,944

-

-

- 1,997,960

-

2,156,691

-

-

-

2,156,711

-

A. Receivables to Central Banks

1.1 Current accounts and demand deposits

1.2. Time deposits
1.3 Other loans:
- Repos
- Finance leases
- Others
2. Debts securities

Total
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Bank deposits and current accounts include
funds available on current accounts or
deposited by SPVs totaling €842 million (€883
million at December 31, 2018). Liquidity is
restricted as per each relevant securitization
contract. A breakdown by SPV is provided
below:

SPV

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

45,579

-

-

29,835

A-Best Eleven UG

10,636

21,137

A-Best Twelve S.r.l.

58,112

70,679

A-Best Thirteen FT

28,504

34,496

A-Best Fourteen S.r.l.

164,241

160,041

A-Best Fifteen S.r.l.

94,461

93,027

A-Best Sixteen UG

48,633

55,038

Nixes Six Plc

61,412

56,195

Nixes Seven B.V.

42,494

39,322

Erasmus Finance DAC

263,301

273,800

Fast 3 S.r.l.

24,863

49,170

TOTAL

842,236

882,740

A-Best Seventeen S.r.l.
A-Best Ten S.r.l. in liquidazione

During the year a new securitization started:
A-Best Seventeen S.r.l..
The Liquidity Reserve is designed to meet any
cash shortfalls for the payment of interest on
senior securities and certain specific expenses.
The funds held in current accounts or as bank
deposits are used for:
• acquisition of new portfolio of receivables/
loans;
• repayment of notes;
• payment of interest on “senior” notes;
• SPE operating costs.

Bank deposits and current accounts also
include short-term deposits held temporarily
with banks and year-end current account
balances resulting from ordinary operating
activities.
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4.2 Attività finanziarie valutate al costo ammortizzato: composizione
merceologica dei crediti verso clientela
Total 31/12/2018

Total 31/12/2019
Type of
transaction/Values

1. Loans

Book value
First
and second
stage

Third
stage

23,752,511 152,578

Book value

Fair value

of which:
acquired
or originated
credit impaired
financial assets

L1 L2

Fair value

of which:
Third
acquired
stage
or originated
credit impaired
financial assets

L3

First
and second
stage

23,446,429

141,578

-

-

- 23,615,424

-

-

- 23,953,234

L1 L2

L3

207,986

349

-

x

x

x

57,456

528

-

x

x

x

1.2. Repos

-

-

-

x

x

x

-

-

-

x

x

x

1.3. Mortgages

-

-

-

x

x

x

-

-

-

x

x

x

112,270

536

-

x

x

x

86,751

418

-

x

x

x

1.5 Finance leases

6,095,998

32,500

-

x

x

x

5,640,285

23,156

-

x

x

x

1.6. Factoring

6,267,886

82,979

-

x

x

x

7,158,739

83,095

-

x

x

x

1.7. Other loans

11,068,371

36,214

-

x

x

x

10,503,198

34,381

-

x

x

x

2. Debt securities

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2.1. Structured securities

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2.2. Other debt securities

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

23,752,511

152,578

-

-

- 23,953,234

23,446,429

141,578

-

-

- 23,615,424

1.1.Current accounts

1.4. Credit cards, personal
loans and wage assignemnt

Total

With reference to the table Reconciliation
between outstanding and loans and receivables
with customers, in the Outstanding are
included the following items:
- “Deposits from customers” for €208 million;
- “Other loans” for €83 million.

Other loans

This item includes:
• receivables arising from sales to the dealer
network for €12 million factored on a nonrecourse basis by the FCA Group; however,
since this amount was in excess of the lines of
credit available, the associated risk was not
transferred to the factors;
• receivables arising from sales to the dealer
network for €6.1 billion, factored on a nonrecourse basis by the commercial partners to
companies of FCA Bank Group; of which, assets
of SPE Fast 3 S.r.l for €1.5 billion and Erasmus
Finance DAC for €1.3 billion, consolidated
in accordance with IFRS 10; FCA Bank

This item includes credit financing mainly
concerned with fixed instalment car loans and
personal loans.
The receivables comprise the amount of
transaction costs/fees calculated in relation to
the individual loans by including the following:
• grants received in relation to promotional
campaigns;
• fees received from customers;
• incentives and bonuses paid to the dealer
network;
• commissions on the sale of ancillary products.
Receivables include €7.3 billion relating to SPEs
for the securitization of receivables, as reported
in accordance with IFRS 10.

Factoring

Deutschland GmbH (Germany), FCA Capital
France S.A. (France) and FCA Capital Espana
EFC S.A. (Spain) are the originators of Fast 3
S.r.l..
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This item includes loans granted to the
FCA Group dealer network to fund network
development, commercial requirements in
handling used vehicles and to meet specific
short/medium term borrowing requirements.

The item includes as well the loans to legal
entity of retail business classified in this item in
accordance with the definition of Bank of Italy
of consumer credit.

4.3 Financial assets at amortised cost: breakdown by borrowers/issuers
of loans and advances to customers
Total
31/12/2019
First and
second
stage

Third
stage

-

a) Public sector entities
b) Other financial company

Total
31/12/2018

of which:
acquired or
originated credit
impaired financial
assets

First and
second
stage

Third
stage

of which:
acquired
or originated
credit impaired
financial assets

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

23,752,511

152,578

-

23,446,429

141,578

-

21,665

129

-

2,158

27

-

267,661

524

-

187,772

164

-

40

-

-

18

-

-

c) Non financial companies

10,124,082

113,920

-

10,009,810

101,492

-

d) Households

13,339,102

38,004

-

13,246,689

39,895

-

Total

23,752,511

152,578

-

23,446,429

141,578

-

Type of transaction / Values
1. Debt securities

of which: insurance companies
c) Non financial companies
2. Loans to:
a) Public sector entities
b) Other financial company
of which: insurance companies

4.4 Financial assets at amortised cost: gross value and total accumulated
impairments
Gross value

Total accumulated
impairments

First
stage

of which:
instruments
with low
credit risk

Second
stage

Third
stage

First
stage

Second
stage

Third
stage

Partial
accumulated
write-offs*

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

24,994,198

16,643,315

880,247

299,393

76,073

47,917

146,815

344

Total 31/12/2019

24,994,198

16,643,315

880,247

299,393

76,073

47,917

146,815

344

Total 31/12/2018

25,103,861

16,106,550

622,749

286,964

76,718

46,772

145,386

303

x

x

-

-

x

-

-

-

Debt securities
Loans

of which: purchased
or originated credit impaired

Note:
(*) Value shown for information purposes.
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SECTION 5
HEDGING DERIVATIVES - ITEM 50
5.1 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by hedging type and fair value hierarchy
FV

31/12/2019

L1

L2

L3

1. Fair Value

-

35,159

-

2. Cash flows

-

1,771

-

1. Fair Value

NV
31/12/2019

FV

31/12/2018

NV
31/12/2018

L1

L2

L3

9,834,617

-

35,503

-

7,922,166

-

416,439

-

437

-

170,758

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2. Cash flows

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total

-

36,930

-

10,251,056

-

35,940

-

8,092,924

A. Financial derivatives

3. Net investment in foreign
subsidiaries
B. Credit derivatives

Legend:
NV= Notional Value

L1= Level 1

L2= Level 2

L3= Level 3

This item reflects the fair value of the derivative
contracts entered into the hedge interest rate
and exchange rate risks.
The notional amount of the cash flow hedge
refers to the derivatives used to hedge the
exposure to interest rate risk on long-term
rental activities.
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5.2 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by hedged portfolios and hedging
type
Fair Value

Cash-flow hedges

Micro-hedge

Transactions / Hedging
type

debt
equity currencies
securities instruments
and gold
and interest
and equity
rates risk indices risk

credit commo- others
dities

Macrohedge

Microhedge

Macrohedge

Net
Investments
on foreign
subsidiaries

1. Financial assets at fair through
other comprehensive income

-

-

-

-

-

-

x

-

x

x

-

-

3,016

x

x

-

x

-

x

x

3. Portfolio

x

x

x

x

x

x

8,782

x

-

x

4. Other transactions

-

-

-

-

-

x

-

x

-

Total assets

-

3,016

-

-

-

8,782

-

-

-

23,361

-

x

x

-

x

-

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

-

x

-

x

23,361

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

-

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

-

x

1,771

-

2. Financial assets at
amortised cost

1. Financial Liabilities
2. Portfolio
Total liabilities
1. Expected transactions
2. Financial assets and
liabilities portfolio

The value of the macro-hedge portfolio refers
to the loan portfolio hedge, according to the
Fair Value Hedge method (macrohedge).
The value relating to the micro-hedge refers to
the coverage of the interest rate risk on bonds
issued.
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SECTION 6
VALUE ADJUSTMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
SUBJECT TO MACRO-HEDGE - ITEM 60
6.1 Value adjustment of macro-hedged financial assets: breakdown by
hedged portfolios
Value adjustment of macro-hedged financial assets / Values

Total
31/12/2019

Total
31/12/2018

60,135

33,511

-

-

a) financial assets at amortised cost

-

-

b) financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

-

-

60,135

33,511

(11,990)

(6,094)

-

-

a) financial assets at amortised cost

-

-

b) financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

-

-

(11,990)

(6,094)

48,145

27,417

1. Positive adjustment
1.1 of specific portfolios:

1.2 overall
2. Negative adjustment
2.1 of specific portfolios:

2.2 overall
Total

SECTION 7
EQUITY INVESTMENTS - ITEM 70
7.1 Equity investments: information on shareholders’ equity
Denominations

Legal residence

Participating
share %

Vote availability %

B. Companies under significant influence
1.

CODEFIS S.C.P.A.

Turin, Italy

FCA BAnk S.p.A.

30%

2.

FCA SECURITY S.C.P.A.

Turin, Italy

FCA BAnk S.p.A.

0,21%

3.

FCA SECURITY S.C.P.A.

Turin, Italy

Leasys S.p.A.

0,10%

4.

OSEO S.A.

Turin, Italy

FCA Capital France S.A.

0,003%
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SECTION 8
INSURANCE RESERVES ATTRIBUTABLE TO
REINSURERS - ITEM 80
8.1 Insurance reserves attributable to reinsurers: breakdown

Total
31/12/2019

Total
31/12/2018

4,635

5,485

3,993

4,537

642

948

-

-

8,524

4,111

B1. Mathematical reserves

2,978

3,200

B2. Reserves for amounts to be disbursed

5,546

911

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

13,159

9,596

A. No-life business
A1. Premiums reserves
A2. Claims reserves
A3. Other insurance reserves
B. Life business

B3. Other reserves
C. Technical reserves for investment risks to be borne by the insured
C1. Reserves for contracts with performances connected to investment
funds and market indices
C2. Reserves arising from pension fund management
D. Total insurance reserves attributable to reinsurers
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SECTION 9
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - ITEM 90
9.1 Property, plant and equipment used in the business: breakdown of
assets carried at cost

TABELLA

Total
31/12/2019

Total
31/12/2018

3,145,075

2,472,619

-

-

b) buildings

238

33

c) furniture

6,336

6,230

119

139

3,138,382

2,466,217

51,662

74,001

a) lands

-

-

b) buildings

-

-

c) furniture

86

7

215

-

51,361

73,994

3,196,737

2,546,620

-

-

Activities/Values
1. Owened assets
a) lands

d) electronic system
e) other
2. Leased assets

d) electronic system
e) other
Total
of which: obtained by the enforcement of collateral

Total amortization equal to €444 million is
mainly due to tangible assets in relation to
Operating lease.

With reference to the table above, please
consider that the item “Owned assets e)
others” includes €3,092 million that in the table
Reconciliation between outstanding and loans
and receivables with customers are represented
in the Outstanding.
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9.6 Property, plant and equipment used in the business: annual changes

Lands

Buildings Furnitures

Electronic
systems

Other

Total

-

115

40,104

2,333

3,279,762

3,322,314

-

(81)

(33,867)

(2,194)

(739,551)

(775,693)

A.2 Net opening balance

-

33

6,237

139

2,540,211

2,546,620

B. Increases:

-

624

1,590

332

1,521,974

1,524,520

-

624

1,307

244

1,447,050

1,449,225

-

-

-

-

-

-

B.2 Capitalised expenditure on improvements

-

-

-

-

13,428

13,428

B.3 Write-backs

-

-

-

-

10,714

10,714

B.4 Increases in fair value allocated to

-

-

-

-

-

-

a) equity

-

-

-

-

-

-

b) profit & loss

-

-

-

-

-

-

B.5 Positive exchange differences

-

-

-

2

-

2

B.6 Transfer from investment properties

-

-

x

x

x

-

B.7 Other changes

-

-

283

86

50,781

51,150

-

420

1,405

137

872,441

874,403

-

280

378

-

417,891

418,549

-

-

-

-

-

-

C.2 Amorization

-

140

759

89

443,588

444,576

C.3 Impairment losses allocated to

-

-

-

-

3,954

3,954

a) equity

-

-

-

-

-

-

b) profit & loss

-

-

-

-

3,954

3,954

-

-

-

-

-

-

a) equity

-

-

-

-

-

-

b) profit & loss

-

-

-

-

-

-

C.5 Negative exchange difference

-

-

-

2

-

2

C.6 Transfer to:

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

x

x

x

-

-

-

A. Gross opening balance
A.1 Total net reduction value

B.1 Purchasing
- of which business combinations

C. Decreases:
C.1 Disposals
- of which business combinations

C.4 Decreases in fair value allocated to

a) property, plant and equipment held for
investment
b) non-current assets and group of assets
held for sale

-

-

-

-

C.7 Other changes

-

-

268

47

7,008

7,323

D. Net closing balance

-

238

6,422

334

3,189,743

3,196,737

-

(221)

(34,626)

(2,283)

(1,176,103)

(1,213,233)

-

459

41,048

2,617

4,365,846

4,409,970

-

-

-

-

-

-

D.1 Total net reduction in value
D.2 Final gross balance
E. Carried at cost
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SECTION 10
INTANGIBLE ASSETS - ITEM 100
10.1 Intangible assets: breakdown by asset type
Total
31/12/2019

Assets/Values

Finite
life

A.1 Goodwill

Total
31/12/2018

Indefinite
life

Finite
life

Indefinite
life

183,183

183,183

A.1.1 attributable to the group

183,183

183,183

A.1.2 attributable to minorities

-

-

A.2 Other intangible assets

79,390

-

63,914

-

79,390

-

63,914

-

-

-

-

-

79,390

-

63,914

-

-

-

-

-

a) Intangible assets generated internally

-

-

-

-

b) Other assets

-

-

-

-

79,390

183,183

63,914

183,183

A.2.1 Assets carried at cost
a) Intangible assets generated internally
b) Other assets
A.2.2 Assets measured at fair value

Total
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10.2 Intangible assets: annual changes

Goodwill

A. Opening balance

Other intangible assets:
internally generated

Other intangible assets:
others

Finite Life

Finite Life

Indefinite
Life

Indefinite
Life

Total

229,181

-

-

256,515

-

485,696

A.1 Total net reduction in value

(45,998)

-

-

(192,600)

-

(238,598)

A.2 Net opening balance

183,183

-

-

63,914

-

247,097

-

-

-

29,623

-

29,623

B.1 Purchases

-

-

-

28,520

-

28,520

- of which business combinations

-

-

-

-

-

-

generated internally

x

-

-

-

-

-

B.3 Write-backs

x

-

-

-

-

-

B.4 Increases in fair value

-

-

-

-

-

-

- to equity

x

-

-

-

-

-

- to P&L statement

x

-

-

-

-

-

B.5 Positive exchange differences

-

-

-

-

-

-

B.6 Other changes

-

-

-

1,103

-

1,103

-

-

-

14,147

-

14,147

C.1 Disposals

-

-

-

-

-

-

- of which business combinations

-

-

-

-

-

-

C.2 Write-downs

-

-

-

13,963

-

13,963

- Amortisations

x

-

-

13,963

-

13,963

- Depreciations

-

-

-

-

-

-

+ equity

x

-

-

-

-

-

+ P&L statement

-

-

-

-

-

-

C.3 Decreases in fair value

-

-

-

-

-

-

- to equity

x

-

-

-

-

-

- to P&L statement

x

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

C.5 Negative exchange differrences

-

-

-

-

-

-

C.6 Other changes

-

-

-

184

-

184

183,183

-

-

79,390

-

262,573

(45,998)

-

-

(192,601)

-

(238,599)

229,181

-

-

271,991

-

501,172

-

-

-

-

-

-

B. Increases

B.2 Increases in intangible assets

C. Decreases

C.4 Transfer to non-current assets
held for sale

D. Net closing balance
D.1 Total net write-down
E. Gross closing balance
F. Carried at cost

• 160

Consolidated financial statements December 31, 2019

10.3 Other information
The item “Goodwill” includes:
• €78.4 million relating to the Italian subsidiary
Leasys S.p.A.;
• €101.9 million of goodwill relating to
dealer financing business and arising on the
reorganization of the FCA Bank Group which
occurred in 2006 and 2007; in particular:
• €50.1 million related to the recognition - by
the subsidiary Fidis Servizi Finanziari S.p.A.,
which merged into the Holding FCA Bank on
March 1st, 2008 - of goodwill arising on the
transfer of the “Network finance and other
financing” business and the acquisition of the
“Holding Division” from Fidis S.p.A.;
• €15 million related to the acquisition of
the Fidis Servizi Finanziari S.p.A. Group,
which was eventually merged into the parent
Company;
• €36.8 million related to the acquisition of
certain European companies engaged in
dealer financing;
• €1.5 million of goodwill as a result of the
first consolidation of the company Ferrari
Financial Services GmbH; on November 7, 2016
FCA Bank S.p.A. acquired a majority stake in
Ferrari Financial Services GmbH (“FFS GmbH”)
for a total purchase price of €18.6 million
upon consummation of the share purchase
agreement entered into by the parties;
• €1.4 million of goodwill as a result of the first
consolidation of the company Win Rent S.p.A.
in the FCA Bank Group, on October 1st, 2018.
The item “Other intangible assets” mainly refers
to:
• licenses and software of FCA Bank for €49
million;
• royalties of Leasys S.p.A. for €21 million.

Impairment test of goodwill
According to IAS 36 – Impairment of Assets,
goodwill must be tested for impairment every
year to determine its recoverable amount.
Therefore, on every reporting date the Group
tests goodwill for impairment, estimating the
relevant recoverable amount and comparing it
with its carrying amount to determine whether
the asset is impaired.

Definition of CGUs
To test goodwill for impairment – considering
that goodwill generates cash flows only in
combination with other assets – it is necessary
first of all to attribute it to an organizational
unit that enjoys relative operational autonomy
and is capable of generating cash flows. Such
cash flows must be independent of other
areas of activity but interdependent within the
organizational unit, which is aptly defined as
cash generating unit (CGU).
IAS 36 suggests that it is necessary to
correlate the level at which goodwill is tested
with the level of internal reporting at which
management monitors the entity’s operations.
The definition of this level depends solely on
the organizational models and the attribution of
management responsibilities over the direction
of the operational activity and the relevant
monitoring.
For FCA Bank Group, the CGU relevant for
goodwill allocation are identified in Dealer
Financing business unit, in Leasys S.p.A. and in
Ferrari Financial Services GmbH business.

The CGU’s carrying amount
The carrying amount of a CGU must be
determined consistently with the criteria
guiding the estimation of its recoverable
amount.
From the standpoint of a banking firm, the cash
flows generated by a CGU cannot be identified
without considering the cash flows of financial
assets/liabilities, given that these result the
firm’s core business. Following this approach
(i.e. “equity valuation”), the carrying amount
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of the CGU can be determined in terms of free
cash flow to consolidated equity, including noncontrolling interests.

Criteria to estimate the value in use of
a CGU
The value in use of the CGUs was determined
by discounting to present value their expected
cash flows over a five-year forecast period.
The cash flow of the fifth year was assumed
to grow in perpetuity (at a rate indicated with
the notation “g”, to determine terminal value.
The growth rate “g” was set on the basis of a
consistent medium-term rate of inflation in the
euro zone).
From the standpoint of a banking/financial
company, the cash flows generated by a CGU
cannot be identified without considering
the cash flows of financial assets/liabilities,
given that these arise from the company’s
core business. In other words, the recoverable
amount of the CGUs is affected by the above
cash flows and, as such, must include also
financial assets/liabilities. Accordingly, these
assets and liabilities must be allocated to the
CGU of reference.
In light of the above, it would be rather fair to
say that the cash flows of the individual CGUs
are equivalent to the earnings generated by the
individual CGUs. Accordingly, it was assumed
that the free cash flow (FCF) corresponds to the
Net Profit of a CGU under valuation.

Determining the discount rate to
calculate the present value of cash flows
In determining value in use, cash flows were
discounted to present value at a rate that
reflects current considerations on market trends,
the time value of money and the risks specific to
the business.
The discount rate used – given that it was a
financial firm – was estimated solely in terms
of equity valuation, that is considering only the

cost of capital (Ke), in keeping with the criteria
to determine cash flows that, as already shown,
include also the inflows and outflows associated
with financial assets and liabilities.
The cost of capital was then calculated by using
the Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM). Based
on this model, cost of capital is calculated as
the sum of a risk-free return and a risk premium,
which in turn, depends on the risk specific to
the business (such risk reflecting both industry
risk and country risk).

Results of the impairment test
Goodwill was tested for impairment on the
reporting date, without any impairment loss.
In particular, for the Dealer Financing line the
test was performed by adopting the definition
of CGU described above.
The underlying assumptions to calculate the
recoverable amounts of the CGUs reflect past
experience and earnings forecasts approved by
the competent corporate bodies and officers
and are consistent with external sources of
information, particularly:
• the discount rate of 7.19% was calculated as
cost of capital, considering a risk-free interest
rate of -0.19%, a risk premium for the company
of 6.48% and a beta of 1.14;
• the estimated growth rate was 1.4%.
A sensitivity analysis was performed by
simulating a change in significant parameters
such as an increase in the discount rate up to 1%
or a decrease in the growth rate “g”. After such
analysis the recoverable amount is confirmed to
be higher than the carrying amount.
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SECTION 11
TAX ASSETS AND TAX LIABILITIES - ASSETS ITEM
110 AND LIABILITIES ITEM 60
11.1 Assets for anticipated levy

- P&L Exchange
- Patrimony exchange
Total

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

185,863

176,660

15,170

13,059

201,032

189,719

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

181,917

139,931

1,126

1,126

183,043

141,057

11.2 Deferred tax liabilities: breakdown

- P&L Exchange
- Patrimony exchange
Total
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11.3 Variation of deferred tax assets (balancing P&L)

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

176,660

156,364

40,057

38,145

40,057

37,611

748

140

b) due to change in accounting criteria

-

-

c) write-backs

-

-

39,310

37,471

2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates

-

-

2.3 Other increases

-

534

1. Opening balance
2. Increases
2.1 Deferred tax assets arisen during the year
a) related to previous fiscal year

d) others

472

- of which Business combination
30,854

17,849

25,847

10,129

23,334

10,033

b) write-downs of non-recoverable items

-

-

c) due to change in accounting criteria

-

-

2,513

96

252

1,384

4,755

6,336

-

-

4,755

6,336

185,863

176,660

3. Decreases
3.1 Deferred tax assets derecognised during the year
a) reversals of temporary differences

d) others
3.2 Reduction in tax rates
3.3 Other decreases:
a) conversion into tax credit under Italian Law 214/2011
b) others
4. Closing balance

The deferred tax assets on previous tax losses,
booked by the susbsidiary Leasys S.p.A.,
amount to €42 million as at December 31, 2019.
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11.5 Deferred tax liabilities: annual changes (balancing P&L)
31/12/2019

31/12/2018

139,931

111,099

2. Increases

59,050

44,499

2.1 Deferred tax liabilities arisen during the year

58,986

44,424

17,067

114

-

-

41,918

44,310

-

31

1. Opening balance

a) related to precedent fiscal year
b) due to change in accounting criteria
c) others
2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates
2.3 Other increases

65

44

3. Decreases

17,065

15,667

3.1 Deferred tax liabilities derecognised during the year

11,194

10,881

11,170

10,033

a) reversals of temporary differences
b) due to change in accounting criteria

-

-

24

848

3.2 Reduction in tax rates

1,118

4,626

3.3 Other decreases

4,753

161

181,917

139,931

c) others

4. Closing balance

11.6 Variation of the anticipated levy (in exchange of Balance Sheet)
31/12/2019

31/12/2018

113,059

2,620

2. Increases

2,111

10,882

2.1 Deferred tax assets arisen during the year

2,111

10,822

a) related to previous fiscal years

-

-

b) due to change in accounting criteria

-

9,381

1. Opening balance

2,111

1,501

2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates

c) others

-

-

2.3 Other increases

-

-

3. Decreases

-

443

3.1 Deferred tax liabilities derecognised during the year

-

401

a) reversals of temporary differences

-

-

b) Write-downs of non-recoverable items

-

-

c) due to change in accounting criteria

-

-

d) others

-

401

3.2 Reduction in tax rates

-

-

3.3 Other decreases

-

42

15,170

13,059

4. Closing balance

The item includes deferred tax assets
recognized through equity as calculated on the
cash flow hedge reserve relating to the future

cash flows of hedging derivatives and the fiscal
effect on the AOCI reserve.
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11.7 Deferred tax liabilities: annual changes ( balancing Net Equity)
31/12/2019
1. Opening balance

31/12/2018

1,126

-

2. Increases

-

1,126

2.1 Deferred tax liabilities arisen during the year

-

1,126

a) related to previous fiscal year

-

-

b) due to change in accounting criteria

-

1,126

c) others

-

-

2.2 New taxes or increase in tax rates

-

-

2.3 Other increases

-

-

3. Decreases

-

-

3.1 Deferred tax liabilities derecognised during the year

-

-

a) reversals of temporary differences

-

-

b) due to change in accounting criteria

-

-

c) others

-

-

3.2 Reduction in tax rates

-

-

3.3 Other decreases

-

-

1,126

1,126

4. Closing balance
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SECTION 13
OTHER ASSETS – ITEM 130
13.1 Other assets: breakdown

Breakdown

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

3,175

3,225

2. Receivables arising from sales and services

153,369

214,434

3. Sundry receivables

502,215

367,982

25,093

26,584

receivables in the process of collection

1,370

718

security deposits

1,811

1,807

13,973

14,606

459,968

324,267

4. Operating lease receivables

527,056

471,636

5. Consignment Stock

147,315

210,641

17,041

10,942

1,350,171

1,278,860

1. Due from employees

receivables arising from insurance services

reinsurance assets
other

6. Accrued income
Total

With reference to the above representation,
please consider that items “Consignment
stock” and “Operating lease receivables” are
represented net of provision (euro 34 million) in
the table Reconciliation between outstanding
and loans and receivables with customers.
The item “Receivables arising from sales and
services” includes receivables from incentives
and services.
The item “Receivables arising from insurance
services” relates mainly to the Parent Company
and the subsidiary Leasys S.p.A. and includes
sums due from insurance companies for the
payment of commissions.
“Reinsurance activities” relate to the Irish
subsidiary.

“Receivables arising from operating leases”
amount to €527 million and the value of the
vehicles purchased by the leasing companies
under buyback arrangements with the seller –
thus not accounted for as non-current assets –
for a total of €301 million.
The item “Goods on consignment” reflects the
value of the vehicles owned by FCA Dealer
Services UK Ltd., FCA Dealer Services Espana
(Branch Morocco), FCA Capital Norge, FCA
Capital Sverige and FCA Capital Danmark
(Branch Finland). These vehicles are held by
FCA dealers awaiting their sale.
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LIABILITIES
SECTION 1
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT AMORTISED COST
ITEM 10
1.1 Financial liabilities at amortised cost: breakdown by product of
deposits from banks
Totale 31/12/2019
Type of transactions/Values

Totale 31/12/2018

Fair value

BV

L1

L2

L3

BV

Fair value
L1

L2

L3

1. Loans from central banks

1,313,243

x

x

x

1,217,880

x

x

x

2. Loans from banks

8,964,804

x

x

x

8,589,233

x

x

x

33,888

x

x

x

105,798

x

x

x

-

x

x

x

-

x

x

x

8,930,316

x

x

x

8,483,434

x

x

x

2.3.1 Repos

119,270

x

x

x

189,753

x

x

x

2.3.2 Other

8,811,046

x

x

x

8,293,681

x

x

x

to repurchase own equity instruments

-

x

x

x

-

x

x

x

2.5 Lease payables

-

x

x

x

-

x

x

x

2.6 Other liabilities

600

x

x

x

-

x

x

x

10,278,046

-

- 10,989,736

9,807,112

-

-

10,013,177

2.1 Other current accounts and
demand deposits
2.2 Time deposits
2.3 Loans

2.4 Liabilitiesrelating to commitments

Total

Legend:
BV= Book Value

L1= Level 1

This item includes mainly borrowings from
banks, of which €3,536 million from the Crédit
Agricole Group at arm’s length.

L2= Level 2

L3= Level 3
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1.2 Financial liabilities at amortised cost: breakdown by product of deposits
from customers

Total 31/12/2019
Type of transactions/Values

Total 31/12/2018

Fair value

BV

L1

L2

L3

BV

Fair value
L1

L2

L3

1. Current accounts and demand deposits

259,955

x

x

x

266,081

x

x

x

2. Time deposits

843,600

x

x

x

742,554

x

x

x

3. Loans

403,342

x

x

x

320,093

x

x

x

-

x

x

x

-

x

x

x

403,342

x

x

x

320,093

x

x

x

-

x

x

x

-

x

x

x

5. Lease payables

51,681

x

x

x

-

x

x

x

6. Other liabilities

240,173

x

x

x

493,997

x

x

x

1,798,752

-

-

1,793,965

1,822,725

-

-

1,845,591

3.1 Reverse repos
3.2 Other
4. Liabilities relating to commitments to
repurchase own equity instruments

Total

Legend:
BV= Book Value

L1= Level 1

Other loans include €300 million of advances
factored on a non-recourse basis and retail
liabilities and security deposits made by private
individuals in relation to finance leases.
Other liabilities include mainly advances
factored on a recourse basis for € 170 million.
With reference to the above representation,
please consider that a portion of the item
“Others” (€2 million) is included in the item
“Outstanding” in the table Reconciliation
between outstanding and loans and receivables
with customers.

L2= Level 2

L3= Level 3
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1.3 Financial liabilities at amortised cost: breakdown by product of debt
securities in issue

Total 31/12/2019
Type of securities/Values

BV

Totale31/12/2018

Fair value
L1

L2

L3

14,856,252

9,439,872

-

5,534,187

-

-

-

14,856,252

9,439,872

578

Fair value

BV

L1

L2

L3

14,576,562

7,831,589

-

6,726,064

-

-

-

-

-

-

5,534,187

14,576,562

7,831,589

-

6,726,064

-

-

578

624

-

-

624

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

578

-

-

578

624

-

-

624

14,856,829

9,439,872

-

5,534,765

14,577,185

7,831,589

-

6,726,688

Legend:
BV= Book Value

L1= Level 1

A. Debts securities
1. Bonds
1.1 structured
1.2 other
2. Other securities
2.1 structured
2.2 other
Total

L2= Level 2

L3= Level 3

1.4 Breakdown of subordinated debts/deposits
31/12/2019

31/12/2018

330,485

330,526

330,485

330,526

-

-

11,746,313

11,299,312

- banks

9,947,561

9,476,587

- customers

1,798,752

1,822,725

-

-

- banks

-

-

- customers

-

-

14,856,830

14,577,185

3,302,792

8,643,364

- customers

11,554,038

5,933,821

Total

26,933,628

26,207,023

A.1 Subordinated debts
- banks
- customers
A.2 Non subordinated debts

B.1 Subordinated deposits

B.2 Non subordinated deposits
- banks
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SECTION 2
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES HELD FOR TRADING - ITEM 20
2.1 Financial liabilities held for trading: breakdown by product
Total 31/12/2019

L1

Type of transactions/Values

Fair
value*

Fair value

NV

L2

Total 31/12/2018

L3

Fair
value*

Fair value

NV
L1

L2

L3

A. Financial liabilities
1. Deposits from banks

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2. Deposits from customers

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

3. Debt securities

-

-

-

-

x

-

-

-

-

x

-

-

-

-

x

-

-

-

-

x

3.1.1 Structured

-

-

-

-

x

-

-

-

-

x

3.1.2 Other bonds

-

-

-

-

x

-

-

-

-

x

3.2 Other securities

-

-

-

-

x

-

-

-

-

x

3.2.1 Structured

-

-

-

-

x

-

-

-

-

x

3.2.2 Other

-

-

-

-

x

-

-

-

-

x

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

x

-

3,407

-

x

x

-

3,729

-

x

1.1 Trading

x

-

-

-

x

x

-

-

-

x

1.2 Linked to fair value option

x

-

-

-

x

x

-

-

-

x

1.3 Other

x

-

3,407

-

x

x

-

3,729

-

x

x

-

-

-

x

x

-

-

-

x

2.1 Trading

x

-

-

-

x

x

-

-

-

x

2.2 Linked to fair value option

x

-

-

-

x

x

-

-

-

x

2.3 Other

x

-

-

-

x

x

-

-

-

x

Totale (B)

x

-

3,407

-

x

x

-

3,729

-

x

Totale (A+B)

x

-

3,407

-

x

x

-

3,729

-

x

3.1 Bonds

Total (A)
B. Derivative instruments
1. Financial derivatives

2. Credit derivatives

Legenda
NV = Nominal or Notional Value
L1 = Level 1
L2 = Level 2
L3 = Level 3
(*) Fair value calculated excluding changes in credit worthiness of the
issuer after issue date.

This item reflects the negative change in the
derivative financial instruments hedging the
securitization transactions entered into with
the same banks as those involved in such
transactions.
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SECTION 4
HEDGING DERIVATIVES - ITEM 40
4.1 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by hedging type and by levels
Fair value 31/12/2019
L1

L2

L3

-

91,533

-

1) Fair value

-

79,131

2) Financial flows

-

3) Foreign investments

NV
31/12/2019

Fair value 31/12/2018

NV
31/12/2018

L1

L2

L3

13,432,019

-

53,920

-

14,265,349

-

11,185,900

-

46,820

-

12,047,119

12,402

-

2,246,119

-

7,100

-

2,218,230

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1) Fair value

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2) Financial flows

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total

-

91,533

-

13,432,019

-

53,920

-

14,265,349

A. Financial derivatives

B. Credit derivatives

Legend:
NV = Notional Value
L1 = Level 1
L2 = Level 2
L3 = Level 3

This item reflects the fair value of the derivative
contracts entered into to hedge interest rate
risks. Changes in value in these contracts,
according to the fair value method, are
reported through profit and loss, in item 90
“Gains (losses) on hedging activities” of the
income statement.
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4.2 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by hedged portfolios and type of
hedging

Fair Value

Cash flow

Micro-hedge

Transactions/Type of hedge

Debt
securities
and interest
rates

Equitiy Currencies
instruments and gold
and equity
indcesx

Credit Commo- Others
doties

Macrohedge

Microhedge

Macrohedge

Foreign
invest.

1. Financial assets valuated
at fair value with impact on
total profitability

-

-

-

-

X

X

X

-

X

X

-

X

2,635

-

X

X

X

-

X

X

3. Portfolio

X

X

X

X

X

X

57,449

X

-

X

4. Other operations

-

-

-

-

-

-

X

-

X

-

-

-

2,635

-

-

-

57,449

-

-

-

19,048

X

-

-

-

-

X

361

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

-

X

-

X

19,048

-

-

-

-

-

-

361

-

-

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

-

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

1

X 12,041

-

2. Financial assets valued
to amortized cost

Total assets
1. Financial liabilities
2. Portfolio
Total liabilities
1. Expected transactions
2. Portfolio of financial assets
and liabilities

The generic column shows the amount
of derivative contracts hedging the retail
receivable portfolio. Such contracts have been
accounted for with the fair value hedge (macro
hedge).
The cash flow hedges refer to derivative
contracts hedging interest rate risk. Such
contracts, which are used for long-term rental
activities, are recognized in accordance with
the cash flow hedge method.
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SECTION 6
TAX LIABILITIES - ITEM 60
For information on this section, see section 11 of
the assets.

SECTION 7
LIABILITIES INCLUDED IN DISPOSAL GROUPS
CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE - ITEM 70
For information on this section, see section 12
of the assets.

SECTION 8
OTHER LIABILITIES - ITEM 80
8.1 Other liabilities: breakdown
Total
31/12/2019

Total
31/12/2018

6,183

5,808

536,346

466,078

4,924

4,666

466,978

451,227

147,923

147,719

- Due to insurance companies

62,798

58,958

- Due to customers

11,885

12,335

-

1,195

187,352

169,676

57,020

61,344

1,014,431

927,779

1. Due to employees
2. Operating lease payables
3. Due to social security institutions
4. Sundry payables
- Payables for goods and services

- Reinsurance activities
- Others
- Accrued expenses and deferred income
Total

The item “Operating lease payables” mainly
includes payables for the purchase of cars and
for services rendered to the Group’s long-termrental companies.
With reference to the above representation,
please consider that €145 million are
represented in the item “Outstanding” of the
table Reconciliation between outstanding and
loans and receivables with customers.
Line item “Payables for goods and services”
includes:

- the provision of administrative, tax and
payment services at arm’s length by companies
of the FCA Group;
- incentives payable to the FCA Group’s dealer
network;
- charges payable to dealers and banks, mainly
in connection with the Parent Company’s
operations.
The item “Due to insurance companies” mainly
relates to sums due by the parent company and
the subsidiary Leasys.
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SECTION 9
PREVISION FOR EMPLOYEE SEVERANCE PAY
ITEM 90
9.1 Provision for employee severance pay: annual changes

A. Opening balance
B. Increases
B.1 Provision of the year
B.2 Other increases
C. Decreases
C.1 Severance payments
C.2 Other decreases
D. Closing balance
Total

This item reflects the residual obligation for
severance indemnities, which was required until
December 31, 2006 under Italian legislation to
be paid to employees of Italian companies with
more than 50 employees upon termination of
employment. This severance can be paid in
part to employees during their working lives, if
certain conditions are met.
Post-employment benefits, as reported in the
statement of financial position, represent the
present value of this defined benefit obligation,

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

11,626

12,298

275

140

5

(13)

270

153

175

812

134

701

41

111

11,726

11,626

11,726

11,626

as adjusted for actuarial gains and losses
and for costs relating to labor services not
previously recorded.
Provisions for defined benefit pension plans
and the annual cost recorded in the income
statement are determined by independent
actuaries using the projected unit credit
method.
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9.2 Other information
Changes in defined benefit obligations (IAS 19, paragraphs 140 and 141)

Defined benefit obligation as of 01/01/2019

11,626

a. Service cost

-

b. Interest cost

18

c. Curtailment

-

d. Other costs

-

e. Employer's contribution

-

f. Interest income on plan assets

-

g.1 Return on plan assets greater/(less) than discount rate

869

g.2 Return on plan assets greater/(less) than demographic assumptions

(14)

g.3 Net actuarial (gain)/loss: others

135

h. Plan participants' contributions

(892)

i. Past service costs/(income) and curtailment (gains) and losses

-

l. Intercompany transactions

(22)

m. Other changes

5

Total defined benefit obligations as of 31/12/2019

11,726

Description of the main actuarial assumptions (IAS 19, paragraph 144)
In order to complete the required assessments
it is necessary to adopt the appropriate
demographic and economic assumptions
referred to:
• mortality rates
• disability

• employees leaving the company (resignation
or layoff)
• applications for anticipation
• future employees career (hypothetical
promotions to higher categories included)
• purchasing power evolution

Particularly, based on the FCA Bank S.p.A., following assumptions have been adopted:
ITALY
Main actuarial Assumptions

TFR

Discount rates

0.63%

Estimated future salary increases rate (inflation included)

1.17%

Expected inflation

1.50%

Mortality rate
Yearly employees outflow average

SI2018 (modified on the basis of historical data)
5.71%
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SECTION 10
PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES - ITEM 100
10.1 Provisions risk and charges: breakdown
Total
31/12/2019

Total
31/12/2018

1. Provisions for credit risk on commitments and financial guarantees given

-

-

2. Provisions for other commitments and other guarantees given

-

-

49,954

43,121

175,550

208,697

5,677

5,856

22,791

21,098

4.3 others

147,082

181,743

Total

225,504

251,818

Items/Components

3. Pensions and other post-retirement benefit obligations
4. Other provisions for risks and charges
4.1 legal and tax disputes
4.2 obligations for employees

10.2 Provisions for risks and charges: annual changes
Provisions for other
commitments and
other guarantees
given

Pensions
and other
post-retirement benefit
obligations

Other provisions
for risks and
charges

Total

A. Opening balance

-

43,121

208,697

251,818

B. Increases

-

10,760

33,141

43,901

B.1 Provisions for the year

-

2,651

23,446

26,097

B.2 Changes due to pass of time

-

-

-

-

B.3 Changes due to discount-rate changes

-

-

-

-

B.4 Other changes

-

8,109

9,695

17,804

-

-

-

-

-

3,927

66,288

70,215

C.1 Use during the year

-

3,927

39,036

42,963

C.2 Changes due to discount-rate changes

-

0

22,641

22,641

C.3 Other changes

-

0

4,611

4,611

-

-

-

-

-

49,954

175,550

225,504

- of which business aggregation operations
C. Decreases

- of which business aggregation operations
D. Closing balance
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10.5 Provision for retirement benefits and similar obligations
Description of the main actuarial assumptions
2. Changes in the year of net liabilities (assets) with defined benefits and
redemption rights
Changes in defined benefit obligation
Defined benefit obligation as of the prior period end date

31/12/2019
80,088

a. Service cost

1,964

b. Interest cost

1,474

c. Curtailment

-

d. Other costs

330

e. Employer's contribution

-

f. Interest income on plan assets

-

g.1 Return on plan assets greater/(less) than discount rate
g.2 Return on plan assets greater/(less) than demographic assumptions
g.3 Net actuarial (gain)/loss: others
h. Plan participants' contributions
i. Past service costs/(income) and curtailment (gains) and losses
l. Intercompany transactions
m. Other changes
Total defined benefit obligations as of 31/12/2019

9,233
(1,025)
3,293
(3,152)
13
4
332
92,555

3. Information on the fair value of plan assets

Changes in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets as of the prior period end date
a. Interest income on plan assets
b. Employers contribution
c. Disbursements from plan assets

31/12/2019
36,967
837
1,787
(1,044)

d. Return on plan assets greater/(less) than discount rate

4,395

e. Other changes

(341)

Total defined benefit obligations as of 31/12/2019

42,601
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Referring to provision for retirement benefits,
the actuarial amounts of provisions for defined
benefit pension plans, required according
to IAS 19, are determined by independent
actuaries using the projected unit credit
method, as described in Part A – Accounting
Policies.

The following table shows the main actuarial
assumptions used for pension plans,
distinguished by country (Italy and “Other
countries”). The table also includes actuarial
assumptions for the Italian post-employment
benefits (“Trattamento di Fine rapporto –
TFR”).

This item includes provisions for pension plans
set up by foreign subsidiaries for €50 million
(mainly Germany and UK, for €29 million and
€13 million, respectively).

4. Description of the main actuarial assumptions
ITALY

OTHER COUNTRIES

Other postemployment
benefit plans

Other long-term
employee
benefits

Pension
plans

Other postemployment
benefit plans

Other long-term
employee
benefits

0.63%

0.63%

0.79%

1.15%

1.01%

rate (inflation included)

1.17%

1.17%

2.19%

2.00%

2.78%

Expected inflation

1.50%

1.50%

1.74%

1.80%

2.50%

AVÖ 2018-P "
Angestellte"
MR/FR;
BVG 2015 / GT;
RT 2018 G;
TH/TF 2000-2002;
AG Prognosetafel 2018;
S2PxA tables / CMI
2017 1.25% pa LTR

AVÖ 2018-P
"Angestellte";
TH/TF 2000-2002;
EAE21012p;
GUS 2018

RT 2018 G;
GUS 2018

2.87%

2.25%

3.00%

Main actuarial Assumptions
Discount rates
Estimated future salary increases

Mortality tables

Yearly employees outflow average

SI2018
(modified on the basis of
historical data)

5.71%

5.71%
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10.6 Provisions for risks and charges: breakdown
Total
31/12/2019

Total
31/12/2018

18,139

21,098

2. Provisions for tax risks

326

3,342

3. Reserves for legal disputes

847

5,561

23,732

37,011

5. Provisions for sundry risks

132,506

141,685

Total

175,550

208,697

1. Other provisions for employees

4. Provisions for risks and charges related to operating leases

Provision for risks and charges related
to operating leases
This provision mainly consists of provisions for
future maintenance and insurance costs for cars
provided under operating lease contracts.

Provision for tax risks
This item refers to provisions in connection with
tax ligation and related charges.

Provisions for sundry risks
This item reflects:
• provisions of €37 million for risks related, in
the UK market, to the remaining value of the
vehicles purchased with PCP (Personal Contract
Purchase) loans and the customers’ option to
terminate voluntarily their contract, under local
laws;

• provisions of euro €60 million for the sanction
imposed by AGCM.
The balance of these provisions reflects the
risks in various markets related to the residual
value of the vehicles, the respect of local
regulations (i.e. consumer protection and antitrust) and, more generally, to business risks.
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SECTION 11
INSURANCE RESERVES - ITEM 110
Section 11 – Insurance reserves

Direct
business

Indirect
business

Total
31/12/2019

Total
31/12/2018

6,656

-

6,656

6,094

5,691

-

5,691

5,041

965

-

965

1,053

-

-

-

-

9,471

-

9,471

4,568

B1. Mathematical reserves

3,308

-

3,308

3,556

B2. Reserves for amounts to be disbursed

6,163

-

6,163

1,012

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

16,127

-

16,127

10,662

A. No-life business
A.1 Premiums reserves
A2. Claims reserves
A3. Other insurance reserves
B. Life business

B3. Other reserves
C. Technical reserves for investment risks to be borne
by the insured
C1. Reserves for contracts with performances connected
to investment funds and market indices
C2. Reserves arising from pension fund management
D. Total technical reserves
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SECTION 13
GROUP SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY - ITEMS 120, 130,
140, 150, 160, 170 AND 180
13.1 "Share capital" and "treasury shares": breakdown

Total
31/12/2019

Total
31/12/2018

700,000

700,000

A.2 Savings shares

-

-

A.3 Preferred shares

-

-

A.4 Other shares

-

-

B.1 Ordinary shares

-

-

B.2 saving shares

-

-

B.3 preferred shares

-

-

B.4 other shares

-

-

A. Share Capital
A.1 Ordinary shares

B. Own shares
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13.2 Share capital - number of shares owned by the Parent Company:
annual changes
Items/Types
A. Issued shares as at the beginning of the year
- fully paid-up
- not fully paid-up
A.1 Treasury shares (-)

Ordinaries

Others

700,000

-

700,000

-

-

-

-

-

700,000

-

B. Increases

-

-

B.1 New issues

-

-

A.2 Shares outstanding: opening balance

- against payment:

-

-

- business combination transaction

-

-

- bonds converted

-

-

- warrants exercised

-

-

- others

-

-

-

-

- to employees

-

-

- to directors

-

-

- others

- free:

-

-

B.2 Sales of treasury shares

-

-

B.3 Other changes

-

-

C. Decreases

-

-

C.1 Cancellation

-

-

C.2 Purchase of treasury shares

-

-

C.3 Business tranferred

-

-

C.4 Other changes

-

-

700,000

-

-

-

700,000

-

700,000

-

-

-

D. Shares outstanding:closing balance
D.1 Treasury shares (+)
D.2 Shares outstanding as at the end of the year
- fully paid-up
- not fully paid-up

Share capital is fully paid in. It consists of
700,000,000 shares with a nominal value of
€1 each and, at year-end 2019, was unchanged
from the previous year.

13.4 Net profit reserve: other information
Group reserves amount to €1,956 million and
include: legal reserve, statutory reserve, valuation
reserves and other reserves.
The legal reserve, set up as provided for by law,
must be at least one fifth of share capital. Should
the reserve decrease, it must be reintegrated by
allocating at least one twentieth of net income
for the year.
The valuation reserves amount to negative

€27 million and include reserves of cash flow
hedge derivatives for -€7 million, exchange rate
valuation reserves (relating to fully consolidated
investments) for +€4 million as well as legally
required revaluation reserves deriving from the
revaluation of property and equipment for €454
thousand and the negative reserve on actuarial
profits (losses) from defined benefit pension
plans for -€25 million.

• 183

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

SECTION 14
NON CONTROLLING INTERESTS - ITEMS 190
Non-controlling interests is attributable to FCA
Bank GmbH, Ferrari Financial Services GmbH
and other minorities.

14.1 Breakdown of item 210 "Shareholders' equity: minorities"

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

1. Ferrari Financial Services GmbH

29,024

23,260

2. FCA Bank GmbH

25,876

25,106

31

31

54,931

48,397

Company name
Equity investments in consolidated companies with minority interests

Others investments
Total

14.2 Equity instruments: breakdown and annual changes

1. Minority equity - Ordinary shares

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

3,389

3,389

2,877

2,877

42,053

37,170

(51)

(43)

6,663

5,004

54,931

48,397

2. Minority equity - Shares - Parent Company (-)
3. Minority equity - Equity instruments
4. Minority equity - Share premium reserve
5. Reserves
6. Valuation reserves
7. Minority equity - Net income (loss)
Total
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Other information
1. Commitments and financial guarantees given

Nominal value on financial release
obligations and guarantees

Total
31/12/2019

Total
31/12/2018

First
stage

Second
stage

Third
stage

4,962,089

-

-

4,962,089

2,675,731

a) Central banks

-

-

-

-

-

b) Public sector entities

-

-

-

-

-

c) Banks

-

-

-

-

-

d) Other financial companies

-

-

-

-

-

4,960,091

-

-

4,960,091

2,674,866

1,998

-

-

1,998

865

120,224

-

-

120,224

120,224

a) Central banks

-

-

-

-

-

b) Public sector entities

-

-

-

-

-

120,224

-

-

120,224

120,224

d) Other financial companies

-

-

-

-

-

e) Non-financial companies

-

-

-

-

-

f) Households

-

-

-

-

-

Commitment to supply funds

e) Non-financial companies
f) Households
Financial guarantees issued

c) Banks

The item refers to:
• revocable commitments subblied by the
Group to dealers – item e) Non financial
companies;
• revocable commitments supplied by
the Group to credit card owners – item f)
Households.

Financial guarantees issued are sureties
entrusted as guarantee to Tax Office.
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3. Assets used to guarantee own liabilities and commitments

Total
31/12/2019

Total
31/12/2018

1. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

-

-

2. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

-

-

7,961,997

7,791,723

-

-

-

-

Portfolios

3. Financial assets at amortised cost
4. Property, plant and equipment
of which:of which: inventories of property, plant and equipment

It should be noted that item 3 “Financial asset
valued at amortized cost” includes assets
encumbrance deriving from securitization
operations.
It should also be noted that, in relation to
the loans received from BCE following the
involvement to the TLTRO refinancing program,
were pledged as collateral senior notes for €1.4

billion – arising from FCA Bank securitization
operations whose notes were not included in
the Balance Sheet.
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6. Financial assets subject to offsetting in the financial statements or
subject to netting framework arrangements or similar agreements
Gross amount of
financial assets
(a)

Amount of
financial
liabilities
offset in
balance sheet
(b)

Instrument type

1. Derivatives

Net amount
of financial
assets
reported in
balance
sheet
(c = a-b)

Related amounts
not subject
to accounting offsetting

Net amount
(f = c-d-e)

Net
amount

Financial
instruments
(d)

Cash deposit
received in
guarantee
(e)

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

3,015

-

3,015

2,876

139

-

-

26,764

-

26,764

26,764

-

26,764

25,367

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,200,000

1,200,000

-

-

-

-

-

Total 31/12/2019

1,229,779

1,200,000

29,779

29,640

139

26,764

x

Total 31/12/2018

1,050,000

1,050,000

-

-

-

x

-

2. Repos
3. Securities lending
4. Others

Netting refers to loans and deposits regulated
under specific netting agreements which as
such were presented net according to IAS 32.

7. Financial liabilities aubject to accounting offsetting or under master
netting agreements and similar agreements

Gross amount
of the financial
liabilities
(a)

Financial
assets offset
in balance
sheet
(b)

et amount of
the financial
liabilities
reportes in
balance
sheet
(c = a-b)

Instrument type

1. Derivatives

Related amounts
not subjectto accounting
offsetting
Financial Cash collateral
instruments
received
(d)
(e)

Net amount
(f = c-d-e)

Net
amount

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

2,996

-

2,996

1,296

1,700

-

-

119,270

-

119,270

119,270

-

119,270

189,753

3. Securities lending

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

4. Other operations

1,200,000

1,200,000

-

-

-

-

-

Total 31/12/2019

1,322,266

1,200,000

122,266

120,566

1,700

-

x

Total 31/12/2018

1,050,000

1,050,000

-

-

-

x

-

2. Repos
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Part C - Information
on the consolidated
income statement
SECTION 1
INTERESTS - ITEMS 10 AND 20
1.1 Interest income and similar revenue: breakdown

Items/Technical forms
1. Financial assets at fair value through P&L:

Debt
securities

Loans

Other
operations

Total
31/12/2019

Totale
31/12/2018

-

-

-

-

-

1.1 Financial assets held for trading

-

-

-

-

-

1.2 Financial assets designated at fair value

-

-

-

-

-

1.3 Other financial assets mandatorily at fair value

-

-

-

-

-

162

-

X

162

162

8,447

913,179

X

921,626

891,299

-

33,226

X

33,226

1,391

8,447

879,953

X

888,400

889,908

4. Hedging derivatives

X

X

(16,838)

(16,838)

(13,990)

5. Other assets

X

X

23,259

23,259

20,807

6. Financial liabilities

X

X

X

2,075

5,173

8,609

913,179

6,420

930,283

903,452

of which: interest income on credit impaired

-

-

-

-

-

of which: interest income on financial leasing

-

-

-

-

-

2. Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income
3. Financial assets at amortised cost:
3.1 Credits to banks
3.2 Credits to customers

Total
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1.2 Interest and similar income: other information
1.2.1 Interest income from financial assets denominated in currency
Items
Interest income from currency assets

2019

2018

160,540

167,878

2019

2018

509,148

451,041

1.2.2 Interest income from financial leases
Items
Interest income from leasing

1.3 Interest expense and similar charges: breakdown
Items/Technical forms

Debts

Securities

Other
transactions

Total
31/12/2019

Totale
31/12/2018

121,151

113,496

X

234,646

250,706

-

X

X

-

69

1.2 Debts to banks

83,899

X

X

83,899

77,494

1.3 Debts to customers

37,252

X

X

37,252

31,772

X

113,496

X

113,496

141,371

2. Financial liabilities held for trading

-

-

-

-

-

3. Financial liabilities designated at fair value

-

-

-

-

347

4. Other liabilities and funds

X

X

2,774

2,774

2,930

5. Hedging derivatives

X

X

(585)

(585)

(15,174)

6. Financial assets

X

X

X

-

3,241

121,151

113,496

2,189

236,835

242,076

1. Financial liabilities at amortised cost
1.1 Debts to central banks

1.4 Debt securities in issue

Total

